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DIRECTORS® REPORT
For the year ended 30 June 2013

The directors submit their report and the audited financial slatements of BFIM Limited (“the Company”} for the
year ended 30 June 2013

Principal activities and review of the business

The principal activities of the Company are, and will continue to be, the holding of investments and to provide
finance to the Brambles Group

The Company borrows from and makes loans to businesses within the Brambles Group The Company 1s
expected to continue this actvity for the foreseeable future

The Company 1s a wholly owned subsichary of the Brambles Group The Brambles Group 1s a global group
compnsing Brambles Limited, a company incorporated 1in Australia and listed on the Australian Securnties
Exchange, and all its subsidiary undertakings

On 2 July 2043, Brambles Limited announced its intention to demerge its Recall business by histing a new
holding company, Recall Holdings Limited, on the Austrahan Secunties Exchange The Brambles Group
convened a meeting for its shareholders to vote on the demerger proposal on 3 December 201 3, at which the
demerger proposal was approved by Brambles shareholders Subject to the satisfaction of any other
conditions (including the retevant court and regulatory approvals), the final separation of the Recall business
from Brambles group 1s expected to occur shortly thereafter

Key performance indicators

The Company Is an investment holding company and all financing activities are with fellow group undertakings
within the Brambles Group The directors consider that key performance indicators for the Company are neither
relevant nor appropriate for an understanding of the development, performance or position of the business of the
Company, or Brambies

Results and dividends

The results for the year are set out in the profit and loss account on page 5

The Company pad an mntenm dwidend of €303,725,335 dunng the year (2012 nil) The directors do not
recommend payment of a final dvidend (2012 i}

Financial position

The net assets of the Company have reduced by €(73,202,431) from €1,185,816,835 at 30 June 2012 to
€1,112,614,404 at 30 June 2013

The directors consider the Company 1s 1n a strong and stable financial position to continue its current operations

Financial risk management

The Company I1s exposed to a vanety of financial and market based nisks, including exposure to fluctuating
nterest and exchange rates Standard financial denvatives are used to manage financial exposures in the
normal course of business 1n accordance with Brambles Group policies Dealings in financial derwatives are
restricted by Group approved delegated authonies No denvatives are used for speculative purposes
Denivatives are transacted predominantly with relationship banks, with indvidual credit hmits assigned to those
banks thereby imiting exposure to credit-related losses i the event of non-performance by a counterparty

Funding and hguidity

The Company’s role within the Group 1s to provide funds for operations, primarly from mternal borrowings wathin
the Brambles Group Borrowings and lending are pnmanly n US dollar and euro  To minimise forergn
exchange nisks borrowings are arranged in the currency of the retevant operating asset to be funded
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT {continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest rate nisk policy 1s designed to reduce volatility in funding costs through prudent selection of
hedging mstruments This policy compnses maintaining a mix of fixed and floating rate instruments within a
target band over a ¢ertain tme honzon

Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s foreign exchange exposures are managed from the perspective of protecting shareholder value
Under the Group foreign exchange policy, foreign exchange hedging 1s mamly confined to hedging transaction
exposures where they exceed a certain threshold, and as soon as a defined exposure arises New exposures
may arise with external parties or by way of cross-barder inter-company transactons Forward foreign exchange
contracts are pnmarily used for these purposes

Principal nisks and uncertainties

The prnncipal nsks and uncertanties facing the Company and the Brambles Group are described in the
Brambles Limited Annuat Report 2013 page 9

Directors

The directors of the Company who were in office dunng the year and up to the date of the stgning of the financial
statements were

P Bruford
P Huart
R AWarren

Approved by the Board of directors
Signed on behalf of the Board

[t

R A Warren Unit 2 Weybndge Business Park
Director Addlestone Road

Addlestone, Surrey
10 December 2013 KT152UP

Company Registration Number 5963809
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are responsible for prepanng the Directors’ Report and the financial statements in accerdance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the
directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law the
directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affars of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period In prepanng these
financial statements, the directors are required to

« select sutable accounting policies and then apply them cansistently,

s make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained m the financial statements,

« prepare the financial statements an the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropnate to presume that
the Company will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tme the financial position of the
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregulanties

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors

So far as each director 1s aware, there 1s no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are
unaware and each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken as a director in order to make
himself aware of any relevant audit infformation and to establish that the Company's auditors are aware of that
infermation

Approved by the Board of directors
Signed on behalf of the Board

e

R A Warren Unit 2 Weybndge Business Park
Director Addlestone Road

Addlestone, Surrey
10 December 2013 KT152UP
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BFIM LIMITED Page 4
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF BFIM LIMITED

We have audited the financial statemenits of BFIM Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013 which comprise
the Profit and Loss Account, the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, and
the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in theirr preparation i1s appicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibiiies of directors and audiiors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 3, the directers are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
apphcable law and international Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body In
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compantes Act 2006 and for no other purpose We da not, in
giving these opmions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this repoart 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prnior consent in
writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropniate to
the company's crcumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the
financial statements In additon, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Directors’
Report to 1dentify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implhications for our report

Opimon on financial statements
In our opinion the financiai statements
+« give a true and farr view of the state of the company's affairs as at 30 June 2013 and of its profit for
the year then ended,
« have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and
s have been prepared in accordance with the regurements of the Companies Act 2006

Opirwon on other matter prescnbed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given i the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s conststent with the financal statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
repart ta you if, in aur oprruen
» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or
+ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
« certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Uu Wy Al
K Tumer (Semor Statutory Auditor)
For and on behaif of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Londaon

December 2013
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012
€ €

OPERATING RESULT 2 - -
Foreign exchange (lossesYgains (562,514) 164,228
tncome from shares mn group undertakings 3 247,534,960 -
Interest receivable and similar income
- from fellow group undertakings 20,964 854,952
Interest payable and simitar charges
- to fellow group underiakings {10,550,202) (10,383,078)
PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE
TAXATION 236,443,208 {9,363,898)
Tax on profit{loss) on ardinary activities 4 2,660,293 2,354,954
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 8 239,103,501 (7.008,944)

All amounts in 2013 and 2012 denive from continuing operations

There 1s no difference between the profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before taxation and the profit/(loss) for the
financial years stated above and therr historical cost equivalents

Company Registraton Number 5363809
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Page 6
STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
For the year ended 30 June 2013
Note 2013 2012
€ €
Profit/(loss) for the financial year 239,103,501 (7.008,944)
Foreign curency transiation differences
- on fixed asset investments 6 {28,712,741) 90,995,762
- on related loans 20,132,144 {64,051,604)
8,9 (8,580,597) 26,944,158
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES FOR THE
FINANCIAL YEAR 230,522,904 19,935,214
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BFIM LIMITED Page 7
BALANCE SHEET
As at 30 June 2013
Note 2013 2012
€ €
FIXED ASSETS
Investments 6 1,429,055,357 1,457,768,098
CURRENT ASSETS
Amounts owed by fellow group undertakings 20,056,422 84,564,416
Group relef recevable 5,036,279 7.032,365
Cash at bank and in hand - -
25,092,701 91,596,781
NET CURRENT ASSETS 25,092,701 91,596,781
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,454,148,058 1,549,364,879
CREDITORS amounts falling due after more than one
year
Amounts owed to {ellow group undertakings {341,533,654) (363,548,044)
NET ASSETS 1,112,614,404 1,185,816,835
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share caputal 7 110,351 110,351
Share premium account 8 1,103,379,722 1,103,379,722
Foreign currency translation reserve 8 (3,095,486) 5,485,111
Profit and loss account 8 12,219,817 76,841,651
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 9 1,112,614,404 1,185,816,835

The financial statements were approved by the Board of directors on 10 December 2013

The notes on pages 8 to 14 are an integral part of these financial statements

Signed on behalf of the Board of directors

7N

P Bruford
Director

Company Registration Number 5963809
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NOTES 7O THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2013

tl Accounting policies ]

The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis, under the histoncal cost conventian and in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards and the Companies Act 2006 The principal
accounting pohcies which have been apphed consistently throughout the year are set out below The functional
and presentation currency Is euro

a) Basis of consolidation

The Company has taken advantage of the exemplion under Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 from the
requirement to prepare and delver group financial statements as it is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Brambles
Limited, a company incorporated in Austraha, which prepares group financial statements

b} Income from shares in group undertakings

Income from shares in group undertakings 1s accounted for on the basis of dividends received In line with the
requirements of Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 16 ‘Current Tax’, dvidends received have been stated
excluding the related tax credit

¢) Finance income and expenditure
Finance mncome 15 recogrised as income in the year in which it 1s earned  Finance expenditure 1s recognised as
an expense n the year in which it 1s incurred

d) Financial Instruments

Denvative instruments used by the Company, which are used solely for hedging purposes (1 e to offset foreign
exchange and interest rate nsks). comprise interest rate swaps, caps, collars, forward rate agreements and
forward foreign exchange contracts Such denvative instruments are used to alter the nisk profile of the
Company's existing underlying exposure

As such instruments are used solely for hedging purposes, the Company defers the instrument's impact on profit
until it recognises the underlying hedged item 1n the profit and loss account Interest differentials under interest
rate swaps, caps and coflars are recognised by adjustment of the underlying interest receivable or payable over
the term of the agreement and as such are accrued to the profit and loss account on a time apportioned basis
Currency swap agreements and forward foreign exchange contracts are valued at closing exchange rates
Resulting gains and losses are offset against foreign exchange gains or losses on the related borrowings or,
where the instrument 1s used to hedge a commutted future transaction, are deferred until the transaction occurs
and shown within debtors or creditors as appropnate

The Company has denvative financial instruments with far values at the end of the year of €23,062 (2012
€234,250)

e} Fixed asset investment in group undertakings

The investment in group undertakings i1s slated at cost less provision for any immpawrment  An imparment loss 15
recogrused when the recoverable amount of an investment 1s fess than its carrying amount The Company's
invesiments are wholly owned subsidianes of the Brambles Group

f) Foreign currency translation

The Company applies net investment hedge accounting in accordance with SSAP 20 “Foreign currency
translation” to its fixed asset investments and related borrowings denomunated m US dollars  Exchange
differences ansing on the retranslation to closing rates are unrealsed and are recogrised through the statement
of total recogmised gans and losses and the foreign currency transiation reserve

Profit and loss account transachons in foreign currencies are translated mto euro at the exchange rate in
operation on the date of the transactionr  Monetary assets and Lhabdites denommnated in forexgn currencies are
translated into euro at the closing rate Except as noted above, all revaluaton differences and realised foreign
exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account

Company Registration Number 5963809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2013

1  Accounting policies {continued)

g} Distnibutions
Dividends to the Company's shareholders are recognised as hiabilities in the penod in which the dividends are
paid, 1n the case of intenm dividends, or approved by the Company’s shareholders, in the case of final dividends

h) Deferred taxation

In accordance with FRS 19, ‘Deferred Taxation’, deferred tax is fully provided in respect of timing differences
that have onginated but not reversed by the balance sheet date These are based on average tax rates that are
expected to apply at the time of the reversal, which will be the rates that have either been enacted, or
substantially enacted, by the balance sheet date No deferred tax s provided on permanent timing differences
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are regarded as more likely than not, to be
recoverable Deferred tax on un-remitted earnings of foreign subsidianies is only provided f dividends have
been accrued as receivable or there 1s a binding agreement to distribute past earnings in the future Deferred
tax balances are not discounted

1} Cash flow statement

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption permitted by FRS 1 (revised 1996) ‘Cash Flow
Statements’ not to produce a cash flow statement on the basis that the ulimate parent undertaking, having a
100% controling nfluence, produces consohdated financial statements which are available to the publc

2 Operating result

The audit fees for the Company have been borne by Brambles Holdings (UK} Limited, a fellow group
undertaking, during the current and preceding years

The Company had no employees dunng the year (2012 none) All administrative duties are performed by
employees of Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited and Brambles Limited (an Austrahan company), at no cost to the
Company

None of the directors recerved any emoluments or any other benefits as described in Schedule 5 to The Large
and Medium-sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 from the Company during
the year (2012 nil) Al of the directors receive remuneration from Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited as
employees of that company and, due to the non-executive nature of their services, it 1 not appropnate to make
an apportionment of their emoluments in respect of the Company

3 Income from shares in group undertakings 2013 2012
€ €
Dwidends from group undertakings 247,534,360 -

Company Registration Number 5963809




BFIM LIMITED Page 10
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2013
4  Tax on profit/{loss) on ordinary activities 2013 2012

€ €
Current tax
UK current tax credit on profit/{loss) for the year at 23 75%
{2012 255%) (2,634,293) (2.387,791)
Adjustment in respect of prior years {26,000) 32,837
Total tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities (2,660,293) (2,354,954)

The standard rate of Corporation Tax in the UK changed from 24% to 23% with effect from 1 April 2013
Accordingly, the Company's profit/(loss) for this accounting year are taxed at an effective rate of 23 75%
(2012 25 5%), and will be taxed at 23% i the twelve months to 31 March 2014 and 21% thereafter The
actual taxation charge for the current year differs from the standard rate for the reasons set out belaw

Profit/(loss} on ordinary activities before tax 236,443,208 (9.363,898)
Profit{loss) on ordinary actvities multiphed by the standard
rate n UK at 23 75% (2012 25 5%) 36,155,262 (2,387.791)
Effect of
- dividends from group undertakings {58,789,555) -
- adjustment in respect of prior years (26,000} 32,837
Current tax charge for the year (2,660,293) (2,354,954}
5 Dmvidends paid 2013 2012
€ €
Dwidends paid on ardinary equdy shares
- first interim - €849 3383 (2012 nil) per share 93,725,335 -
- second intenm - €1,903 0185 (2012 nil) per share 210,000,000 -
303,725,335 -
6 Fixed asset investments 2013 2012
€ €
Shares in group undertakings
Cost
At beginning of financial year 1,496,354,698 1,405,358,936
Foreign exchange differences (28,712,741) 90,995,762
At end of financial year 1,467,641,957 1,496,354 ,698
Provisions
At beginning and end of financial year (38,586,600) (38,586,600}

Net book value

Company Registration Number 5863309
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BFIM LYMITED Page 11
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2013

6 Fixed asset Investments (continued)

Brambles U K Limited (BUK) Is an mvestment holding company incorporated in England and Wales At 30
June 2013, the Company held 100% of the ordinary shares and voting nghts of BUK and 100% of the US dollar
denominated non-voting preference shares of BUK

A full isting of group undertakings as at 30 June 2013 1s provided in Note 13

In the opinion of the directors the value of the investments are not less than therr cost less provision for
impairment

7  Called up share capital 2013 2012
€ €
Allotted and fully paid
110,351 (2012 110,351) ordinary shares of €1 each 110,351 110,351
8 Reserves Foreign
Share Currency
premium Translation Profit and
account Reserve loss account
€ € €
At beginning of financial year 1,103,379,722 5,485,111 76,841,651
Foreign currency translation - (8,580,597) -
Profit for the financial year - - 239,103,501
Dmidends paid - - {303,725,335)

Al end of financial year 1,103,379,722 (3,095,486) 12,219,817

The foreign currency translation reserve anses from the revaluation at balance sheet rates of the Company’s
investment in the US dollar preference shares of Brambles U K Limited, partally offset by exchange differences
ansing on the Company's related US dollar borrowings  Net foreign exchange gans/(losses) are recognised
through the Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses in accordance with SSAP 20 “Foreign currency
translation”

9 Reconcihation of movements in shareholders’ 2013 2012
funds

€ €

Foreign currency translation (8,580,597) 26,944,158

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 239,103,501 (7,008,944)

Dividends pad {303,725,335) -

Net (decrease)fincrease in sharehelders’ funds (73,202,431) 19,935,214

Opening shareholders' funds
Closing shareholders’ funds

Company Registratton Number 5863809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2013

10 Related party transactions ,

in accordance with FRS 8 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, transactions with other group undertakings of Brambles
Limited have not been disclosed in these financial statements as the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of a
parent publishing consolidated financial statements There are no other related party transactions

[ 11 Post balance sheet event ’

On 2 July 2013, Brambles Limited announced its intention to demerge its Recall business by listing a new
holding company, Recall Holdings Limited, on the Australian Secunties Exchange The Brambles Group
convened a meeting for its shareholders to vote on the demerger proposal on 3 December 2013, at which the
demerger proposal was approved by Brambles shareholders Subject w the satsfacton of any other
conditions (including the relevant court and regulatory approvals), the final separation of the Recall business
from Brambles group is expected to occur shortly thereafter

During the period since the balance sheet date to 3 December 2013, certain steps necessary to prepare for the
demerger were undertaken by the Brambles Group These included the transfer of the Company's indirectly
owned Recall subsidiary entities to fellow group undertakings under Recall Holdings Limited for amounts not
less than book carrying value The carrying amount of Recall subsidiary entities included in fixed asset
investments at 30 June 2013 was €39 8 miilion

e

12  Utumate parent undertaking _l

The parent undertaking of the largest, and smallest, group for which group financial staternents are prepared,
and the ultimate controlling party, 1s Brambles Limited, which is incorporated in Australia

The Company's immediate parent undertaking 1s BFIS No 2 Limited, which 1s incorporated in England and

Wales Copies of all group financial statements are avarabie from Unit 2 Weybndge Business Park, Addlestone
Road, Addlestone, Surrey, KT15 2UP
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Page 13

13  Group undertalungs

Place of incorporation Holding Class of Shares

Investment Holding Companies
Brambles U K Limited England and Wales 100%™ Ordinary

100%* Preference
Brambles Europe Lid England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Moldings (UK) Limited England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Investment Holdings Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles Nominees Ltd England and Wales 100% Qrdinary
Cyan Logistics Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Miscellaneous activities
Brambles Enterpnses Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Brambles {nvestments plic England and Wales 100% Ordinary

100% Income
CHEP International Inc USA 100% Ordinary
Technological and Management Services Lid England and Wales 100% Ordwnary
Brambles Services GmbH & Co KG Germany 372% Limited

partnership

Brambles Services Verwaltungs GmbH Germany 100% Ordinary
Pallet Pooling
CHEP UK Ltd England and Wales 100% Crdinary
CHEP Ireland {branchy} Eire 100% Branch
CHEP Maroc Sarl Morocco 100% Ordinary
CHEP Magyarorszag kft Hungary 100% Ordinary
CHEP do Brasil Ltda Brazil 100% Ordinary
CHEP Konteyner Ve Palet Ltd Sirket: Turkey 100% Ordinary
CHEP Tamwan Ltd Tawan 100% Ordinary
CHEP Argentina SA Argentina 100% Ordinary
CHEP Uruguay SA Uruguay 100% Crdwary
CHEP QOsterreich GmbH Austna 100% Qrdinary
CHEP SKSro Slovakia 100% Ordinary
CHEP (Thailand) Ltd Thailand 100% Ordinary
CHEP Automiotive Logistics (Thaland) Limited Thalland 100% Ordinary
CHEP {Shanghai} Logistics Services Company Ltd China 100% Ordwnary
CHEP Saudi Arabia Ltd Saudi Arabia 100% Ordinary
CHEP Canada Inc Canada 50% Ordinary
CHEP Chile SA Chile 50% Ordinary
CHEP Malaysia Sdn Bhd Malaysia 50% Ordinary
CHEP Mexico SAde CV Mexco 50% Ordinary
Services Corporatvos CHEP SA de CV Mexico 48% Crdinary
CHEF Middle East FCZO UAE 100% Ordinary
Aurline equipment pooling
ASH Awation Service Holdings AG Swatzerland 100% Ordinary
CHEP Aerospace Solutions (Schwez) AG Switzerland 100% Ordinary
Unitpool Asset Management Alpha Sarl Luxembourg 100% Ordinary
JMI Denmark A/S
Intermediate bulk containers
CHEP Pallecon Solutions Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary

Company Registration Number 5363809
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2013

13 Group undertakings {continued)

Place of incorporation Holding Class of Shares

Information Management

Recall Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall Total Informaton Management Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall GQ Lid England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall London Ltd England and Wales 100% QOrdinary
Recall Shredding Lid England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Recall Total Information Management (India) Pvt Ltd indha 100% Ordinary
Recall India Information Management Pvi Lid India 9% Ordinary
Recall Tamvan Lid Tamwvan 100% Ordinary
Brambles Holdings Sweden AB Sweden 100% Ordinary
Recall Hoidings Sweden AB Sweden 100% Ordinary
Recall Sweden AB Sweden 100% Ordinary
Recall Finland OY Finland 100% Ordinary
Recall AS Norway 100% Ordinary
Recall A/S Denmark 100% Ordinary
Recall Deutschland GmbH Germany 100% Ordinary
Barec GmbH Germany 100% Ordinary
Recall Becker GmbH & Co KG Germany 50% Ordinary
Recall Becker Verwaltungesellschaft GmbH Germany 50% Ordinary
Inactive

Polybulk Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Ratl Car Services Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
TMG Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary
Wrekin Roadways Ltd England and Wales 100% Ordinary

Holdings marked * are heid directly by the Company All other holdings are held by subsidrary undertakings

Company Registration Number 5963809
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Brambles Limited is a supply-chain logistics company operating
in more than 50 countries, primarily through the CHEP and iIFCO
brands. Brambles is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange
(ASX) and has its headquarters in Sydney, Australia. The Group
specialises in the provision of Pooling Solutions and associated
szrvices, focussing on the outsourced management of returnable
pallets, crates and containers. It has three Pooling Solutions
segments: Pallets, Reusable Plastic Crates (RPCs) and Containers.
In addition, Brambles owns the information management
solutions business, Recall.
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN & THE CEO

BRAMBLES' CEO TOM GORMAN (L) AND CHAIRMAN GRAHAM KRAEHE AO (R}

9 September 2013

The 2013 financial year was sigmficant 10 the 138-
year history of Brambles Not only did we deliver
another solid set of financial results while
continuing to invest substantially for the long term,
we also took a senes of important steps toward
becoming a more focused organisation

Central to the concept of focus 1s the first of our shared values “All
things begin with the customer” We are proud of the progress we
are making in getting closer to our customers ‘We wall continue to
strive to make Brambles the most customer-centnc organisation 1n
our industry We have set out more detail about how our shared
values drive our strategy and detaited commentary on our financial
results tn the Operational & Financial Review

We are commtted to creating value for all of cur stakeholders,
conbinuing to enhance our position as the world's leading supply
chain equipment Pooling Solutions company and delivenng our
strategy to grow profitably and deliver superor returns for
shareholders over the long term In the five years ended 30 June
2013, Brambles’ total shareholder return' was 47%, compared with
21% for Austraha’s benchmark S&P/ASX200 Index

We are also committed to delivening results year on year In the year
ended 30 June 2013, Brambles’ total shareholder return was 57%,
compared wth 46% for the S&P/ASX200 In FY13, i constant
currency terms compared with FY12, sales revenue was up 6% and
aperating profit was up 10%, and we declared dividends of

27 0 Austraban cents per share, up 1 € Australian cent per share
{Full dmdend details are on page 54)

We beligve our decision to demerge our information management
business, Recall, as a separate company an the Australian Secunties
Exchange, will enhance cur abiity to focus on our core busmness
activities While Recall had a challenging year in FY13, the
demerger, expected to be completed 1n December pending
shareholder and relevant court and regulatory approvals, will free
Recall to concentrate on its business, and enable Brambles to
concentrate on its Pooling Solutions strategy More detail about
Recall's strategy and outlook will be provided in the demerger
scheme book, which we expect to send to shareholders in late
October 2013

STRATEGY

As we have commumcated previously, we use four key themes to
govern the implementation of our strategy Dwersification, Cost
Leadership, Go To Market and People & Leadership The Strategy
Scorecard on pages 14 and 15 highlights our progress agawnst alt
these areas during FY13, and sets out our focus areas as we look to
the future While we are proud of the achievements of recent years,
we are committed to dnving stronger returns for shareholders, by
allocating capital to high value growth opportumties, by delivenng
operational and asset efficiencies and by leveraging our global scale
and network capacity

Total shareholder return reflects share pnce movements and reinvestment, of divdends
over a specified performance period Bloomberg data are usad for the purposes of
comparison

One highlight of this progress 1s our continued expansion of the
global Intermediate Bulk Contawners {{BCs) business following the
acquisition in December 2012 of Pallecon, an IBC pooling services
provider wath more than 30 years’ operating expenence We have
now merged Pallecon’s gperations 1n Europe and the Asia-Pacfic
wnth the IBC aperations of CHEP and the CAPS buswness in North
Amenica to form CHEP Pallecon Solutions

Elsewhere, we continued to diversify our earmngs base through the
strong expansion of our Reusable Plastic Crates (RPCs) operations,
through growing our Pallets operations with new customers and
under penetrated and emerging markets, and through the growth of
the CHEP Aerospace Solutions operations

We continue to 1nnovate alongside our customers, developing and
launching new and 1mproved products and services, 1n particular
pallets for use 1n promotional In store display

In the area of cost control, we are continuing to deliver synergies
from 1ntegrating IFCO and te delver operational efficiencies under
the global Pallets structure introduced in 2011 Each of our three
Pooling Solutions segments - Pailets, RPCs and Containers - now has
a single leaderstp focus

SAFETY & SUSTAINABILITY

Although we continue to pursue our geal of Zero Harm, tragically,
two fatalities impacted Brambles during the Year One involved a
contractor who passed away as a result of a traffic ncident in the
IFCO Pallet Management Services operations and another involving a
third-party service provider who passed away after an acadent at a
CHEP South Afnca timber plantaticn

More detail on our efforts to elimnate such tragic events, as well as
broader commentary about our progress against our Zero Harm
charter and broader Sustainability strategy are included n the
Operational & Financial Review on pages 5 and 6

OUTLOOK

We have entered FY14 1n a strong position to continue to deliver
profitable growth to our shareholtders and invest in and develop our
business over the long term When we anncunced our FY13 results,
we provided gudance for FY14 for Underlying Profit?, exctuding any
contnbution from Recall and subject to unforeseen circumstances,
of US5930 million to US5965 rmilion at 30 June 2013 foreign
exchange rates, reflecting anticipated growth of 4% to 8% at those
rates

As we look to delver another year of growth for shareholders, we
wish to express our gratitude to our 18,000 employees worldwide,
the company’s management and ocur fellow Directors for their

ongoing commitment and support
Tom Gorman

Graham Kraehe AQ
Chairrman CEO

Brambles defines Underiying Profit as profit from contimunng operations before finance
costs, tax and Sigmificant Items
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ABOUT BRAMBLES

OVERVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Brambles Larmted 15 a supply-chamn logistics company operating n
maore than 50 countnes, pnmanly through the CHEP and IFCO
brands Brambles 1s bsted on the Austrabian Secunties Exchange
{ASX) and has 1ts headquarters in Sydney, Austraha

The Group speciatises in the provision of Pooling Solutions and
assoCiated services, focussing on the outsourced management

of returnabte paltets, crates and containers It has three

Pooling Solutwons segments  Pallets, Reusable Plastic Crates (RPCs)
and Contatners

Brambles’ businesses predormnantly serve the consumer goods, dry
grocery, fresh food, retail and general manufactunng industnes

The Group has specialist businesses serving the automotive
manufacturing, aerospace and refiming sectors At 30 June 2013, the
Pooling Sclutions operations employed more than 13,500 people and
owned approxamately 450 million paliets, crates and contaners
through a network of more than 850 service centres

In additon, Brambles operates an information management
solutions business, Recall, which prowvides secure management and
destruction services for documents and digital media to customers
in 23 countnes Recall employs more than 4,500 people and
operates a network of more than 300 information centres

0On 2 July 2013, Brambles announced it intended to demerge Recall
as an independent company listed on the ASX Brambles expects to
complete the demerger by the end of the 2013 calendar year

SHARED VALUES

Brambles’ shared values are a core component of the Group’s
culture and are as follows

- All things begin with the customer,

- We have a passion for success,

- We are committed to safety, dwersity, people and teamwork,
- We believe in a culture of mmnovation, and

- We always act with integnty and respect for the commumties in
which we cperate and the environment

OPERATING MODEL

Through its Pooling Solutions business, Brambles enhances supply
chain performance for customers by helping them transport goods
through thewr supply chains more efficiently, sustainably and safely

Brambles prowvides standardised reusable pallets, crates and
containers to customers fram its senace centres, as and when
customers require Customers use the equipment to transport goods
through ther supply chains, then either arrange for its return to
Brambles or transfer 1t to another participant in the network for
that participant to reuse Brambtes retains ownership of 1ts
equipment at all times, wspecting and repanng it as required to
maintam consistent levels of quality

By participating 1n Brambles’ pooling system, customers elimnate
the need to purchase and manage their awn paltets, crates and/or
cantainers and benefit from the supenor scale of Brambles' network
and systems, 1ts asset management knowledge and expenence and
1ts continuous development of new and thnovative solutions

Brambles® Pooling Sclutions operations predominantly generate sales
revenue from the rental and other sernice fees that customers pay
based on thew usage of the Group’s equipment

SHAREHOLDER VALUE

The service and value Brambles provides through its Pooling
Solutions business, the quahity of the Group's customer relationships
and the scale of 1ts networks and invested capitat base create the
foundation of its value proposition for investors

As a result of this value proposition, Brambles has been able to
demaonstrate supenor rates of sales growth and delwered
cansistently high levels of return an capital relatve to the
benchmark Australian share index ’

BUSINESS STRATEGIES & FUTURE PROSPECTS

Brambles’ strategic focus 1s to create supenor and sustainable value
for wts customers, shareholders and employees

The Group implements 1ts strategy under four key themes

- Diversificahion - expanding into more customer segments,
broadering the range of products and services and growing
geographically,

- Cost leadership - delivering a low cost business model that
leverages 11s globat scale to create sustainable competitive
advantage,

- Go to market - strengtheming 1ts brand position and enhancing the
customer expenence through continuously improving the quality
of 1ts products and services, and

- Peogple and leadership - attracting, developing and retaining the
right individuals and teams that can enhance its cutture and bnng
the required capabity for sustainabte success

The Group has access to a bread range of opportumties to continue
to nvest 10 value adding products and services for customers and
expand 1ts Pooling Solutions business at the same as delivenng
attractive returns to shareholders

The pnncipal factors that define growth opportunities in the Pooling
Solutions business within which the Group can create value for
customers while supporting 1ts investment proposition for
shareholders are

Multple parties use a common asset {1 e a paliey, crate or
contamner) to transport goods threughout the supply cham,

Assets flow freely and at high veloaity throughout the supply
chain, creating complexaty that Brambles can manage more
effectively through a pooled environment than customers could
alone,

Ownership of assets 15 not a source of competitive differentiation
to the asset user, and

Pooling of assets can create a benefit in which atl supply-cham
participants can share

The Strategy Scorecard on pages 14 and 15 sets out the Group’s
progress in relatron to delivenng its strategy This scorecard
includes the identification of focus areas for future prospects as
well as execution nsks and asseciated mitigating actiang

Further details of strategy and execution nsk 1n the context of
Brambles’ nsk management framework are provided 1n the
Sigmficant Risk & Uncertainhies section on page 7

'Based on data publithed by Bloomberg for the five years ended

31 December 2012 Brambles’ compound average growth rate in sales
revenue was 9%, compared with negative 2% for the S&P/ASX200 Index,
Brambdes’ ftve year average post tax return on capital was 14%, compared
with 4% for the ASX200
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PERFORMANCE DRIVERS & METRICS

The Group momitors performance and value creation through non-
financial metncs {such as customer loyalty, safety performance and
employee engagement) and through finanoal metncs (such as those
covenng sales revenue, profitability, return on capital and
shareholder retumns)

Throughout Pooling Solutions, there are three key dnvers of
Brambles” sales revenue growth

General increases 1n sales volumes 1n hine wath economic or
ndustry trends (2 relatively stable vanable because the majonty
of Brambles' sales revenue comes from customers 1n the consumer
staples sectar),

The rate at which the group expands the penetration of its
operations (often descnbed as “net new business wins?'}), and

- Movements ih pncing

Brambles' key focus 1 terms of measunng profitability 1s Underlying
Profit, the main drivers of which in Pooling Solutions are

Transport, logistics and asset management costs (including
external factors such as fuel and frenght prices, as well as labour
costs),

Ptant operations costs 1n relation to management of service centre
networks and the inspection and repair of assets (including labour
costs and raw matenals costs),

QOther operational expenses (pnmanly overheads such as selling,
general and admimistrative expenses), and

Depreciation, as well as prowvisioning for urecoverable

pooling equipment

Brambles calculates return on capital invested by diwiding
Underlying Profit by Average Capital Invested’ The matn driver of
Average Capital Invested 1n Pooling Solutions 15 capital expenditure
on pooling equipment The main dnivers of capital expenditure are
the rate of sales growth as well as asset efficiency factors 1¢e the
amount of pooling equipment not recoverable or repawrable each
year (and therefore requinng replacement) and the frequency with
which customers returmn or exchange pooling equipment Brambles’
main capital cost exposures are for raw matenals, pnmanly lumber
and plastic resin

The Group also moritors Brambles Value Added (BVA), which
measures value generated over and above the cost of capital used to
generate that value BVA s calculated by subtracting from
Underlying Profit the product of Average Capital Invested multiphed
by 12% (a notional representation of pre-tax cost of capital)

INet new business wins are the change in sales revenue in the reparting period
resulting from business won or lost in that perfod and the previous financial
year The revenue impact of net new business wins {5 included across
reporting periods for a total of 12 months from the date of the win or toss and
calculated on a constant currency basis

A 12 month average of capital invested, calculated as net assets befare tax
balances, cash and borrowings but after adjustment for accumulated pre tax
Significant lvers, actuarial gans and losses and net, equity adjustments for
equity settled share-based payments

FINANCIAL POSITION

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Brambles manages 1ts capital structure to mawntain a solid
mvestrment grade credit rating Dunng the financial year
ended 30 June 2013, Brambles held tnvestment-grade credit
ratings of BBB+ from Standard & Poor's and Baat from Moody's
Investors Serice

In determimng 1ts capital structure, Brambles considers the
robustness of future cash flows, potential funding requirements for
growth opportumties and acquisitions, the cost of capital, and ease .
of access to funding sources Imbiatives available to Brambles to
achieve 1ts desired caprital structure include adjusting the amount of
dmdends paid to shareholders, returning capital to shareholders,
buying back share capital, 1ssuing new shares, selling assets to
reduce debt, and varying the matunty profle of borrowings

TREASURY POLICIES

Brambtes’ treasury function 1s responsible for the management of
certain financial rsks within Brambles Key treasury activities
nclude higuidity management, interest rate and foreign exchange
nsk management, and securing access to short and long-term
sources of debt finance at competitive rates These actwaties are
conducted on a centralised basis \n accordance with Board policies
and gundelines, through standard operating procedures and
delegated authonties These policies provide the framework for
treasury to arrange and implement lines of credit from financiers,
select and deal in approved financial denvatives for hedging
purposes, and generally execute Brambles’ finanang strategy

Brambles’ policies wath respect to interest and exchange rate nsks
and appropnate hedging instruments are descnbed below Further
information is contained n Note 30 on pages 99 to 108 of this
report, including a sensitivity analysis (pages 102 and 104) wath
respect to these finanoal instruments

The Group uses standard financial derivatives to manage financial

exposures 1n the normal course of business It does not use

denvatives for speculative purposes and only transacts denvaties ‘
wath relationship banks indwidual credit imits are assigned to

those relationship banks, thereby miting exposure to credit-related

losses 1n the event of non performance by any counterparty

FUNDING & LIQUIDITY

Brambles funded 1ts operations duning the 2013 financial year
through equity 1ssuance, retained cash flow and borrowings The
Group generally sources debt funding from relationship banks and
debt capital market investors on a medium-to kong term basis

The only major equity 1ssuance of the year occurred in July 2012,
when Brambles received A5115 3 million before costs representing
the retail portion of the fully underwntten 1-for-20 pro rata
accelerated renounceable entittement offer made in June 2012
Brambles recerved the institutional portion (A$332 8 million before
costs) of the entitlement offer 1n the pnor year The purpase of the
equity raising was to replace funds Brambles would have raised
through the underwntten dividend remnvestment plan for the 2011
final and 2012 intenm dividends These plans formed part of the
equity component of the onginal IFCO acquisition funding plan but
were cancetled n August 2011 in the expectation of a sale of Recall,
winch subsequently did not proceed The net proceeds of the offer
were used to retire bank borrowings drawn under vanous revolving
credit facliies There were no new debt capital market issuances
dunng the Year

Bank borrowing facilities were mantained and portions renewed

throughout the year These facilihes are generally structured on '
multi-currency, revolving bases and currently have matunties |
ranging to Novernber 2017 Borrowings under the facilibies are
floating-rate, unsecured obhigations with cavenants and
undertakings typical for these types of arrangements
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Tabte 1 below shows the matunty profile of the Group's commtted
borrowing facihities and cutstanding bonds, including the percentage
due n each 12 month matunty bucket

Table 1 Maturity Profile of Committed Borrowing
Faclities & Outstanding Bonds

too 24%
24%
22%
15%
. 14%
g 050
— [
<lyr 32ys 23yrs Jdyrs 45ys > S5yrs
» Bonds/notes = Bank borrowings Undrawn bank faaliies

% = percentage of total committed credit facilitles

Brambles’ Liquidity policy requires, among other things, that no
more than 25% of total commtted credit facibities mature in
any rolling 12 month penod At 30 June 2013, the Grouyp was in
comphiance with the policy

Non-current debt 2,686 4 27777 (91 3)
Gross debt 2,843 3 2,864 1 (20 8)
Less cash (128 9) (174 2) 45 3
Net debt 2,714 4 2,689 9 245
Key ratias

Net debt to EBITDA 1 68x 172 -
EBITDA interest caver 14 éx 10 Ix 43

Brambles’ financial policy 1s to target a net debt to EBITDA ratio of
less than 1 75 times  Key financial ratios continue to reflect the
Group's strong balance sheet position and remain well wathin the
financial covenants included in Brambles® major financing
agreements, with net debt to EBITDA at 1 68 times (2012 1 72
twnes) and EBITDA interest caver at 14 6 times (2012 10 3 times)
Net debt was US52,744 4 mithon at 30 June 2013, up

US524 5 million from 30 June 2012, reflecting the net funding
impact of the Pallecon acquisition and the reta nghts proceeds
received n the penod

At 30 June 2013, Brambles had committed credit faciibies including
baonds and notes totalling US$3,958 1 milhion Undrawn committed
borrgwing capaaity totalied US$1,224 2 mullwon The average term
to matunty of Brambles' commtted credit facilities at 30 June 2013
was 3 6 years (1012 3 7 years) Brambles enters nto operating

leases for office and operational locations and certain plant and
equipment to achieve flexability in the use of certan assets The
rental penods vary according to business requirements

DIVIDEND POLICY & PAYMENT

Brambles has a progressive dwidend policy under which the Group
maintains at least the level of dividends per share it pays, 1n
Austrahan cents, subject to the Group’s financial performance and
cash requirements

The Board has declared a final dindend for 2043 of 13 S Austraban
cents per share, up 0 5 Australian cents compared with the previous
final dwidend and payable on 10 October 2013 to shareholders on
the Brambles register at Spm on 13 September 2013 The final
dmdend 15 30% franked The ex-dradend date 15 9 September 2013
Total dwadends for the Year are 27 O Austraban cents per share, up
1 0 Australian cent Brambles paid an intenm dividend

of 13 5 Australian cents per share on 11 Apnl 2013, franked at 30%

The unfranked component of the final dwidend 1s condunt forergn
wmcome Consequently, shareholders not restdent in Austrahia witl
not pay Austratian dmidend withholding tax on this dmvidend The
Omwidend Retnvestment Plan remains suspended

INTEREST RATE RISK

Brambles’ interest rate nsk policy 1s designed to reduce volatibty 1n
funding costs through prudent selection of hedging instrurments This
pelicy ncludes maintaining a mix of fixed and floating-rate
nstruments within a target band, over a certain time honzon, using
nterest rate denvatives where appropnate The policy requires the
level of fixed rate debt to be within 40% to 70% of total forecast
debt ansing over the immediate 12-month penod, decreasing to a
range of 20% to 60% for debt matunties of one to two years, 10% to
50% for debt matunties of two to three years, and 0% to 50% for
debt maturities extending beyord three years

At 30 June 2013, Brambles had 50% of 1ts weighted average nterest-
beanng debt over the next 12 months at fixed interest rates (2012
51%) Beyond 12 menths, the proportion of fixed rate debt in the
range of one to two years was 47% (2012 47%), 48% for two to three
years (2012 45%) and 45% for three to four years (2012 39%) with a
decreasing proportion for each year thereafter The weighted
average matunty penod was 4 4 years (2012 5 1 years) The fair
value of all interest rate swap instruments was LUS$19 0 mithan net
gain (2012 US$23 5 millron net gain)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Brambles manages 1ts foreign exchange exposures from the
perspective of reducing volatility in the value of foreign currency
cash flows and assets Exposures ganerally anse w etther

- Transaction exposures affecting the value of transactons
translated back to the functional currency of the subsidiary, and

- Translabion exposures affecting the value of assets and habilities
of overseas subsidianes when translated into US dellars

Under Brambles' foreign exchange policy, foreign exchange hedging
15 mainly confined to the hedging of transaction exposures where
such exposures exceed a certain threshold, and as soon as a defined
exposure anses Within Brambles, exposures may anse with extemal
parnes of, alternatively, by way of cross border intercompany
transactions Forward foreign exchange contracts are pnmanly used
for these purpases Given the nature of the Group’s operations,
these exposures are not ssgmficant Brambles generatly rmitigates
translation exposures by raising debt in currencies where there are
matching assets Dunng the Year, Brambles maintained net
mvestment hedge borrowings 1n euro of €350 S million, breadly to
match its euro-denominated assets At the end of the Year, the fawr
value of foreign exchange instruments was US$8 3 million net loss
(2012 US$1 8 mylhon ret loss)
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SAFETY & SUSTAINABILITY

ZERO HARM

Dunng the Year, Brambles reviewed and launched an updated
version of its Zero Harm Charter (see Sustainabibity on pages 5 to 6)
The Charter states that everyone has the nght to be safe at work
and be able to returmn home to thewr family and friends as healthy as
when they started the day Each and every person 15 expected to
thank first of Zero Harm Brambles seeks to apply best practice n
occupabional health, safety and environment for employees,
contractors, customers and the commumties rn which it operates

Brambles Imury Frequency Rate (BIFR} is the primary measure of
safety performance across the Group BIFR 1s recorded at a rate per
milion hours worked and prowides a comprehensive view of
employee safety It includes

- Work-related fatalities,

- Loss of a full work shift due to injury,

- Modified duties for a full work shift following an tnjury, and
- Incidents that require external medical treatment

The Year was transitional for Brambles’ reporting on safety For the
first tune, data for all businesses acquired n FY12 were
incorporated into BIFR  Acquisittons made in FY13 were not included
but will be incorporated i FY14 in addition, the Group introduced
a greater emphasis on reporting “near misses™ (0 e sncidents in
which a reportable \njury 1s narrowly avoided) as a positive indicator
to identify and ehminate nsks before acaidents occur All businesses
increased ther focus on improving segregation of pedestnans from
vehicles and machinery, helping drive a reduction in seventy rates

The FY13 BIFR result of 14 9, a 31% improvement on the previous
year, means the Group has achieved its abjective of a 25% reduction
on FY12 levels Brambles will continue to target year on-year
improvements, after taking into account the 1mpact of any
acquisiions

Table 3. BIFR

| [ ese]

ge
Pallets 389 547 29%  Machine incident reductions and repair
Americas process improvements

Pallets -EMEA 318 34 {12)% Increased focus on safety management

and incident investigation in MEA

Pallets Asia 100 185 46%  Improved ownership of safety at the site

Pacific level
Pallets* 205 290 29%
RPCs 10 111 1% Focus on ergonomic improvements and

washing machine safety

Contaners® 177 184 4%  Improvements in CHEP Aerospace

Solutions

Recall 57 106 46%  Callbration of incident classification

throughout the world

Brambles 149 215 3%

“For the purpases of safety reporting the Pallets segment includes the CHEP
RPCs and Contasners operations in Asfa Pacific and South Africa

SFor the purposes of safety reporting, the Containers segment includes the
CHEP Automotive & Industrial Solutions operations in Europe and the
Americas, CAPS, CHEP Aerospace Solutions and the CHEP Catalyst & Chemical
Containers business

*Brambles has adjusted its FY12 BIFR to incorporate acguired operations and
establish a base rate for comparison The previously published FY12 BIFR of
9 3 has been replaged with a new base rate of 21 5 that covers all businesses
except those acquired during FY13

A detaited report on Brambles' safety performance will be available
1 the 2013 Sustainatihity Review, which wall be published on
Brambles® website dunng September 2013 |

Brambles reports with great sadness that two fatalites occurred
duning the Year n relation to1ts operations

- A temporary contractor was fatally injured while worlkang for the
IFCO PMS business 1n Kansas City, USA, tn May 2013 The
contracter was driving a PMS vehicle and was involved n a simgle-
vehicle acaident, which 1s under investigation by the Kansas State
Highway Patrol

- Athird party service prowider of tree felling services at CHEP's
Sprngfield timber farm 1n South Africa was fatally injured in
January 2013 I

SUSTAINABILITY

Brambles defines Sustainabibity as the strategies and actvities the
Group has adopted n relation to its employees, the environment,
ethics and the community This approach 1s consistent with
Brambles’ strategy and shared values and 1s designed to enhance,
among other things

- Efficiency and praductivity in Brambles' use of finite resources,

- The value Brambles creates for customers and shareholders,

- Employee engagement,

- Clanty of communication with customers and other
stakeholders, and

- Brambles' abitity to grow over the long term without causing harm
to the environment or the health and safety of 1ts employees

Brambles behieves the fundamental principles on which its business
1s bunlt are inherently sustainable The Group 1s committed to being
the global leader 1 responsible and sustainable pooling solutions 1
the supply chams 1t serves It s focused on building a long-term,
sustainable business that serves 1ts customers, employees and
shareholders and the commumties in which they live

Brambles 15 applying best-practice standards throughout 1ts

operations and logistics, and 1s continuousty vigilant n reducing

asset losses, cycle times and damage to generate a more

sustminable use of physical and financial resources Fundamental to !
these efficiency efforts are the pnnciples of recover, reuse,

reduce and recycle

The repeated use of higher quality assets compared with alternative
disposable or imited use platforms reduces matenal and energy
requirements Brambles retains ownership of 1ts assets at ail times,
enabling the company to control end of life management and
improve continuously its recovery, reuse, reduction and

recyching efforts

Strategy

Since 2009, Brambles’ Sustainability Committee has been
responsible for the strategies and activities adopted by Brambles
wath regard to the emvironment, its employees, ethics and the
community, consistent with the Group's Shared Values

In 2010, Brambles launched 1ts sustainability strategy and outlined
1ts strategic objectives and imtiatives to 2015 Brambles set a
number of targets to measure efforts to )/mprove continuously,
demonstrate the inherent sustainatlity value in the business model
for Brambles and 1ts stakeholders and deliver more efficient, safer
and emvironmentally sustainable supply chains The strategy and
targets are grouped into four areas of focus Customer,
Environment, People and Community

A table containing the targets and details on progress to date are
ncluded 1n Table 4 A full update on the targets will be provided 1n
the Sustainability Review to be published on Brambles® website in
September 2013
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In suppart of 1ts areas of focus, Brambles 1s aware that m its
approach 1t must have the right nsk and governance foundations
and appropnate structures in place 1o manage its outputs and
outcomes responsibly Brambles bsts 1ts commatments in this respect
under Governance in the Sustainability section of its website

Key Topics

Brambles has established a process to determine key sustainability
topies that will impact the Group and are therefore of most
importance to measure, manage and commumcate Brambles
conducted its first formal analysis of sustainabiity topics st
considers important to its stakeholders i FY11 Athird party
provider conducted the analysis using AccountAbility Pnnciples
Standards AA1000 five-part test as a guide

For FY13, an online questionnaire was distnbuted to key
management personnel respensible for engagerment with customers,
employees, shareholders and other stakeholders

As a result of recent developments in regulatory reporting
frameworks, the acquisitions of new businesses and the planned
demerger of Recall, Brambles will conduct a new key sustainability
topie analysis process and a complete review of 1ts Sustainability
targets 1n FY14 Brambtes will communicate the outcomes of this
process in its 2014 Annual Report and Sustainability Review

Key Activities during the Year
Brambles underteck the following key Sustainability actvities dunng
the Year

- Reviewed and updated the Zero Harm Charter, which included
adding human nghts to the existing safety and environmental
commitments to recognse clearly everyone’s right to life, family
bife, health and development,

Enhanced the visibility of 1ts lumber supply chains and updated 1ts
umber purchasmg processes, including development of a glabal
sustamable sourcing standard to incorparate biodiversity and
human nghts, n ine with continuing efforts to improve the supply
chain,

Incorporated 1ts Social Media Policy 1n 1its Code of Conduct,
Commenced the roli-cut of the global Occupationat Health, Safety
& Enmvironment reporting system (ICARE) The safety modute 1s
used by all businesses ICARE’s energy waste and reporting module
15 currently used by CHEP Pallets and the RPCs segment,

IFCO RPCs operations reported energy and emissions data for the
first time,

Signed the UN Global Compact, demonstrating Brambles® support
for responsible business practices,

Became a Steening Committee member of the World Econormic
Forum’s food waste project, and

Developed a global suppler policy to be rolled out to all
businesses in FY14

.

Table 4- Progress against Sustainability Targets

Brambtes 1s prepanng the Sustainability Review with reference to
the Global Reporting Imtiative (GRI) G3 1 pninciples for delvening
content and quabity, and the 10 principles of the UN Globat
Compact Brambles has engaged KPMG to provide imited assurance
on the Group's adherence to the GRI pnnciples and on selected
metncs Brambles will publish details of the scope of this
engagement and KPMG's opimion wath the full Sustainability Review

Customer

Customer Introduction of Net Promaoter Score in every -

loyalty country and year on year improvements

Customer Increased participation in fndustry forums and .

engagement  customer advocacy panels

Environment

Lumber Chain of custody certification by 2015 .

sourcing

Greenhouse 20% reduction on 2010 levels by 2015 .

gas emissions

Lumber waste Zero lumber waste to landfill by 2015 .

Solid waste Year on year recycling improvements -

Water Target to be set in 2014 .

management

Peaple

Emplayee 30% female representation on Board and .

diversity Executive Leadership Team by 2015 and wathin all
management positions by 2018

Safety 25% reduction in BIFR on 2012 levels by 2017 v

Employee Brambles Employee Survey participation at v

engagement minimum of 90% by 2015

survey

Employee Brambles Employee Survey target of 73% by 2015 .

engagement

score

Education, 25% Increase In education, training and -

training and development days on 2012 levels by 2015

develapment

Community

Supplier polfcy Develop and introduce global policy by end of .
2013

Volunteer time At least one volunteer hour per employee dunng .

for employees working hours by 2015

“Give as you  Introduced fn all businesses where allowed by .

eam” policies legislation by 2015

+ Target actveved

+ Progressing and on track
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

SIGNIFICANT RISKS & UNCERTAINTIES

Brambles has adopted a nsk management framework that sets out
the processes for the denuficabon and management of nsk
throughout the Group Full details of the objectives of the
framework and the strategies and processes applied to manage
these nsks are descnbed tn Section 7 of the Corporate Governance
Statement on pages 16 to 28

The nsk management framework provides for a biannual production
of a Group nsk matnx, which sets out the top 10 “net” nsks facng
the Group and the steps being taken to mitigate those nsks The top
10 “net” nisks are rated on the basis of their potential /mpact on the
Group as a whole after taking into account current mitigating
actions

Listed below are the top 10 net nsks on the nsk matnx for the Year
Investors shoutd be aware that there are other nsks associated with
an investment 1n Brambtes

- Business model - changing supply chain dynamics and customer
needs could render Brambles’ existing service offenngs and
business madels out of date Current market 1ssues that, in
combination or separately, could support competitive service
offerings include diffenng segmental needs, attnbutes of wood
versus alternative matenals, use of track-and-trace technology,
increasing fuel costs, changes in retailer behaviour and the
embedded cost of asset losses 1n the current model These 1ssues
could, over time, have an smpact on revenue, cost base,
econormies of scale and the value of Brambles' existing assets

Competition and retentian of major customers - Brambles
operates 1n a competitive environment Many of the markets in
which Brambies operates are served by numerous competitors and
are subject to the threat of new entrants In addition, the
concentration of distnbutors in certan areas could lead to shifts
n market structure, bargaiming position and intensity of
competition The above nsks could have an impact on market
penetration, revenue, profitability, economies of scale and the
value of existing assets

Strategy and execution - Brambtes 15 subject to the nsk of not
having effective strategies 1n place to gunde the Group's
performance and to dnve sales and profit growth, enable
nnavation, safety improvements and improve customer and
employee satisfaction Further, 1t 1s subject to the nsk of not
being able to effectively execute aganst agreed strategies
resulting i loss of market and invester cenfidence and reduced
share performance

Inngvation - Brambles 1s subject to the rsk of not beng able ta
optimise innavations 1n 1ts seraces, products, processes and
commercial solutions, including captunng the full value of any
mnovations that support its growth opportumties This could have
an impact on revenue, profitability, economies of scale and the
value of existing assets

Equipment tosses - Brambles is subject to the nsk of a lack of
control of Pooling Solutions eguipment  This could impact
financial performance and lead to a reduction i customer
satisfaction

Equipment quality - satisfaction of Brambles' customers may
fluctuate with the customers’ perceived views of equipment
quality which, w turn, 15 influenced by the effectiveness of the
quality standards that Brambles employs n its equipment pools
Brambles 15 subject to the nsk that it may not optimise these
standards, thereby adversely affecting customer satisfaction with
1ts service offering and/or the operating and capital costs of the
equipment pools

Mergers and Acquisions - Brambles 15 subject to the nisk of failing
to successfully execute acquisitions and disposals, as well as the
nsk of falling to successfully integrate acquisiions  If the
integration of newly acquired businesses 1s not effective, this

could result in the failure to realise the anticipated benefits and
synergies

People capability - Brambles 1s subject to the nsk of not
attracting, developing and retaiming high performing indmaduals
Furthermore, succession planmng may not be managed
effectively, so that talented ndividuals are able to be developed
and promoted within the Group, rather than sourced externalty
This could result in Brambles not having sufficient quahity and
quantity of people to meet 11s growth and business objectives

Systems and technology - Brambiles relies on the continuing
operation of its nformation technology and commurications
systems, including those in CHEP's global data centre
Interruption, compromise or fallure of these systems could impair
Brambtes’ ability to provide 1ts services effectively This could
damage 1ts reputation and, in tum, have an adverse effect on its
ability to attract and retan customers

Zero Harm - Brambiles 15 subject to inherent operational nsks,
including ndustrial hazards, road traffic or transportation
acadents that could potentially result in senous injury or fatality
of employees, contractors or members of the public There is also
a nsk of prosecution of 1ts Officers and Directors due to wilful or
negligent breaches of safety regulations
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

FINANCIAL REVIEW - GROUP OVERVIEW

SALES REVENUE
UssSm Change
Y13 Y12 Ac;;al Con;)t(ant
Pallets - Amencas 2,205 8 2,041 3 8% 8%
Pailets - EMEA 1,346 8 1,326 8 2% 5%
Pallets - Asia-Pacific 391 8 3758 4% 5%
Total Pallets 3,944.4 3,7439 5% 7%
RPCs 8128 7595 % 10%
Containers 3257 276 6 18% 20%
Total Pooling 5,082 9 4,780 0 6% 8%
Solutions
Recall 807 0 8450 (4% {3)%
Total Brambles 5,889 9 5,625 0 5% 6%

Brambles’ sales revenue 1n the 12 months ended 30 June 2013

was US55,889 9 million, up 5% {6% at constant currency’) compared
with the priar corresponding penod Poeling Solutions (Pallets,
Reusable Plastic Crates (RPCs) and Containers} contnbuted sales
revenue of USS5,082 9 rithon, up 6% (8% at constant currency)
The main contributor was Pailets Amencas, 1n which business

wins remained strong, combined with continued expansion of RPCs
and Containers and a resihent sales result from Pallets EMEA

Recall contnbuted sales revenue of US5307 0 mithion, down 4% {3%
at constant currency), reflecting reduced levels of transactional
project actwity

Qperating profit was LI$51,011 2 million, up 8% (10% at constant
currency) Pooling Solutions contnbuted operating profit of

US$926 4 milhion, up 11% (13% at constant currency), reflecting sales
growth, operating efficiency improvements and reduced Sigmficant
Items®, all of which more than offset the impact of an 1ncrease in
business development costs of US526 rmillion, and ncreases n direct
casts, pnmanly related to the cost of lumber purchased in Pallets
Amencas

In Recall, operating profit was down 20% (18% at constant currency),
reflecting a reduction in gher margin sales from project activities
" both the Docurnent Management Solutons and Secure Destruction
Services business Lines and an increase of US510 million in costs,
pnmanly assoGated with business development

PROFIT AFTER TAX

ussM Change

Fy13 FY12 Actual Constant
FX FX

Operating profit 1,011 2 939 2 8% 10%

from continung

operations

Net finance costs (110 9) (152 0) 7% 26%

Tax expense (260 4) (2129 (Px); S ))

Profit from 07 14 (500% (57)%

discontinued

aperatons

Profit after tax 640 6 576 3 11% 14%

Weighted average 1,355 7 1,482 3 5% 5%

number of shares {M)

EPS (US cents) 41.2 89 6% 9%

OPERATING PROFIT
USSM Change
FY13 Fy12 Ac::al Con;;ant
Pallets - Amencas 414 6 346 4 20% 20%
Pallets - EMEA 268 2 269 3 - 4%
Pallets - Asia-Pacific 772 757 2% %
Total Paliets 760.0 691.4 10% 12%
RPCs 138 4 109 3 27% 30%
Containers 280 328 (15)% (12%)
Total Poofing 926 4 8335 1% 13%
Solutions
Recall 128 2 160 1 0% (18)%
Brambles HQ (43 4) (54 4) 20% 19%
Total continuing 1,011.2 939 2 8% 10%

operations

’Calculated by transiating reported perod results into US dellars at the actual
monthly exchange rates applicable n the pner corresponding period

Profit after tax was US5640 6 mithion, up 11% {14% at constant
currency), reflecting the lgher operating profit, lower net finance
costs and a igher tax expense

Net finance costs were USS110 9 milhon, down 27% (26% at constant
currency) The decreased costs were mainly attnbutable to the net
impact of lower average borrowings (reflecting the June 2012 equity
raising and gher free cash flow in FY13, which more than offset
the fundhng of the Pallecon acquisition) and \bwer average nterest
rates on bank debt

Tax expense was US$260 4 rmilion The effective tax rate on
operating prafit (after net finance costs) was 29%, compared with
27% the prior year The increase was pnmanly a result of higher
profits in the USA and igher non deductible costs

Basic earmings per share was 41 2 US cents, up 6% (9% at constant
currency), reflecting the increase in profit after tax, offset by an
ncrease n the weighted average number of shares onissue as a
result of the June 2012 equity raising

*Brambles defines Sigmificant Mems as items of income or expense that are
{either indmdually or 1n aggregate) matenal to Brambles or to the relevant
business segment and erther cutside the ordinary course of business, or part
of the ardinary actmities of the bustness but unusual In size and nature
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

UNDERLYING PROFIT"

UsSm Change

FY13 FYi2 Ac;;.(.ial ConFs)t(ant
Pallets - Amencas 419 1 3636 15% 15%
Pallets - EMEA 282 4 274 8 3% 7%
Pallets - Asia Pacific 78 8 76 6 3% 4%
Total Pallets 780 3 7150 9% 1%
RPCs 138 7 125 5 11% 13%
Containers 28 4 328 1% (10Y%
Total Pooling 947 4 8733 8% 11%
Solutions
Recall 144 2 174 2 (17)% (16)%
Brambles HQ 34 4) (37 8) 9% 7%
Total Brambles 1,057 2 1,009 7 5% 7%

Undertying Profit, whnch excludes Sigmficant ltems, was

US$1,057 2 million, up 5% (7% at constant currency) In Pooling
Solutions, tindertying Profit was up 8% (11% at constant currency}
In Recall, Underlying Profit was USS144 2 million, down 17% (16% at
constant currency) These results reflected the same trends as for
operating profit

Reconahation of Underlying Profit to Operating Profit

usSM FY13 FY12
Underlying Profit 10572 1,0097
Sigmficant Items

Acquisition related costs {4 6) (Z 8)
Restructunng & integration costs (22 0) (53 2)
Recall transaction costs 41) (21 2)
Impairment of software development costs {15 3)

Pension costs (5 8)
Foreign exchange gain on capital 125
repatnation

Total Significant ttems {46 0) (70 5)
Operating profit 1,011 2 939 2

Sigrufrcant Items were USS(46 0) million, down from

US$(70 5) million, pnmanly driven by a reduction 1n restructunng
and integration costs as well as transaction costs associated wath the
cancelled Recall divestment process The other major Siemficant
Item 1n the penod was the impawment of software development
costs previously capitalised n Recall Higher restructuning and
integration costs 1n the prior corresponding period were associated
wath the sntegration of IFCO, the move of the CHEP bead office in
North Amenica and restructunng n Recall

*Brambles defines Underlying Profit as profit fraom continuing operations
befare finance costs, tax and Significant ltems

RETURN ON CAPITAL METRICS
Return on Capital Invested"”

ussm FY13 FY12 Change
Pallets - Amencas 19 2% 17 3% 1 9pp
Pallets - EMEA 22 8% 21 5% 1 3pp
Pallets - Asia Pacific 18 8% 19 6% (0 B)pp
Total Pallets 20 4% 189% 1 5pp
RPCs 9 5% 91% 0 4pp !
Containers 8 3% 141% {5 8)pp
Total Pooling Sotutions 16 8% 16 2% 0 6pp
Recall 13 2% 158% (2 6)pp
Total Brambles 15 9% 15 7% 0.2pp

Impravements 1n Brambles’ key return on capital metncs pnmarily
reflected wnprovements 1n the Pallets segment, where there was
strong profit growth i the Amencas region and reduced Average
Capital tnvested n the EMEA region

Return on capital nvested across the Group was 15 9%, up

0 2 percentage ponts, while Brambles Value Added" (BVA) was
US$269 @ million, up USS21 3 mlhion In Pooling Solutions, return on
capital invested was 16 8%, up O & percentage points, winle BVA
increased US$48 7 milion to US$283 3 million

Ongoing operating investment in developing the Containers segment
led to the decline 1n return on capital invested and BVA

In Recall, return on capital nvested remained n excess of the cost
of capital at 13 2% and BVA remained positive at US513 3 milhion,
reflecting lower Underlying Profit

Brambles Value Added

USSM, fixed June 2012 FX FY13 FY12 Change
Pallets - Amencas 1707 126 4 44 3
Paltets - EMEA 132 2 1146 17 6
Pallets - Asia Pacific 88 276 12
Total Pallets 7 268 6 631
RPCs 361} (383 212 ‘
Containers (12 3) 43 (16 6) |
Total Pooling Solutions 283 3 234 6 487
Recall 133 411 (27 8) '
Brambles HQ (26 7) (27 1) 04
Total Brambles 269 9 248 6 213

"Return on capital nvested is Underlying Profit divided by Average Capital
Invested (which Brambles defines as a 12 month average of capital invested,
calculated as net assets before tax balances, cash and borrowings but after
adjustment for accumulated pre-tax Significant Items, actuarial gains and
losses and net equity adjustments for equity settied share based payments)

"arambles Value Added (BVA) is the value generated over and above the cost
of capital used to generate that value It is calculated using fixed 30 June
2012 exchange rates as Underlying Profit, plus Significant Items that are part
of the ordinary actvibies of the business, less Average Capital Invested,
adjusted for accumulated pre tax Sigaificant Items that are part of the
ordinary course of business, multiplied by 12%
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE ON PROPERTY,
PLANT & EQUIPMENT (ACCRUALS BASIS)

USSM FY13 FY12 Change
Pallets - Amencas 3301 2829 47 2
Pallets - EMEA 2337 2335 02
Fallets - Asia-Pacific 725 Ba 9 (12 4)
Total Pallets 636 3 601 3 5 ¢
RPCs 196 0 227 2 (31 2)
Contaners 22 48 4 (16 2)
Total Pooling Solutions 864 5 876 9 {(12.4)
Recall 620 428 192
Brambles HQ 12 4 (02)
Total Brambles 927 7 921 1 56

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment {accruals
basis) was US5927 7 rmilhion, up US$6 6 million In Pooling Solutions,
the total was L55864 5 mlhan, down USS12 4 milbion Ths
prnmanty reflected continued disciplined investment 1n pallets,
crates and containers to support growth throughout Pooling
Solutions as well as the benefits of asset eficiency programs in the
Pallets segment Maintenance capital expenditure in Pallets was
broadly in ine with FY12

Growth capital expenditure in RPCs, Contaners and emerging
markets Pallets was US55190 milhon, taking total capital expenditure
In these areas for FY12 and FY13 to US$430 mithon This was lower
than the US5550 million foreseen when the program was imtially
announced 1n August 2011, pnmanly reflecting slower growth in
RPCs and lower expenditure n Contaners as a result of the slower
than anticipated rate of customer conversion

In Recall, capital expenditure was US$62 0 milion, up

US519 2 milhon, pnmanly reflecting increased mvestment to
suppart growth programs ¢compared wath levels in FY12 that were
lower than the histoncal average

CASH FLOW

USSM Y13 FY12  Change
Underlying Profit 1,0572 14,0097 47 5

Depreciation and amortisation 5570 552 2 48

EBITDA 1,6142 1,561 9 523

Capital expenditure (905 1) (949 4) 44 3

Proceeds from sale of PP&RE 1105 935 i70

Working capital movement (248) (107 9) 831

Irrecoverable pooling equipment 101 5 100 1 14

pravision

Provisicns/other (373) (1070 697

Cash Flow from Operations 85¢ 0 5912 2678

Sigrificant Items/discontinued {43 6) (38 2) {3 4}
operations

Financing costs and tax (306 8y (373 5) 66 7

Free cash flow 508 6 1795 3291

Dwidends paid (4255) (3977) (27 8)
Free cash flow after dividends 831 (2182) 3013

Cash Flow from Qperations' increased to US$859 0 amillon, up
US$267 8 million In addition to the increased profit and reduced
capital expenditure (on a cash basis), the man contnbutors to the
improved cash flow were a reduction in provisions and other items
of US$69 7 rmilbion {driven by the non-recurrence of FY12 tigation
and software spend, as well as lower bonus payments in FY13} and
improved workang capital management Free cash flow after
dvidends was USS83 1 milbion, up US$301 3 milhion, reflecting the
higher operating cash flow and reduced interest costs

FINANCIAL REVIEW - SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

PALLETS

Sales

Sales revenue 1n the Pallets segment was US53,944 4 million, up 5%
(7% at constant currency), dnven primanly by strong growth 1n the
Amencas Net new business wins™ in the Pallets segment were
US5131 million, contnbuting constant currency sales revenue growth
of 4%

Sales revenue from the emerging imarkets regions (Asia, Central &
Eastern Europe, Latin Amenca and Middle East & Afnca) of the
Pallets segment was US5523 7 milbion, up 13 % (19% at constant
currency), n line wath the company’s forecast of at least 15%
constant currency growth

Profit

Operating profit in the Patlets segment was US5760 0 mithon,

up 10% (12¥% at constant currency) The operating profit margin
was 19%, up 1 percentage point Dunng the year, the Pailets
segment delivered an additional US$11 mallon from IFCO tegration
synergies and an additonat LISS10 mithon from the global Pallets
efficiencies program  These efficiency improvements, combined
with pncing and sales mix benefits, were mare than sufficient to
offset other cost impacts throughout the Pallets segment
Undertying Profit was tIS5780 3 mithon, up 9% {11% at

constant currency) The Underlying Profit margin was 20%,

up 1 percentage pont

""Brambles defines Cash Flaw from Operations as cash flow generated after
net capital expenditure but excluding Significant Items that are outside the
ordinary course of business

"INet new business wins are the change in sales revenue In the reporting
period resulting from business won or lost In that period and the previous
finanoal year The revenue impact of net new business wins 15 included across
reporting periods for a total of 12 months from the date of the win or less and
calcutated on a constant currency basis
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

PALLETS - AMERICAS

USSm Change

FY13  FY12 Acl_f;a' Constant
Sales revenue 2,2058 2,0413 8% 8%
Operating profit 414 6 346 4 20% 20%
Margin 19% 17% 2pp

Sigmficant items
Restructunng 45 172

Undertying Profit T491 3836 15% 15%
Margmn 19% 18% 1pp

Sales

Sales revenue 1n Pallets Amencas was US52,205 8 million, up 8%,
as a result of new business growth - led by strong growth in CHEP
USA Net new business wins throughout Pallets Amencas were
Uss77 million, contnbuting 4% constant currency sates

revenue growth

CHEP USA's sales revenue was L1551,248 5 milhion, up 7%, reflecting
the rollaver iImpact of new business won during FY12, further new
business wins in FY13, the benefits of targeted pncing imbiatives
and modest increases in like-for-like sales volumes

CHEP Canada's sales revenue was US$278 2 milhon, up 8% (9% at
constant currency), reflecting a full year’s contnbution from the
Paramount Pallet acquisition 1n November 2011, net new business
wins tn the CHEP pooled pallets business and like-for-like sales
volume growth

CHEP Latin Amenica’s sales revenue was US5256 8 nullion, up 11%
(14% at constant currency), reflecting continued hike-for-like sales
volume growth with key accounts throughout the region as well as
net new business wins, 1n particular n Mexico and Brazl, and
modest prcing Increases

IFCO Patlet Management Services’ (PMS) sales revenue was
US5400 7 million, up 9%, reflecung improvements in pnang like-for-
hike sales volume growth

LeanLogistics’ sales revenue was US$21 & million, up 14%, pnmanly
reflecting new business growth in the USA and Europe

Profit

Operating profit was LUS$414 6 million, up 20% The operating profit
margin was up 2 percentage potnts at 19% Marzin 1mprovement
reflected positive sales mix, incremental IFCO PMS integration
synergies, predormnantly from plant network optimisation, and
gains from the global Pallets efficiencies program

These factars more than offset increased drect costs (pnmanly
because of mgher lumber costs and investment 1n asset recovery)
and increased business development costs

Underlying Profit, which excludes Sigmficant Items of US54 5 mithan

on restructunng, was US5419 1 million, up 15% The Underlying
Profit margin was 19%, up 1 percentage point

PALLETS - EMEA

USSM Change
FY13  FY12 Ac;;’a' C"“Fs;a"‘
Sales revenue 1,346 8 1,326 8 2% 5%
Qperating profit 268 2 269 3 4%
Margmn 0% 20%
Sigmficant Items

Restructurning 14 2 03

Pension casts 58
Underiying Profit T4 2748 % 7%
Margm 21% 21% -

Sales

Sales revenue i Pallets EMEA was USS1,346 8 million, up 2X (5% at
constant currency), as the benefits of net new business wans in FY12
and FY13 in Europe, modest pnicing growth and continued expansion
n emerging countnes and regions more than offset flat ke for-ihe
sales growth 1n Europe as a result of ongong subdued economic
conditions Net new business wins were US$47 million, contnbuting
constant currency sales revenue growth of 4%

CHEP Western Europe sales revenue was US51,131 5 million, down
1% (up 2% n constant currency) This reflected expansion 1n the
under-penetrated Mid Europe region, In particular Germany and
Italy, whete retailer acceptance of the CHEP pallets solution 1s
ncreasing, and resilience in the UK & Ireland  This offset a flat
result in France and a further dechine reflecting economic conchtions
in lbena Within CHEP Western Europe

- Mid Europe sales revenue was US5365 8 million, up 2% (5% at
canstant currency),

- UK & Ireland sales revenue was US$359 7 million, up 3% (4% at

constant currency},

Ibena sales revenue was US5242 1 mitbon, down 6% (3% at

constant currency, and

France sales revenue was U55163 9 million, down 3% (flat at

constant currency}

CHEP Central & Eastern Europe sales revenue was US578 4 milhon,
up 44% (47% at constant currency), reflecting continued expansion n
the region, mostly i Turkey and Peland, and the entry i 2012 nto
seven new countnies within the region

CHEP Middle East & Afnica sales revenue was US$136 9 milhon,
up 1% (4% at constant currency), reflecting ike-for-like sales
growth and pnoing 1n South Africa and expansion 1n the Middle East

Profit

Operating profit was broadly unchanged at US5268 2 millten (up

4% at constant currency) The operating profit margin was flat at
20% Pnce and sales mix impraovements, as well as benefits from the
global Pallets efficiencies program, more than offset the impact of
continued nvestment 1n expanding the business m Central & Eastern
Europe and other costs

Underlying Profit, which excludes US514 2 mithion of Sigmificant
Items on restructunng, was U$$282 4 mithon, up 3% (7% at constant
currency) The Underlying Profit margn was maintained at 21%
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

PALLETS - ASIA-PACIFIC

Ussm Change
Actual Constant
FY13 FY12 X FX
Sales revenye 3918 3758 4% 3%
Operating profit 772 757 2% 3%
Margin 20%  20% -
Sigmficant Items
Restructunng 16 09
Underlytng Profit 788 766 3% 4%
Margin 20%  20% -
Sales

Sales revenue n Pallets As1a-Pacific was US$391 & milbon, up 4%
(5% at constant currency), reflecting continued expanston in Asia
and subdued econormic condhtions 1n Australia Net new business
wins were US58 mithion, contnbuting constant currency sales
revenue growth of 2%

Austraba & New Zealand sales revenue was US$340 2 milon,
up 2%, reflecting modest new business growth and prcing ncreases
n Australbia

Asia sales revenue was US551 6 million, up 25%, primanily reflecting
new business wins m Cina and Incha and improved like for-like sales
volumes with existing customers 1n Malaysia and Thailand

Profit

Operating profit was US$77 2 millon, up 2% (3% at constant
currency) The operating profit margin was flat at 20% Sales growth
more than offset the wnpact of reduced compensations (reflecting a
reduction in the level of wrecoverable pallets), an increase 1n
repaws in Austraha and bustness development costs In Asia

Undertying Profit, which excludes Sigmficant Items of USS1 6 million
on restructunng, was U5578 8 million, up 3% (4% at constant
currencty) The Underiying Profit margm was flat at 20%

RPCs
US5m Change
FY13 FYi2 Actual  Constant
FX FX
Sales revenue 8128 759S 7% 10%
Operating profit 1384 1093 27% 30%
Margin 17% 14% 3pp
Swnficant ltems
IFCQ 1ntegration - 162
Restructunng 013
Underiving Proftt 41587- 1ﬂ25.5— 1% 13%
Margin 17% 17% -
Sales

Sales revenue 1n RPCs was US$B12 8 mithon, up 7% {10% at constant
currency), reflecting growth n all regions from continued
displacement of disposable cardboard boxes, expansion into
additional produce items wath existing retailers, the addition of new
retailers to the network and the launch of new products

The sales growth was belaw the target of 15% set in August 2012 as
a result of slower than anticipated canversions of new customers in
North Amenica - although growth remained strong in this region

Europe sales revenue was US5510 9 milbon, up 4% (8% at constant
currency), pnmanly driven by expansion with existing retailers
throughout Western Europe,

North Amenca sales revenue was US$162 7 milhon, up 18%,
reflecting expansion i the USA and Canada, mostly with existing
retavers,

South Amenca sales revenue was U$$21 9 million, down 9% (up 3%
at constant currency), reflecting growth n Argentina, and

Australia, New Zealand and South Africa sales revenue was
USS117 3 muthon, up 9% {17% at constant currency), mostly
reflecting new business growth from expansion wath new and
existing retailers in Australa

Profit

Operating profit was US$138 4 milhion, up 27% (30% at constant
currency) The operating profit margin was 17%, up 3 percentage
ponts, reflecting integration costs in the pnor year

Underiving Profit, which excludes Sigmficant Items of USS0 3 miliion
on restructunng, was U$138 7 million, up 11% (13% at constant
currency) The Underiying Proht margin was 17%, the same as the
pnor year
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OPERATIONAL & FINANCIAL REVIEW - CONTINUED

CONTAINERS
USSM Change
FY13  FY12 Ac':xua! Con:)t(ant
Sales revenue 3257 2766 18% 20%
Operating profit 280 328 (15)% (12)Y%
Margin 9%  12% (3)pp
Sigmficant ltems
Restructurning & integration 04
Undertying Profit B84 328 (13F (10%
Margmn 9% 12% {3)pp

Sales

Sales revenue 1n the Containers segment was US5325 7 mithon,

up 18% (20% at constant currency), pnmanty reflecting the

U5%34 1 mithon contrbution of the Pallecon operations acquired n
December 2012 1n addition to new business wans 1n pre-existing
businesses Growth was partially offset by downward pressure n the
automotive sector, reflecting ndustry softness i Australia and, to a
lesser extent, Europe

Sates revenyue in the new Containers operations in the Automotive
and intermediate butk containers (IBC) sectars i the USA and the
global Aerospace Solutions business was US$81 5 milhon, up 42%
(41% at constant currency), behind management forecasts that sales
revenue from these businesses would double This pnmanly
reflected the slower than anticipated rate of conversion of new
customers n the automotive industry in the USA

By business line, Contaners’ sales revenue was as follows

Automotive sales revenue was U55150 2 million, down 3% (flat at
constant currency), as growth in Asia and North Amenca and a
relatively resihent result in EMEA were offset by the impact of
severely detenorating industry conditions in Australia,

CHEP Pallecon Solutions, compnsing the pre exasting CHEP [BC
business, the newly acquired Pallecon business and CAPS, had
sales revenue of US578 3 million, up 82% (85% at constant
currency), reftecting the acquisition of Pallecon and continued
growth 1n CAPS,

CHEP Aerospace Solutions sales revenue was US$59 3 million,

up 45% (44% at constant currency), reflecting new business growth
as well as a full-year contnbution from the Dnessen Services
business acquired 1n Navember 2011, and

CHEP Catalyst & Chermical Containers (CCC) sales revenue was flat
{up 1% at constant currency) at U$$37 9 milhon, reflecting
continued muted customer actvity levels

Profit

Operating profit was U55%28 0 milion, down 15% (12% at constant
currency) The operating margin was down 3 percentage points
at 9%, reflecting business development costs to support growth

Underlying Profit was US$28 4 million, which excludes Sigmificant
Items of USSQ 4 million on integration and restructunng, down 13%
(10% at constant currency) The Underlying Profit margin was 9%,
down 3 parcentage points

RECALL
USSm Change
Actual Constant
FY13 FY12 FX FX
Sales revenue 307 0 8450 (4% (3)%
Operating profit 128 2 160 1 (20)% {(18)%
Margin 16% 19% {3}pp
Sigmficant ltems
Restructuning a7 141
Impawment of software 15 3 -

development costs
Underiying Profit 144 2 174 2 (1% (16)%
Margin 18% 21% (3)pp
Sales

Recall's sales revenue was USS807 0 milhon, down 4% (3% at
constant currency) Growth in both carton volumes and retention
revenue 1n the document storage part of the business was
sufficient to offset lower transactional customer activity 1 e
Lower rates of document retneval and other projects carned out on
behalf of customers 1n Document Management Solutions, as well as
lower levels of activity in Secure Destruction Services There was
also a negative impact n the first half from lower selling prices for
destroyed paper

Profit

Operating profit was US$128 2 million, down 20% (18% at constant
currency), reflecting the reduction 1 igher-margin transactional
actwty, the narmalisation of business development costs following
lower expenditure i FY12 and a US515 3 millien ymparment of
software development costs The operating profit margin was 16%, a
reduction of 3 percentage points

Underlying Profit, which excludes US$16 0 million of Significant
Items on restructuring and the impairment of software development
costs, was US5144 2 million, down 17% (16% at constant currency}
The Underlying Profit margin was 18%, down 3 percentage paints
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STRATEGY SCORECARD

TABLE 5 STRATEGY SCORECARD

' FY13 TARGETS' FY13 ACHIEVEMENTS !
v R i
DIVERSIFICATION PALLETS
- Expanding mto mare customer
! segments, broadening the range of - Continued sales growth powered by - Continued delivery of net new business wins 1n all three Pallets '
| products and services and growing *  New business wans regions [Amencas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific) despite subdued E
! geographically - Further canstant cutrency sales econarmes \
; revenue growth of at least 15% 1n - Target comfortably acheved constant currency growth of 19% i
+
| emerging markets - Expansion into Balkan and Baltic states i Europe and Gulf States in |
! - Continued assessment of and entry the Middle East, identification of opportunity to expand into Peru '
f nto new countres and Colombia !
i - - a |
RPCs
f - Further constant currency sales - Growth of 10% was below target as rallout 1n ligh growth Narth !
. ' revenue growth of 15% American region  while strong - somewhat slower than anticipated |
f - Lane expansion with existing retail - Lane expansion with existing retail partners in all regions '
{ partners contnbuted to growth as expected l
i - - —_ - - - -
! CONTAINERS [
§ S
H '+ Daubling of combined sales revenue in - Target not achieved conversion times for new contracts in US !
| US Automotive, US IBCs and CHEP Autornotive proved slow and capital redirected towards Pallecon E
| Aerospace Solutions acquisition [
g - Continued assessment of potential - €136 mllion acqursition of IBCs provider Pallecon n December 2012
! strategic acquisibion opportunities and subsequent formation of CHEP Pallecon Solutions, combining
| ! CHEP's and Pallecon’s IBC operations 1n Europe and the Asia E
B ) Pacific !
i 3
o~ _____~ ]
: COST LEADERSHIP - Delwvery of further global operations - Additional US$10 milbian of global Pallets operations and togistics
- Delwering a low cost business and logistics efficiencies in Pallets efficrencres and US$11 milbion of IFCO integration synergies
' model that leverages Brambles’ - Improvement n aperating margmns In delivered as planned ,
global scale to create sustainable  sq3 and Central & Eastern Eurape - Profitable growth 1n Central & Eastern Europe with focus in Asia on '
competitive advantage developing business as supply chains modermise

1

t

I
i

'GO TO MARKET - Contwnued rollout of new RPC '~ Additional launches of newer praducts ncluding egg crates, banana |
i- Strengthenng brand posttion and praducts and solutions crates and meat crates throughout Eurgpe and Amencas |
" enhancing the customer - tnnovation for customers wath half ‘
EUROPE
expenence through continuously size and dhsplay patlets
improving the quality of 1ts - Market tests on plastic half-size pallet in Spain, cardboard layening
I products and senaces pallet in France and wheeled merchandising urnt 1n UK

+

! - Advanced stage with customers and suppliers in developing next-
. generation quarter pallet i Europe

I AUSTRALIA & NEW ZEALAND

- Sales revenue from fractional /display patlets and beverage trays
growing strongly

- Next generation display pallet and improved beverage trays under
development for launch 1n FY14 1n conjunction with major retailers

{NORTH AMERICA

- Continued work through customer forums to 1dentify service and
product develapment opportunities

- Increased use of pooled half pallets in Canada and ta explore
similar opportumties in the USA

1

PEOPLE & LEADERSHIP - Development of global Containers - Expansion of global Containers segment through Pallecon
- Aftracting, developing and orgamsation under new Group acquisition and continued growth in CHEP Aerospace Solutions and
retawning the nght mdvduals and President Us IBCs

teams that can enhance its
aulture and brng the required
capatality for sustainable success

'As disclosed in 2012 Annual Report Brambles Annual Report 2013 - Page 16




STRATEGY SCORECARD

ONGOING FOCUS AREAS EXECUTION RISKS MITIGATING ACTIONS

- Expansion of product and services - Relatively Mlat economic growth - Continued exploration of growth opportunities in new products,
offening wathin Pallets outlook in developed markets services, segments and geographies .

= Ongoing assessment and entryf - High levels of penetration n some - Extend service offenngs in existing markets and expand nto new
appropnate into emerging regions of Pallets operations segments and geographies
gecgraphies

- Continued expansion of RPCs by - Entrenchment of disposable solutions - Emphasis on detivery of value to exsting retail partners and
geography and product n some markets growers

- Continued targeted expansion of - Lead bime to develop opportunities n - - Ongotng exploration of organic and acqusitive growth apportunities
Contaners portfolio new pooling markets

- Analysis and assessment of asset - Requurement for shart term - Monttor raw matenal costs and mitigate as required, dnve
management performance investment to deliver long term efficency 1n other cost areas

- Focus on cost performance to capabnlity - Review and 1mprove overhead structure
drive sustainable competitive - {lobal nses in wput costs, In
advantage particular for lumber

- Increased capability in shared
services delivery

- Continued focus on innovation and - Changes to consumer behaviour and - Development of solutions to suit new retail formats and behaviour
product strategy retaling formats (e g promotional display pallets}
,- Leveraging of CHEP global scale, - Ongoing activity from new and - Build strength of global network and cost leadership position to
footpnnt, network and brand existing competitors provide best solutions for customers

- Continued emphasis on enhancing - Availability of internal canddates for - Inavgural Fast Track program for a select group of executives
and developing tatent throughout semor roles aimed at developing company leaders
the group

- Nurturing “one business” culture
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BOARD & EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DOUG DUNCAN RON EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Member of Audit Committee

Joned Brambiles as a Non-executive Director in January 2012 He 1s a Non-executive Director and member of
the Audit Commttee of JB Hunt Transport and Benchmark Electromcs Doug's career 1n the transport and
logistics industry spans over 30 years From 2001 until his retirement in 2010, he was President and Chief
Executwe Officer of FedEx Freight Pnor to that, he spent more than 20 years with the company that
ultimately became Viking Fremght, where he held semor executive roles including President & Chief Executive
Officer from 1998 to 2001, when FedEx acquired Vikang Doug holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Business
Admimistration from Chrstopher Newport University, Virgima Age 62

TONY FROGGATT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Member of Remuneration Committee and Nommations Committee

Jowed Brambles as a Non executive Dwector wi dune 2006 He 1s a Non-executive Dwrectar of Billabang
International and Coca Cola Amatit Prevtously, Tony was a Non-executive Director of AXA Asia Pacific
Holdings and was Chief Executive Officer of Scottish & Newcastte PLC from May 2003 to October 2007 He
began s career with the Gillette Company and has held a wide range of sales, marketing and general
management positions in many countnes with major consumer goods compames including HJ Heinz, Dhageo
and Seagram He holds a Bachelor of Law degree from Queen Mary College, London and a Master of Business
Admristration degree from Columbia Business School, New Yaork Age 65

TOM GORMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Chairman of Executive Leadership Team

Joined Brambles as Group President, CHEP EMEA 1n March 2008 and became Chief Executive Officer in
November 2009 Previously, Tom had a long career with the Ford Motor Company, and served as President,
Ford Australia from March 2004 until January 2008 Before joimng Ford, he worked for the Bank of Boston
Tom haolds a Bachelor of arts degree 1n Economucs & International Relations from Tufts Unwersity,
Massachusetts and a Master of Business Admimstration degree with distinction fram Harvard Business School,
Massachusetts Age 53

DAVID GOSNELL NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Member of Audit Committee

Re-joined Brambles as a Non-executive Director in December 2011 He 15 President of Global Supply &
Procurement for Diageo plc, leading a global team of 9,000 people across manufactunng, logisbics and
techmcal operations as well as managing Dhageos multr bilhon sterling procurement budget Dawid was a Non-
executive Director of Brambles from June 2006 until March 2010, when he retired due to his other
commitments at that time Prior to joimng Dhageo, David spent 20 years at HJ Heinz, where he served on the
UK board and held vanous European operaticnal positions He holds a Bachelor of Science degree 1n Electneal
& Electronic Engineenng fram Middlesex University, England Age 56

TAHIRA HASSAN NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Member of Remuneration Committee

Joined Brambles as a Non executive Cirector in December 2011 Tahira 1s based in Toronto, Canada and had a
long career wath Nestle From 2003 to 2006, she was Sentor Vice President & Head of Global Supply Chain
Based tn Switzerland, this was a new role created to lead the reshaping of Nestle’s global approach to supply
chain management Her other roles included Semor Vice President & Global Business Head for Nescafe Ready
To Orink from 2006 to 2009, and Vice President, Deputy Operations, Zone Amencas from 2001 to 2003
Previousty, Tamra held vanous leadership positions in Restle Canada including Premdent, ice Cream and
Executive Vice President, Consumer Dernand Chan and Information Services Tahira 15 a Fellow of the
Chartered institute of Management Accountants, LUK and a Certified Member of the Sooety of Management
Accountants of Canada Age &0

STEPHEN JOHNS NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Chairman of Audit Committee and member of Nominations Committee

Jained Brambles as a Non-executive Dwrector n August 2004 He 1s former Chairman and a Non executive
Director of Lesghton Holdings Limited and Spark infrastructure Group, and a former Executive and Non
executive Drector of Westfield Group Stephen had a long executve career with Westfield where he held a
number of semor positions inctuding that of Finance Drector from 1985 to 2002 He has a Bachelor of
Economics degree from the Uneversity of Sydney and 1s a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
Australia and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company Directors Age 66
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BOARD & EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM - CONTINUED

CAROLYN KAY NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Member of Audit Committee

Joined Brambles as a Non executive Director 1n June 2006 5he 1s a Non executwe Director of Commonwealth
Bank of Austrahia, Infrastructure NSW and The Sydney Institute and an External Board Member of Allens
Carolyn has more than 25 years’ experience in the finance sector and worked as an executive 1n finance at
Morgan Stantey 1n Londan and Melbourne, JP Morgan in New York and Melbourne and Linklaters & Paines in
London She holds Bachelor of Law and Arts degrees from the Umversity of Melbourne and a Graduate
Diploma 1n Management from the Australian Graduate School of Management Carolyn is a Fellow of the
Austrahian Institute of Company Directors, a member of Chief Executive Women and Women Corparate
Directors and has a Centenary Medal for services to Austrahian society 1 business leadership  Age 52

GRAHAM KRAEHE AO NON EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN (INDEPENDENT)
Charrman of Nominations Committee and member of Remuneration Committee

Re joined the Board in December 2005, was apponted Deputy Chairman in October 2007 and Chawrman 1n
February 2008 He 1s Chairman and a Non executive Director of Bluescope Steel Limited and a Director of
Djernwarrh Investments Limited Graham was a Non-executive Director of Brambles from December 2000
until March 2004, when he retired because of commitments 1n his past role as Charrman of National Austraba
Bank Limited Me has also been the Chief Executive Officer of Paciiic BBA and Southcarp Limited, a member
of the Board of the Reserve Bank of Austraha and a Non executive Director of News Corporation  Graham has
a Bachelar of Economics degree from Adelaide Uriversity He 1s an Officer of the Order of Austraia Age 70

LUXE MAYHEW NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Chairman of Remuneration Committee

Joned Brambles as a Non executive Directar 1n August 2005 Luke 15 a Non-executive Director and Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee of InterContinental Hotels Group He was a Non executive Director of

WH Smuith until August 2010, Chairman of Pets at Home Group Limted until March 2010 and Chairman of the
British Retail Consortium between 2009 and 2011 Luke was a Director of John Lewas Partnership from 1992 to
2004 He previously held semor positions at Thomas Cook, B8ntish Arways and Shandwick He has a Bachelor
of Arts {Honours) degree from Oxford University and a Master of Econommcs degree from the University of
London He 15 a Trustee of BBC Children wn Need Age 60

BRIAN SCHWARTZ AM NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (INDEPENDENT)
Member of Remuneration Committee

Jomed Brambles as a Non executive Director 1n March 2009 He 1s Chairman and a Non-executive Director of
Insurance Australia Group Limited and Deputy Charman and a Non-executive Director of Westfield Group and
Football Federation Australia In March 2009, he retired as Chief Executive Officer of bnvestec Bank (Austrabia)
Limited Having jowed Ernst & Young 1n 1979, Brian became a partner in 1985 from 1998 to 2004 he was
Chief Executive Officer of Ernst & Young Austrabia and a member of the Ernst & Young Global Executive

Board Bnan 1s a Feilow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Austraha and a Fellow of the Austraban
Institute of Company Directors He 1s a Member of the Order of Austrabia Age 60

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM (at 30 June 2013)

TOM GORMAN CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Charrman of Executive Leadership Team

Jomed Brambles as Group President, CHEP EMEA 1n March 2008 and became Chief Executive Officer in
November 2009 Previously, Tom had a long career wath the Ford Motor Company, and served as President,
Ford Australia from March 2004 until January 2008 Before joimng Ford, he worked for the Bank of Boston
Tom helds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economcs & International Relations from Tufts University,
Massachusetts and a Master of Business Administration degree with distinction from Harvard Business School,
Massachusetts Age 53

JEAN HOLLEY CHIEF iNFORMATION OFFICER

Joned Brambles in September 2011 from telecommuntcations services company Teliabs, Inc, where she was
Executive Vice President & Chief Infarmation Officer  Previously, Jean held roles including Vice President &
Chief Information Officer at building matenals group USG Corporation and semor information technology and
information systems roles at emvironmental senvices company Waste Management Inc Jean 1s also a member
of the Board of Directors for VASCO Data Secunty International, Inc She has a Master of Science degree in
Computer Science & Engineenng from the llinos Institute of Technology and a Bachelor of Science degree in
Computer Science & Electncal Engineenng from the Missoun Umiversity of Saience & Technology Age 54
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BOARD & EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM - CONTINUED

PETER MACKIE GROUP PRESIDENT, PALLETS

Became Group President, Pallets »n March 2013, having previously held the following Executive Leadership
Team positions Group President, Pallets Amencas and Group President, CHEP Asia-Pacific Previously, Peter
held the positions of Acting Group President, CHEP Europe, Middle East & Africa, President, CHEP Europe,
Semor Vice President, Customer Service, CHEP Europe, Vice President, Strategy, CHEP Europe, and Managing
Director, CHEP UK & Ireland Before joimng CHEP 1n 2001, Peter held semor roles with Boots and The BOC
Group Peter 15 a qualified chartered engineer and has a Master of Business Admimstration degree from
London Business Schoal Age 47

DOUG PERTZ GROUP PRESIDENT, RECALL

Joned Brambies as Group President, Recall, in Aprl 2013 from Bolder US Samtation Group, where he was
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Prior to that, Doug served as Chnef Executive Officer of a number of
companies, includmg Clipper Windpower, a utility-scale wind turbine manufacturer, IMC Global (now Mosarc
Company), a leading miner and producer of concentrated phosphate, potash and salt for agncultural and
industnal applications, and Culbigan ‘Water Technologies He was previously a group executive at Danaher and
held vanous international management roles with Cummins Engine Company and Caterpillar Doug hotds a
Bachelor of Mechamcal Engineering degree from Purdue Umiversity, Indiana, USA. Age 57

KARL POHLER GROUP PRESIDENT, RPCs

Became Group President, RPCs 1n October 2011, having been Chief Executtve Officer, IFCO Systems, which
Brambles acaquired W March 2011, since August 2005 Karl was an executive member and Chief Executive
Officer of the Board of Drrectors of IFCO from December 2000 Pnor to joimng [FCQ, he was Chawrman of the
Board of Management of Computer 2000 AG, and, at the same time, European President of Computer
2000/Tech Data Corp From 1997 to 1999, he served as Chief Executive QOfficer of Sony Deutschland GmbH
From 1993 to 1994, he chawred the Board of Management of Computer 2000 Ceutschland GmbH Fram 1980 to
1992, he was active in executive management functions for haital Equipment GmbH Karl will retire on 30
September 2013 Age 59

JASON RABBINO GROUP PRESIDENT, CONTAINERS

Joined Brambles i May 2012 from diversified industnal company Tyco International, where he was Seniar |
Vice President of Enterpnse Solutions Previously, Jason held a number of serior executive roles 1n Tyco's |
ADT electromic secunty solutions business, managed services company Aramark Corporation and management

consultancy McKinsey & Company Before entenng the corporate world, he was an officer and awator n the

United States Navy He has a Master of Business Admmmstration degree from the Wharton School of the

University of Pennsylvama Age 44

NICK SMITH GROUP SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, HUMAN RESOURCES

Joined Brambles i November 2007 Prewvously, he was Group Human Resources Director for Inchcape, the
international automotive retail group Pnor to this, Nick spent a number of years in the telecommunications
industry, firstly wath Brntish Telecom and then with Cable & Wareless Dunng this period, Nick spent three
years working for Cable & Wireless Optus 1n Australia, where he was Human Resources Director He has also
worked for KPMG and Macquane Bank Mick s a quabified management accountant, has a Bachelor of Science
{Econamics) degree 1n Intemational Politics and a Master of Business Admrstration degree Age 52

ZLATKO TODORCEVSKI CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Jowned Brambles as Chief Financial Officer in October 2012 Previously, Zlatko was Chief Financial Officer of
ol and gas exploration and production company Ol Search irmted Prior to that, he had a tong international
career with BHP and BHP Billiton including as Chief Financial Officer, Energy Zlatko 15 a Fellow of CPA
Austraba and Fellow of Chartered Secretanes Australia He holds a Master of Business Administration degree
and a Bachetor of Commerce degree from the Unversity of Wollengong, Austraha Age 45
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Brambles 15 a global provider of Pooling Solutions and information
management services and operates in more than 50 countnes Its
therefore subject to an extensive range of legal, regulatory and
governance requirements Brambles is committed to observing the
requirements applicable to publicly hsted compames n Australia
The Board 1s conscious that best practice in the area of corparate
governance 15 continuously evolving, and will therefore continue to
anticipate and respond to further corporate governance
developments

This Corporate Governance Statement outlines the key components
of Brambles® governance framework 1n place dunng the year ended
30 June 2013 (Year), by reference to the Australian Secunties
Exchange Corporate Governance Councl Corporate Governance
Principles & Recommendations, Second Edition (CGPR) Duning the
Year, the Board believes Brambles met or exceeded all the
requirements of the CGPR The information provided in this
Corporate Governance Statement 1s current as at 31 July 2013

A checklist summansing Brambles’ compliance with the CGPR 15
mcluded at the end of this Statement Vanous documents referred
to in this Statement have been posted n the “Corporate
Governance™ section of the Brambles website at

www brambles com The checkhist wicludes more detalled gundance
on the location of all the governance-related documents available at
www brambles com

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

1.1 ROLE OF THE BOARD AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT

1.1 1 Role of the Board and executive management

The Board has overall responsibility for overseeing the effective
management and control of the Group an behalf of Brambles’
shareholders, and supersing executive management’s conduct of
the Group's affairs within a control and authonty framework which
15 designed 1o enable nsk to be prudently and effectively assessed
and momitored

The Board has adopted a schedule of matters reserved to it for
decision, a copy of which can be found at www brambles com, and
further details of which are i section 1 1 2

The roles of the Charrman and executive management, led by the
Chief Executive Officer, are separated and clearly defined

- The Chairman, Graham Kraehe, 1s responsible for leaderstip of the
Board, setting the Board’s agenda, conducting Board meetings,
facihtating effective commumcation with shareholders and the
conduct of shareholder meetings, and

Executive management, led by the Chief Executve Officer, Tom
Gorman, has been delegated responsibility for the management
of Brambles within the control and authonty framework referred
to above The levels of authonty for management are penodically
reviewed by the Board and are decumented The Chief Executive
Officer 15 assisted by Brambles' Executive Leadership Tearn (ELT)
and the USA and Asian Adwisary Groups

The Non-executive Directors constructively challenge the
development of strategy They review the performance of
management N meeting agreed objectives and monitor the
reporting of performance They have a pnme role 1n apponting and
where necessary, recommending the removal of, Executive
Drrectors, and n their succession planmng

The structure of the Board ensures that no mdmvdual or group
of indmiduals dominates the Board's decision-making process

The ELT, a management committee, assists in implementing
Brambles’ strategic direction, and ensuring its resources are well
managed

The ELT has a range of responsibilities, which include
- Reviewing business and corporate strategies,

Formulating major policies 1n areas such as succession planning
and tatent management, human and capital resources
management, information technology, development of strategy,
nsk management, commumcations and post-investment project
reviews,

Leading tiatives which may from time to time vary, but include
Zero Harm and innovation, and

Leading the implementation of change processes

Biographical details for the members of the ELT are shown on pages
17 and 18

The function of the USA and Asian Adwisory Groups, which are
equivalent to management committees, are to assist management
to develop Brambles’ strategic direction 1n the USA and Asia
respectively, and to strengthen Brambles” stakeholder relationships
n those regions  The Chief Executive Officer 1s a member of both
Adwisory Groups The other members compnse external persons with
relevant business and industry expenence n, and senor executives
of Brambles with operating ar functional responsibility for, the
applicable region The Advisory Groups meet four times a year

1.1 2 Responsibilities of the Board

The Board 1s responsible for approving the Group’s overall strategic
objectves, facilitating the provision of appropnate financial and
human resources to meet these objectives and reviewing executive
management’s performance

The schedute of matters reserved ta the Board for approval
includes

The Group’s overall strategic direction and strategic plans for its
major business umts,

Acquisitions or chsposals of assets which exceed the authority
limits delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer,

Budgets, financial objectives and poticies, and sigmificant capital
expenditure,

Brambles' financial statements and published reports,

The Group's systems of nternal control and nsk management
processes, and the annual review of thewr effectiveness,

Changes to the Group's capital structure (other than changes
resulting from established employee share plans),

- The appointment of key semor executives,
- The Group’s Diwversity Policy, and
- The Board skills matrix

The Board has delegated some of 1ts functions to the Audit,
Neminations and Remuneration committees, although overall
responsibility for those functions remains with the Board The
charters of the Board cammittees also require certain matters to be
approved by the Board including, among other matters, the
executive remuneration policy and the appointment of the external
auditors Details of the Board committees are set out 1n sections

2 4, 41 and 8 1 and the committee charters can be found at

www brambles com From time to time, the Board establishes
special committees to consider and approve specific matters The
Board 15 also supported by the ELT (see section 11 1)

1 1.3 Altocation of ndividual responsibilities

Formal letters of appointment, which are contracts for serwice but
not contracts of employment, have been put in place for all
Non-executive Directors The letters set out the key terms and
conditions of thewr engagement, including ttme commitments,
corporate expectations and, if appropnate, any special duties or
assignments A template letter of appointment for a Non executive
Drector 1s available at www brambles com
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT - CONTINUED

Senior execubives have employment contracts setting out, amongst
ather things, thewr term of office, nghts, responsibiities and
entittements on terrination, and Job descnptions setting out their
duties

1 2 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF SENIOR EXECUTIVES
Brambles has a well-established performance management and
development planring process, which 1s used throughout the Group
The process involves objective setting consistent with Brambles’
remuneration policy and targets for cash and equity-based incentive
plans set by the Remuneration Committee Personal development
planmng, half year reviews and full year appraisals feed into a
performance rating, leading to the assessment of annual bonuses
Semor executives (incluching Executive Directors and the ELT) all
participate in this process, which 1s overseen by the Remuneratian
Committee

Performance evaluations for senior executives, including the Chief
Executive Officer and the ELT, were carried out dunng the Year in
accordance with tins process

1 2.1 Induction of senior executives

Business umts have procedures for the induction of semor
executives, to assist them n participating fully and actively in
management decision making at the eartiest opportunity after
commencing their new roles

PRINCIPLE 2 STRUCTURE THE BOARD
TO ADD YALUE

At the date of the Directors' Report, the Board corsists of ten
members, wath one Executive Director (the Chnef Executive Officer)
and mne Non executive Directors The former Chief Financal
Officer, Greg Hayes, retired as an Executwe Director an 1 Octaber
2012 The biographtes for each of the current Directors, shown on
pages 16 and 17, indicate the breadth of their business, financial
and international expentence This gives the Directors the range of
skills, knowledge and expenence essential to govern Brambles,
including an understanding of the health, safety, environmental and
communmty related 1ssues which it faces The Board considers that
1ts current composition reflects an appropnate balance of Executive
and Non-executive Directors

The table below sets out the names of the Directors in office at the
date of the Directors' Repart, the years of their appontment and,
where applicable, thetr most recent election by shareholders, their
status as Executive or Non execunive Directors, whether they will

retire and seek election or re election at the 2013 Anual General
Meetmg (AGM), and when they are next due for re election

2 1 INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

2.1 1 Independent decision-making

The Board recogruses the ymportance of independent judgernent
and constructive debate on all 1ssues under consideration With
the approval of the Chairman, Directors may take wndependent
professional advice at Brambles' expense in the furtherance of
discharging thew dutes and responsibilities Nane of the Dwrectors
availed themselves of this nght during the Year

The Chawrman hotds meetings wath the Non executive Directors from
time to time, including meetings at scheduled sessions, without the
presence of the Executive Bnrectars ar gther executwves The

Non executive Directors meet without the Chairman present on such
occasions as they considered appropriate

2.1.2 Independent Directors

The Board has considered the independence of each of the Directors
n office as at the date of the Directors’ Repart and concluded that
all Non-executive Drrectors are independent Therefore the Board
has a majonty of \ndependent Directors In reaching this conclusion,
the Board had regard to the relationships set out 1n Box 2 1 of the
CGPR and noted that one of these relationships exists

Carolyn Kay 1s a director of the Commonwealth Bank of Australia
(CBA), which, at vanous times dunng the Year, was a substanttal
shareholder of Brambles The Beard noted that, except for
2,446,655 shares {being 0 157% of Brambles’ 1ssued share capital at
the date of this Statement), CBA's relevant interests in Brambles
shares are exercised either as a superannuation trustee, a hfe
company holding statutory funds, a responsible entity or manager of
a managed investment scheme, under an investment mandate, by
external managers unrelated to the CBA group, or subject to client
direction The Board does not consider that Carolyn Kay's
relationshup with CBA ives nse to any actual or percetved loss of
ndependence on her part because of the manner in which CBA's
relevant interests 1n Brambles shares are held

In considening the matters in Box 2 1 of the CGPR, the Board
considered that a customer was matenal if it accounted for more
than 2% of Brambles® consolidated gross revenue and that a supplhier
was material f Brambles accounted for more than 2% of the
suppler’s consolidated gross revenue

Year Year last Executive or Seekirng re-electfon in Next due for

Name appointed’ elected Non-executive Independent 2013? re-glection?
D G Duncan 2012 2012 Non executive Yes No 2014
A G Froggatt 2006 201 Non executive Yes Yes 2013
T J Gorman 2009 2010 Executive Ho No N/AY
D P Gosnell 2011* 2012 Non executive Yes Yes 2013
T Hassan 2011 2012 Non executive Yes No 2014
S P Johns 2004 2012 Non executive Yes No 2014
S CH Kay 2006 2012 Non executive Yes No 2015
G J Kraehe A0 2005° 2012 Non executive Yes No 2015
C L Mayhew 2005 2010 Non executive Yes Yes 013
B M Schwartz AM 2009 2012 Non executive Yes No 2015

* Far the purposes of this table, the year appointed {5 the year the relevant Director was first elected ta the Boards of Brambles or BIL and BIP, as the case may be
2 See section 2 4 5 for an explanation of the determination of the years when Non executive Directors are due for re election

? Following an amendment to Brambles' constitution which was approved by shareholders at the 2010 AGM, it 1s no longer necessary for the managing director of
Brambles to stand for re election Tom Gorman holds the role of managing director, but is referred to by the title of Chief Executive Officer

* David Gosnell also served as a Director from 2006 to 2010, and re Joined the Board in 2011
% Graham Kraehe also served as a Directer from 2000 to 2004 and re joined the Board 1n 2005
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2 1 3 Regular assessments

Directors are required to complete a declaration of interest form
prar to ther appointment This form is tabled at the Board meeting
to consider the appeintment of the relevant Director If their
arcumstances change or they acquire any office, property or
interest which may conflict with thewr office as a Director of
Brarnbles or the interests of Brambles, Directors are required ta
disclose 1ts character and extent i wnting at the next Board
meeting The Board also makes an annual assessment of the
independence of each Non executive Director  If the Board
concludes that a Director has lost ther status as an independent
director, that conclusion witl be advised to the market \n a imely
manner

Directors are generally not entitled to attend any part of a Board
meeting, or ta vote on any matter, in which they have a materal
personal interest unless the other Directors unammously decide
otherwise In appropnate cases, Directors may be required to
absent themselves from a meeting of the Board while such a matter
1s being considered

2 2 INDEPENDENT CHAIRMAN

The Board has concluded that the Chairman 1s independent and that
tis other positions do not prevent im from devoting sufficient time
to perform the role effectively As the Chairman 1s 1ndependent,
the Board does not consider 1t necessary to appont a lead
independent Director

The Chairman 15 responstble for facilitating the effective
contnbution of Non executive Directors, who are to recewve
accurate, hmely and clear information so that they may effectively
discharge their duties and responsibilities The Chairman 15 also
responsible for fostenng constructive relatwons between Executive
and Non executive Directors

2 3 ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are exeraised by
two different individuals and are clearly documented, as discussed
tn section 1 1 1 of this Statement The Chairman does not have a
history of employment with Brambles

2 4 NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE

2 4 1. Purpose of the Nominations Committee

The objective of the Nominations Commuttee 1s to support and
adwise the Board 1n fulfilling its responsibibibies to shareholders in
ensunng that the Board 15 compnsed of individuals who are best
able to discharge the responsibilities of Directors

2 4.2, Charter
A copy of the Nominabans Committee’s Charter giving full details of
1ts duties and responstbilities can be found at www brambles com

The Nonminations Committee’s Charter also sets out 1ts composition,
structure, membership requirements and the procedures for inviting
non-members to attend meetings The Commuttee 15 authonsed ta
seek any information 1t requires from any Group employee or from
any other source, including abtaining outside legal or other
ndependent professional advice

2 4.3. Composition of the Nominations Committee

The Normnations Committee 1s compnised entirely of Non executive
Drectors, all of whom the Board considers to be independent

The members of the Nominations Committee are Graham Kraehe
(Committee Chawrman), Stephen Johns and Tony Froggatt

Detatls of Nominatons Committee meetings held dunng the Year,

and attendance at those meetings, 1s set out in the Directors’
Repart - Other Information on page 51

2.4 4 Responsibilities
The Nominations Committee discharges its responsibibties by
meeting regularly throughout the year and, among other matters

- Assessing penadically the Board skills matnx to deterrmne that it
includes the skills required to discharge competently the Board's
duties, having regard to the strategic direction of the Group, and
makmng recommendations to the Board on any changes which
should be made to that matnx,

Hawving regard to the Board skills matnx, assessing the skills
currently represented on the Board to determne whether those
current skills meet the reguired sklls \dentyfied,

Reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the mix
of skills, expenence, expertise and diversity having regard to the
Board skills matnix) of the Board and the effectiveness of the
Board as a whole, and keeping under review the leadership needs
of Brambles, both executive and non executive, with a view to
ensurng the continued ability of Brambles to compete effectively
n the marketplace,

Prepaning a descnption of the role, capabibties and skills required

for any Board appointment (Role Specification), identifying

suitable candidates to filt Board vacancies, and nomnating

candidates for the approval of the Board,

In dentifying suitable candidates for a Board appantment, 1f

necessary, causing

> A search to be undertaken by an appropnately qualified
independent third party acting on a bnef prepared by the
Nomnations Committee, which includes the Role Specification,

> The search to be nternational, extending to those countnes in
which candidates with the necessary skills would ordinanly
be expected to be found, and

> The pool of candidates to include qualified persons wha would
fill an exasting diversity gap having regard to the Board skills
matrx, Brambies’ Diversity Policy (see section 3 2) and the
dversity objectives adopted by the Board from time to time,

Ensunng that, on appointment, Non executive Directors receive
a formal letter of appointment, setting out the time commitment
and responsibilities envisaged n the appointment,

On any re-appointrnent of a Non executive Dhrector on the
conclusion of their specified term of office, undertaking a process
of review of the retinng Non executive Director's performance
dunng the penod fram their appointment or most recent
re-appontment, as the case may be, to the Board,

Reviewing annually the time commitment required of
Non-executive Directors and carrying out performance evaluations
to assess whether the Non executive Directors are devoting
enough time to fulfilling their duties, and

Gwving full consideration to whether succession plans are n place
to maintain an appropriate mix of skills, expenence, expertise
and diversity on the Board, and satisfying self that processes and
plans are 1n place n relation to both Board (particularly for the
key roles of Chawrman and Chief Executive Officer) and other
semor executive appointments

2 4 5, Selection and appointment process and re-election
of Directors

The Board 1s conscious of the need to ensure that proper processes
are in place to deal with succession 155ues at Board level As set out
in section 2 4 4 , the Nominations Committee assists the Board n
the Board selection process, which involves the use of a Board skills
matnx

The Nominations Committee has adopted a Board skills matnx The
matrix incorporates the following elements function (finance,
accounting, operations}, intemational management {(Amencas,
Europe, Asia), industry (togistics, retail, fast moving cansumer
goods), diversity (male/female, international residency,
reqional/cultural background), and customer perspectives in
adopting the matnx, the Nominations Committee noted that it was
an iterative decument and would be reviewed and revised from time
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to ime to meet Brambles’ ongoing needs Duning the Year, the
Hominations Commitiee carned out a review of the Board skills
matrx and determined that no changes to 1t were required

With the appointment of three new Directors (Doug Duncan, David
Gosnell and Talira Hassan) to the Board during the 2012 Year, the
Board considers that, having regard to the Board skalls matnix, the
current composition of the Board 1s an appropnate balance of skills
and expenence Notwithstandng this, the Nominations Committee
has deterrmned 1t would be desirable to appoint, at an appropnate
time, an additional Non-executive Dhrector with an intermational
retail background

Each Non-executive Drector recerves a Non-executive Director’s
formal letter of appointment (see section 1 1 3 ) which sets out,
among ather things, the time commitment required and speaifies
that the Director should consult with the Chairman before accepting
any additional commitments which may impact on their role Any
Non-executive Directers who are standing for election or re-etection
at the next AGM are asked to consider their other sigrificant
commitments and specifically acknowledge to Brambles that they
will have sufficient ime to meet what 1s expected of them as
Directors of Brambles Detanls of the number of Board and
committee meetings beld dunng the Year, including attendance at
those meetings by each of the Directors and comnmttee members,
are set out 1n the Directors’ Repert - Other Information on page 51

Directors are apponted for an unspecified term, but are subject to
election by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
mnal appontment by the Board Mo Director {other than the Chief
Executive Officer) may serve for more than three years without
being re-elected by shareholders Re-appointment 15 not automatic
The Board reviews whether retinng Directors should stand for re
election, having regard to thew performance and the contabution of
their indwidual skitls and experience to the desired overall
composition of the Board and the Board’s skills matrix

At the 2012 AGM, seven Non-executive Directors were elected or re-
elected ta the Board As a result, they would all be eligble to stand
far re election at the 2015 AGM Te enable a more even number of
Noen-executive Directors to be eligible to stand for re-election at the
next three AGMs, the Board decided that the year in which they
would be eligible to stand for re-election would be determined by
lot The result of that lot, and the order in which Non-executive
Directors will be eligible to stand for re-election, are set out 1n the
table 1n Sectton 2 1 2 on page 20

The Non-executive Directors’ formal letters of appointment confirm
that the Non-executive Directors have no nght to compensation on
the termination of their appointment for any reason, other than for
unpaid fees and expenses for the penod actually served

2 5 PROCESS FOR EVALUATING THE PERFORMANCE OF THE
BOARD, ITS COMMITTEES AND DIRECTORS

The Board and 1ts committees carry out both internal and externat
evaluaticns, with the form of evaluation being deterrmned each
year Far the Year, the Board undertaok an wnternal evaluation of its
performance as a whaole and the performance of each of its
committees

The rewiew involved the completion of a detalled questionnaire by
each of the Directors and selected Brambles executives and Baard
adwisors on matters relevant 1o the Board and Committees’
performance

The outcomes of the questionnaires were callated and the results
were reported to the Board and each Comemuttee by
PncewaterhouseCoopers These findings were reviewed and
discussed by the Board and Commttees, and key 1ssues ansing from
the evaluations were 1dentified for further action

Annternal evaluation of the performance of each Non-executive
Director, inctuding those standing for re electhon at the 2013 AGM,
was also conducted The Chairman reviewed the results of the
performance evaluations wath each Director, and reported on the

results of those evaluations The Board unammously resolved to
recomnend each Hon-executwve Director's re electon The
Chairman of the Audit Committee reviewed the results of the
Chainman’s performance evaluation with him and the Board

Details of those Directors standing for re-election, are set out in the
table w sechion 2 1 2 on page 20

2 5 1 induction and education

Newly appointed Directors receive apprepnate induction and
training, specifically tailored to ther needs Appointees are
provided with an information pack including goevernance policies and
business infarmation, taken to visit operating sites and receve
presentations on Brambles® businesses and functions by 1ts business
unt leaders and functional heads

On an ongoing basis, Directors participate 1n vanous semmnars and
conferences held by industry and professional bodes In addition,
Board meetings regularly include sessions on recent developments
N governance and corporate matters, sigmficant accounting
matters, operational site visits and meetings with local staff and
major customers

2 5,2 Access to information

The Board recewves accurate, timely and clear information so that it
may effectively discharge its duties and responsibilities Where
necessary, Directors seek clanfication or request the provision of
further rnformation to assist with their decision making processes,
The Beard commttee charters document the committees’
unrestricted nghts to seek information from any Group employee or
from any other source Presentations to the Board are frequently
made by senior executives

2 5 3 The Board and the Company Secretary

The Board 15 assisted by the Company Secretary who, under the
direction of the Chairman, 1s responsible for facilitating good
nformation flows within the Board and 1ts committees and between
senor executives and Non-executive Directors, as well as the
nduction of new Directors and the ongoing professional
development of all Directors The Company Secretary 1s responsible
for monitoning compliance with the Board's procedures and for
adwising the Board, through the Chairman, on all governance
matters All Birectors have access to the adwvice and services of the
Cornpany Secretary, whose appointment and removal 15 a matter for
the Board

The Company Secretary 1s Robert Gerrard His qualifications and
expenence are set out on page 51

PRINCIPLE 3. PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE
DECISION-MAKING

3 1 ESTABLISH A CODE QOF CONDUCT

Brambles has a Code of Conduct, which prowvides an ethncal and legal
framework for all emplayees 1n the conduct of Brambles® business
Brambles’ Code of Coanduct includes the followang schedules

- Corporate Social Responsibility Policy,

- Speaking Up Policy,

- Continuous Disclosure & Commumcations Policy,

- Group Guidelines for Sencus Inaident Reportng,

- Ervironmental Policy,

- Competition Comphance Policy,

- Health & Safety Policy,

- Diversity Policy,

- Secur1bes Trading Policy,

- Risk Management,

- Guidelines for Document Management, and

- Socal Media Policy
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A Supplier Policy was developed dunng the Year and formally
adopted subsequent to the end of the Year and will be added to the
Code of Conduct dunng FY14

The policies Listed above set out the reporting responsibilities of
specified indmduals, or in some cases, all employees The Audit
Commuttee 15 responstble for monitenng compliance with the
Speaking Up Policy At each meeting, the Audit Committee receives
a report on investigations inte any matters raised under that policy
relating to financial control 1ssues A report on all matters raised
under the Speaking Up Policy 15 provided to the Board at each of 1ts
meetings A copy of the Code of Conduct 15 available on

www brambles com

3 1.1 Purpose of the Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct defines how Brambles relates toits
shareholders, employees, customers, supphers and the commumties
n winch 1t operates It includes Brambles® general pnnciples on
business integnty All employees are expected to conduct business
n accordance with the laws and regulations of the countnes in
which the business 15 located, and in a manner so as to enhance the
reputation of Brambles

3 1.2 Apphcation of the Code of Conduct

The Code of Conduct has been translated into 20 languages This
means that all Brambles' employees can read the Code n therr first
language The Code of Conduct can also be used to form part of
employees’ terms and conditions of emptoyment Non executive
Directors are required to agree to comply with the Code of Conduct
and to acknowledge that their performarce assessments will include
an element on conforrmity with the Code

The Code of Conduct 1s not intended to be all-encompassing There
are areas n which Brambles expects its businesses to develop
detaled poliaies 1n accordance with local requirements The Code
of Conduct provides a set of guiding prinaiples that may be
supplemented with additional local palicies [t provides a cormmon
behavioural framework

Brambles implements the Code of Conduct through a vanety of
induction and training programs Dunng the Year, ongotng traimng
took place with the aim of enhancing employees’ compliance with
certain of the polictes under the Code

The Code of Conduct requires Brambles’ contractors to adhere to
Brambles’ health and safety, environmental and senous incident
reparting standards and requires consultants or professional advisers
who are engaged to undertake work for the Group to comply with
the Continuous Misclosure & Commumcations Pehicy

3 2 ESTABLISH A DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy whnch forms part of
Brambles Code of Conduct {Previously, many aspects of the
Dwversity Policy were covered under the Group's employment and
equal opportumty policies } When adopting the policy, the Board
betieved that 1t should deal with diversity across a range of 1ssues
and not be solely himited to gender

Brambles’ vision statement for diversity, set out 1n the policy, 15

- Brambles 15 committed to creating and mantaiwng a culture
which delivers cutstanding performance and results

- Dwersity 15 essential to Brambles’ tong term success Brambles
values and fosters diversity because 1t allows

> Customers’ needs, both today and in the future, to be
recogmsed and addressed,

> All employees to feel valued and able to perform to their best,
and

> Brambles to have access to the widest possible talent pool
The Dwversity Policy prevides, amongst other things, that

- Brambles 1s commtted to selecting, recruiting, developing and
supporting peopte sclely on the basis of their professional

capability and qualifications, irrespective of gender, ethmaity,
nationality, class, colour, age, sexual \dentity, disability, rehgion,
mantal status or pobtical opiman,

Brambles selects, retans and develops the best people for the job
on the basis of ment and job related competencies  without
discnmination, !

Where appropnate, Brambles will engage external agencies to
assist 1t 11 the idenbification, selection and assessment of
candidates,

Brambles will continue to devetop talent management programs
such as

> Development programs for senior executives,
» Development programs for next generation leaders, and

> Mentonng programs, and
- On an annual basis, the Board will review and report on the

> Relative praportion of women and men in the warkforce at all
levels,

> Statistics and trends in the age, nationality and professional
backgrounds of Brambles’ executwe population,

> Measurable objectives for achieving gender and nationality
diversity, and )

> Progress towards achieving those objectives

3 3 GENDER DIVERSITY OBJECTIVES
The schedule of matters reserved to the Board was amended 1n 2011
to add the following Board responsibilities

- Deternmmng measurable objectives for achieving gender dwersity
and annually assessing both the objectves and the progress
towards achieving them

- Annually review and report on the relative proportion of women .
and men 1 the workforce at atl levels of the Group }

Brambles had previously commtted to establishing diversity targets
during 2011 1n 1ts 2010 Sustainabiity Report In considening the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity, the Company
considered a number of areas that 1t believed were important to
both demonstrate and achieve a dverse workforce These included

Natignality - Brambles believes that it 1s essential that 1ts

employees represent the communities 1n which they operate The

Company atready has a high representation of different |
nationalities n 1ts employee population The general managers ,
and executive teams n each of the countnes in which Brambles

operates are made up almost entirely of people of that

nationality Brambles momtors this through its bi-annual talent

rmanagement process with a iew to continuing the process and

expanding the access of diffenng nationalities to 1ts globat

operations

Professional background Brambles also believes that its
employees should be able to relate to the Company’s customers
It therefore recruits extensively from the sectors in which it
operates, to ensure that the Company has the nght blend of skills
and expenience This aspect of diversity 15 also momtored through
the b1 annual talent management process

Gender - Brambles believes that 1ts executive population should
reflect the averall balance of employees in 1ts orgamsation This 15
the best measure for Brambles, as 1t has a large proportion of
employment activities 1n heavy manual duties, and therefore an
overall workforce that 1s predorminantly male

As at 31 July 2013, women compnse 20% of 1ts Board and 25% of its
management {which 15 defined as the manager, director, vice
president and semor vice president grades} In calculating these
percentages, Brambles included each permanent employee on the
payroli, but excluded casual employees and contractors

Duning 2011, Brambles adopted a measurable objective for women
to represent 30% of 1ts Board and across the ELT and management
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positions by 30 June 2015 At the time these targets were set, the
integration into the Group aof the recently acquired IFCQ, Paramount
Pallets and the CHEP Aercspace businesses was taking place and a
complete analysis of the gender diversity within those businesses
had not yet occurred It has since become apparent that Brambles
will need additronal time to meet the targets setin 2011 As a
result, dunng the 2012 Year the measurable objective of having
women represent 30% of 1ts management positions has been revised
to 30 June 2018 The abjective of having women represent 30% of
Board and ELT positions by 30 June 2015 remains unchanged

3 4 GENDER DIVERSITY REPORTING

Each year, Brambles will publish the composition of its executive
poputation by grade aganst this target, showing progress year on
year The position at 31 July 201315 as follows

2018 % Females at % Females at
Objective® 31 July 2013” 30 June 2012’

Board 30% 20 0% 18 2%
Executive

Leadership Team 0% 12 5% 1 1%
Semor Vice

President 30% 15 6% 21 B%
Vice President 30% 11 7% 10 7%
Chrector 30% 21 3% 21 8%
Manager 30% 16 B% 28 3%

Further information on diversity 15 included in the Diversity & Inclusion section
of the Sustamabitity Review, which will be availabie at www brambles com
from the end September 2013

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL
REPORTING

4 1 ESTABLISH AN AUDIT COMMITTEE
Brambles confirms that, 1n accordance with ASX Listing Rute 12 7,
1t has had an Audit Committee throughout the Year

4 1.1. Purpose of the Audit Committee

The objective and purpose of the Audit Committee 1s to assist the
Board 1n fulfilhing 1ts corporate governance and oversight
responsibliies by

- Momtoning and reviewing
> The wntegnty of financial statements,
» Internal financial controls,
» The abjectmity and effectiveness of the internal auditors, and

> The independence, objectmity and effectiveness of the extemal
auditors,

Malang recommendations to the Board in relation to the
appotntment or removal of the external auditors, the approval of
thewr remuneration and the terms of their engagement, inctuding
the rotation of external audit engagement partners,

Assessing whether the Committee 1s satishied that the
wdependence of the external auditors has been maintained,
having regard to any non audit related services,

Reviewing and momtoning the policy on the engagement of the
external auditors to supply non audit services (set out in the
Charter of Audit Independence, a copy of which can be found

,

© The objectve of having women represent 30% of Board and ELT positions by
30 June 2015 remains unchanged

? The percentages for semor vice president, vice president, director and
manager exclude the employees of IFCO RPCs and Paramount Pallets which,
as recent acquisitions, have not yet completed the banding classificahion
process into senior vice president, vice president, director and manager
categones

at www brambles com), taking into account relevant legal and
ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit services by
the external auditors, and

- Reporting to the Board, 1dentifying any matters relating to the
above i respect of which it cansiders that action or improvement
1s needed and making recommendations as to the steps to be
taken

4 2 STRUCTURE GF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

4.2 1 Camposition of the Audht Committee
The Audit Committee has four members and 1s chaired by Stephen
Johns, an independent Director

4,2 2 Importance of independence
The Audit Committee 1s comprised entirely of Non-executive
Directars, all of whom the Board considers to be independent

4 2 3 Techmcal expertise

The Board considers that each of the members of the Audit
Commuttee has recent and relevant finanoial and accounting
expenence and an understanding of accounting and financial 1ssues
relevant to Brambles

The members of the Audit Commttee as at 31 July 2013, including
detanls of therr retevant qualifications, are as follows

- Stephen Johns had a leng executive career with Westfield where
he held a number of semor positions including that of Finance
Director from 1985 to 2002 He 1s the former Chairman of Leighton
Holdings Lvmited and Spark Infrastructure Group and a former
Executive and Non-executive Director of the Westfield Group He
has a Bachelor of Economics degree from the Umversity of Sydney
and 15 a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 1n
Austrabia and a Fellow of the Austrahan Institute of Company
Drrectars

- Doug Duncan 1s a Non-executive Director and a member of the
Aucht Committee of JB Hunt Transport and Benchmark Electromcs
From 2001 unbl s retirernent 1n 2010, Doug was President and
CEO of FedEx Freight and pror to that he spent more than 20
years wath the company that ultmately became Vilkng Freight,
where he held sentor executrve roles including President & CEO
from 1598 to 2001, when FedEx acquired Viking Doug holds a
Bachelor of Science degree in Business Admimstration from
Chnstopher Newport University, Virgima

- David Gosnell 15 President of Global Supply & Procurement for
Drageo ple, leading a globa! team of 9,000 people across
manufactuning, logistics and technical operations as well as
managing Diageo s multi-tillion sterling procurement budget
Oawd was a Non-executive Director of Brambles from June 2006
until March 2010, when he retwed due to tus other cammitments
at that time Prior to joining Diageo, Dawvid spent 20 years at
HJ Heanz where he served on the UK board and held vanous
European aperational positions He holds a Bachelor of Science
degree n Electncal and Electromc Engineenng from Middlesex
University, England

- Carolyn Kay 15 a Non executive Director and a member of the
Audit Commuttee of Commonwealth Bank of Australia,
Infrastructure NSW and an External Board Member of Allens She
has more than 25 years’ expenence in the finance sector and
warked as an executwe 1n finance at Morgan Stantey in London
and Melbourne, JP Morgan n New York and Melbourne and as a
finance lawyer at Linklaters & Paines 1n London Carolyn holds
Bachelor degrees in Law and Arts from the Umversity of Melbourme
and a Graduate Diploma in Management from the Austrahian
Graduate School of Management She 1s a Feltow of the Australian
Institute of Company Drectors

Stephen Johns, Doug Duncan, Dawvid Gosnell, Tony Froggatt and
Carolyn Kay, independent Non-executve Directors, were members
of the Audit Commttee throughaut the Year Tony Froggatt retured
as a member of the Audit Committee with effect from 1 July 2013
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due to his appointment to the Remuneration Commttee on the
same date

4 3 AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

4 31 Charter

The Audit Committee has a Charter whnch includes 1ts duties and
responsibilities, composition, structure, membership requirements,
authonty, access nghts and sets out a procedure for inviting

non members to attend its meetings The Charter requires the Audit
Committee to meet wath internal and external auditors at least once
a year without executive management being present A copy of the
Audit Committee’s Charter, which 15 reviewed annually, can be
found at www brambles com

4.3.2 Responsibilities
The Audit Committee discharges its responsibilities by meeting
regularly throughout the year and, among other matters

- Reviewing, and challenqing where necessary, the actions and
judgment of management n relation to full year and half year
financial reports and other announcements relating to those
reports prepared for release to the ASX, regulators and the public,
before making appropnate recommendations to the Board,

- Reviewing the audit plans of the internal auchtors, including the
scope and matenality level of their audits, momtoring comphance
with, and the effectiveness of, the audit plans of the internal
audstors, reviewang reports from the internal auditors on their
audit findings, management responses and action plans 1 relatron
to thase findings, and reports from the nternat auditors on the
implementation of those action plans, and facilitating an open
avenue of commumcation between the intemal auditors, the
external auditors and the Board,

Reviewing the audit plans of the external auditors, including the
nature, scope, matenality level and procedures of their audits,
momtaring comphiance with, and the quality and effectiveness of,
the audit plans of the external auditors, and reviewang reports
from the external auditors in relation to their major audit
findings, management respenses and action plans n relation to
thase findings, and reports from the external auditors on the
implementation of those action plans, and

Reviewing and recommending to the Board the fees payable to the
external auditors, mamtonng comphiance with the Charter of
Audit Independence and pre approving the perfarmance by the
external audrtors of any non audit related work and any proposed
fees to be paid to the external auditars for that work, for wiich
1ts approval 1s required by the Charter of Audit Independence The
Charter drnades non-audit work into three categones work which
must be approved by the Chief financial Officer (1f fees will fall
below specified limits), work which must be approved by the Audit
Committee, and work which s prohitnted Pnor consultation with,
and approval of the Chief Financial Officer or Audht Committee,

as prescribed by the Charter, 15 required whenever management
recommends that the extemal auditors undertake non audit

work Internal accounting, valuation services, actuanal serices
and internal audit services must not be performed by the

external auditors

The Audit Committee 15 also responsible for momtonng the Brambles
Speaking Up Palicy, that 1t »s commumcated properly and complied
with throughout Brambles, and for momtoring that appropriate
protection aganst victimisation and disamssal 1s given to Brambles
employees who make certain disclosures n the public interest

4 3 3. Meetings

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held dunng the
Year, and attendance at those meetings, are set out in the
Dhrectors’ Report - Other Information on page 51 Audit Committee
papers are prowvided to all Directers and minutes of meetings are
cluded n the papers for subsequent Board meetings There 15 also

an open 1nvitation for all Directors to attend Audit Committee
meetings Directors who are not members of the Audit Committee
regularly attend its meetings From the 2012 financial year, all
Directors are required to attend the Audit Committee meetings at
which the half and full year financial statements are considered

4 3 4 Reporting

The Chairman of the Audit Committee reports to the Board on the
Committee's proceedings and on all matters relevant to the
Committee’s duties and responsibilities

4 4 EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PncewaterhouseCoopers has been engaged by the Board to act as
external auditors to Brambles since the 2002 financial year Under
the terms of engagement, the Australian audit engagement partners
rotate every five years Paul Bendall was appointed as lead audit
engagement partner 1 the 2012 financal year

The Audit Commttee 15 resporsible for makang recommendations to
the Board on the selection, appaintment, evaluation and removal of
external auditars, setting fees and ensunng that the externat
auditors’ engagement partners are rotated at appropriate intervals

PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED
DISCLOSURE

5 1 ESTABLISH A CONTINUOUS DISCLOSURE POLICY
Brambles 1s committed to the promotion of investor confidence by
taking all steps wathin its power to ensure that trading in its
secunties occurs 1n an efficient and informed market Brambles
recognises the :importance of effective commumcation as a key part
of building shareholder vatue, and that te prosper and grow, 1t must
earn the trust of shareholders, employees, customers, supphers and
commumties, by bewg apen in 1ts communications and consistently
delivenng on Its commitments

The Beard has adopted a Continuous Disclosure & Commumcations

Policy to

- Reinforce Brambles’ commitment to the continuous disclosure
obligations imposed by law and to descnbe the processes
Brambles implements to ensure comphiance,

Outline Brambles’ corporate governance standards and related
processes and ensure that timely and accurate information about
Brambles 1s provided equally to all shareholders and market
participants, and

- Outline Brambles’ comrmtment to commumicating effectwvely
with shareholders and encouraging shareholder participation
1n shareholder meetings

To achieve the above objectives and satisfy regulatory
requirements, the Board prowvides information to shareholders and
other market participants in several ways

Brambles releases sigmficant announcements directly wia the ASX
and immedately places copies on www brambles com,

Brambles conducts investor and analyst bnefings as a part of 1ts
nvestor relations programme  No new matenals or price sensitive
information is provided at those bnefings unless it has been
previcusly or 15 simultaneousty released to the market Brambles
posts all presentation matenais on www brambles com, and

Brambles' website contains further information about Brambles
and 1ts actvibies, including coptes of recent mtenm and annua!
reports and recordings and slides of recent presentatons

to analysts

The Continuous Disclosure & Communications Palicy takes into
account the matters bsted 1n Box 5 1 of the CGPR A copy can be
found at www brambles com

5.1.1 Commentary on financial results
The Audit Committee Charter requires the Committee to review the
clanty of financial reparts

Brambles Annual Report 2013 Page 27




CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT - CONTINUED

A review of operations and actmties for the Year 15 included on
pages 2 to 13 Brambles makes presentations, which are reviewed
and approved by the Board in accordance wath the Company's
continuous disclosure procedures, of the full and half year results to
the investment community immediately after the public release of
those resutts Brambles webcasts these presentations live and posts
copies of the associated presentation matenals on

www brambles com

5.1 2 Eliminating surpnise on termination entitlements
Details of the terrmnation entbitlements of Brambles' Chief Executive
Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other Key Management
Personnel are disclosed on pages 39 and 40 of the Directors’ Report
- Remuneration Report

PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF
SHAREHOLDERS

Shareholders play an important role in the governance of Brambles
by electing the Board, whose task it 15 to govern on their behalf

The Chairman regutarly meets major investors to understand their
1ssues and concerns and discuss particular matters relating to
Brambles’ governance and strategy The Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and other semar executives regularly meet
investors and other market partitpants to understand their 1ssues
ang concerns and discuss Company performance and strategy No
new matenal or pnce sensitive information 1s provided at such
meetings Other Mon-executive Directors may attend meetbings with
major investors 1f requested The Chairman reports to the Board on
the matters discussed at meetings with major nvestors and copies
of relevant correspondence are included in the Board papers
Executive management provides information on shareholder activity
and trading to the Board, along with shareholder feedback and
copies of analysts’ reports

6.1 ESTABLISH A COMMUNICATIONS POLICY

As dhsclosed 0 section 5 1, the Board has adopted a Cantinuous
Disctosure & Communicabions Policy, wiich outlines Brambles'
commitment to commumcating effectively wath shareholders and
encouraging shareholder participation 1 shareholder meetings

A copy can be found at www brambles com

6 1 1. Electronic commumgcation

Brambles takes all of the measures outlined 1n Box 6 1 of the CGPR
to make effective use of electromic commumcation with
stakeholders

Brambles posts a copy of all announcements made to the ASX on
www brambles com On release, sigmficant announcements are
highlighted 1 the “Latest News"” area on the home page of
www brambles com

Presentations to investors, analysts or media dunng bnefings

and copies of speeches and presentations made by the Chairman
and Chief Executive Officer at general meetings are released as
regulatory announcements and posted on www brambles com after
release Bnefings and general meetings are also webcast live, via
wanw brambles com Al of the ASX regulatory releases and notwes
of meetings that Brambles Lituted has published since 1t was listed
in December 2006 are available on www brambles com

Sharehelders are encouraged to provide an email address to
Brambles’ share registry so that they can be sent an etectromic
netification when a communication 1s avaitable on

www brambles com, rather than a hard copy Brambles believes
shareholders benefit from electrome commumcation as they receive
information promptly and have the convemence and secunty of
etectronic delivery Electronic communication is also
emaronmentally fnendly and generates cost savings Shareholders
who do not speaify a preferred method of commumcation are posted
a pnnted notification of availabibity of the annual report and hard
copies of all ather communications

Shareholders may electromcally appoint proxies and lodge proxy
nstructions for items of business to be considered at general
meetings, or have the option of lodging direct votes

6.1.2. Meetings

AGMs provide an opporturity for the Board to commumcate with
investors, through presentations on Brambles’ businesses and
current trading Shareholders are encouraged to attend AGMs and to
participate and use the opportunity to ask questions on any matter

To make better use of the imited time available, shareholders are
mvited to register questions and issues of concern pnor to AGMs
This can be done either by completing the relevant form
accompanying the notwces convenung the meetings or by emaing
Brambles at shareholderquestions@brambles com Answers to
frequently asked questions are given durng presentations to AGMs
Shareholders may also ask questions at AGMS wathout having
registered their questions 1n this manner

6 1 3, Communication with beneficial owners

Beneficial owners of shares, investors or members of the public

are encouraged to register for free emal alerts, so that they may
stay up to date on major news announcements made by Brambles
There 15 a ink to the “Email Alerts” registration area of the website
on the home page of www brambles com Users of the email alerts
serice may customise the types of announcements that they
receve

6.1.4, Website

As noted msections 6 1 1.and 6 1 3, Brambles communicates with

shareholders wvia electronic methods, including www brambles com
Brambles website contatns the financial results for the Year as well
as more detailed information about Brambles' business operations

6.1 5 Brefings

Brambles follows a calendar of regular disclosure of its financial and
operational results The calendar, which 1s posted on the website,
includes advance notice of the dates for the release of half year and
full year results, other financal snformation, shareholder meetings,
major analyst and 1nvestor bnefings and Brambles' involvement in
major nvestment conferences Where possible, Brambles webcasts
these sigmhcant bnefings

When Brambles conducts analyst and investor bnefings, a record of
the bnefings 1s maintained for internal use This record ncludes a
summary of the issues discussed, a record of those present (names
or numbers where appropnate) and the time and place of the
meeting

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

7.1 ESTABLISH POLICIES FOR THE OVERSIGHT AND
MANAGEMENT OF MATERIAL BUSINESS RISKS

7 1 1. Risk management policies

The Board 1s responsible for approving and reviewing the
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control and nsk
management Dunng the Year, the Board was supported 1n this role
by management, wn particutar by the Chef Executive Officer, the
Audit Committee (in relation to financial reporting nsks) and the
Group's intermal audit funchon To strengthen the relationship
between nsk managermnent and strategic and operational planning,
the Chief Executive Officer, through the ELT (see section 1 1 1),
has principal responsibility for nisk management The Audit
Commttee's responsibilities are descnbed wn section 4 3 2 of this
Statemnent

The Board has adopted a nsk management framewaork, the
objectwes of which are as follows

- Toncorporate effective nsk management as part of Brambles'
stratemic planning process,
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- To require business operating plans to address the effective
management of key rsks,

- To develop internal audit plans to concentrate efforts on providing
assurance on the viabibity and value of risk
mitigation/ management processes,

- To embed a stronger nsk management culture,
- To improve allocation of capital to reflect business nsks,

- To seek competitive advantage through increased certainty of
achieving agreed orgamsational and business objectives, and

- To continue to fulfil governance requirements for nsk
management

Brambles Headquarters and each of 1ts business units have a nsk and
control committee {RCC) The Brambles Headgquarters RCC 1s chaired
by the Chnef Financial Officer and its members include key
functional heads Each RCC conducts an 1n-depth review of the
relevant business umt’s or corporate, as the case maybe, nsk profile
on a regular basis The Group Presidents review the nisk profile and
accompanying mitigation plans of their respective business umts
before they are consolidated into the Group-level nsk profile The
nisk profiles and rmitigation plans for Brambles Headquarters, the
business umts and the Group as a whole are evaluated by the ELT,
with support from the Group Vice President, Taxation & Risk The
ELT, through the Chief Executive Officer, prepares a nsk report to
the Board twace yearly, which includes a review of the Group's nsk
profile, mitigation factors and emerging nsks (see section 7 2)

Legal obhgations and the reasonable expectations of stakeholders,
such as shareholders, customers, employees, subcontractars,
supphers and the community in general are taken into account when
prepanng and updating mtigation plans

7 2 REPORTING ON EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT OF MATERIAL
BUSINESS RISKS

7 2 1 Risk management and internal control system

Management 15 responsible for the development, implementation

and management of systems that

- ldentify, assess and manage nsks in an effective and efficient
rmanner,

- Enable decisions to be based on a comprehensive view of the
reward-to-nsk balance,

- Provide greater certainty of the delivery of objectives, and

- Satisfy the Group’s corporate governance requirements

These systems are designed to limit the nsk of fallure to achieve

business objectives It must be recegmsed, however, that internal

control and risk management systems can provide only reasonable,

and not absolute, assurance against the nsk of matenal loss

Key elements of Brambles’ internal control systems wnclude

- A Code of Conduct that sets out an etincal and legal framework
for all employees in the conduct of Brambles’ business,

Financial systems to provide timely, relevant and relable
information to management and to the Board,
Appropnate formabised delegations and limits of authanty
consistent with Brambles' objectives,

Biannual management declarations at country, regional and global
levels confirrmng, among other matters, the adequacy of internal
control procedures, the effectiveness of nsk management systems
and compliance wath the Code of Conduct and all regulatory and
statutory requirements,

Aninternal audit function, descnbed in section 7 2 2,
A nsk management function,

RCCs for each of Brambles Headquarters and Brambles’ business
umts, and

*

- Other sources of independent assurance, such as environmental
audits, occupational health and safety audits and reports from
the external auditors

The biannual management declarations are collected through a
web-based system, to enable the questionnaires to be completed
more easily and to facilitate ngorous tracking across penods

The key elements of Brambles’ business nsk management systems
dunng the Year are set out below

Risk control - nsks ta the achievement of business objectives were
identified through a process of exarmnation between the ELT,
Brambles’ rnsk management team, the business umt Group
Presidents, RCCs and functional process owners Key business nsks
were also wdentrfied and analysed dunng regular management
reporting and discussions The identified nsks were assessed 1n
terms of their underlying causes, business consequences, external
vanables, current internal control effectiveness, likelihood of
occurrence, overall nsk pnonty and nsk mitigation status The
resulting net nsk and contro! profiles were presented to the Board,
together with a nsk improvement program designed to increase the
effectiveness of cantrols and manage the overall level of nsk This
process formed part of the Board's annual review of the
effectiveness of the nsk management system and systems of
nternal control

Risk monitonng - there was regular reporting of key nsk events,
such as safety incidents, liigation and serous incidents (as defined
n the Code of Conduct) In addition to regular momtoning by the
ELT and Brambles' nsk management team, risks and controls were
reassessed by the RCCs on a regular basis The outcome of those
assessments and details of progress i implementing nsk
impravemnent programs were signed off by Group Presidents and
reported to the Group Vice President, Taxation & Risk In addition,
a report on the effectiveness of the management of business rnsks
was provided to the ELT and the Board The effectiveness of specific
business nsk controls and nsk impravement programs was also
penadically reviewed by snternal audit as part of the FY13 internal
audit program, and the results reported to the Audit Committee
(see section 7 2 2)

The Board reviews the effectiveness of the internal control and nsk
management systems on an ongoing basis by

Considering and approving the budget and forward plan of each
business,

Rewviewing detailed monthly reports on business performance
and trends,

Setting limits on delegated authonty,

Receving regular reports on Brambles’ treasury activities,
and reviewng treasury guidelines, imits and controls,

Receving twice-yearly reports from the ELT on the effectiveness
of internal control and nsk management systems for Brambtes’
matenal business nsks, being the repert required by
Recommendation 7 2 of the CGPR,

Recening twice-yearly wntten assurances from the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as descnbed
n section 7 3, and

Receming reparts from the Audit Committee, which has a

responsibility to assist the Board in reviewing internal financial
controls

7 2 2 Internal audit function

The intemal audit function 15 independent of the external auditor
Brambles’ internal audit function carres out nsk based audits under
an annual plan approved by the Audit Committee The internal audit
team makes an independent appraisal of the adequacy and
effectiveness of Brambles’ nsk management and internal control
system, to provide assurance to the Audit Committee and the Board
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The head of internal audit has direct access to the Chairman of the
Audit Committee Both the Audit Committee and the mnternal audit
team have unrestricted access to management and the nght to seek
information and explanations

7 2.3 Risk Management Committee
The roles of the Board, ELT and the RCCs 1n Brambles' nisk
management framework are descnbed 1n section 7 1 1

7 3 CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER DECLARATION

The Baard receives wntten assurances from the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer that the declaration provided
under section 2954 of the Corperations Act 2001 (Cth)(Act) 1s
founded on a sound system of nsk management and internal control
and that the system 1s operating effectively i all matenal respects
tn relation to financial reporting nsks The Board receved these
assurances 1n advance of approving both the annual and intenm
financial statements for the Year

PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND
RESPONSIBLY

8 1 ESTABLISH A REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

8.1 1. Purpose of the Remuneration Committee

The abjective and purpose of the Remuneration Committee 1s to
assist the Board 1n establishing remuneration policies and practices
which

- Enable Brambles to attract and retain executives and Directors
who will create value for shareholders,

- Fairly and responsibly reward executives having regard to the
performance of Brambles, the performance of the executive and
the general remuneration environment, and

- Comply with the prowisions of the ASX Listing Rutes and the Act

8.1 2. Charter

The Remuneration Commttee has a Charter which in¢ludes its
duties and respensibibties, composition, structure, membership
requirements, authonty, access nghts and sets out a procedure

for iInting nan-members to attend 1ts meetings A copy of the
Remuneration Committee's Charter, which 1s reviewed annually, can
be found at www brambles com

8.1.3. Responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee discharges 1ts respensibilities by
meeting regularly throughout the year and, amaong other matters

Determining and agreeing with the Board the broad policy for the
remuneration of the Chairman of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer and other members of the semor executve team, and
reviewing the ongoing appropnateness and relevance of the
executive remuneration policy,

Determining the remuneration for the Executive Directors and
the Company Secretary, reviewing the prepesed remuneration for
the sermor executwve team, ensunng that contractual terms on
termination, and any payments made, are fair te the individual
and Brambles, that failure is not rewarded and that the duty

to mitigate loss 1s fully recogmsed, and, 1 detenmintng such
packages and arrangements, giving due regard to all relevant
reguiarions and associated guidance,

Insofar as they impact on the Executive Directors and the semor
executive team, approving the design of, and determiming targets
for, all cash-based executive ncentive plans, and approving the
total proposed payments from all such plans,

Keeping all equnty based plans under review 1n light of legislative,
regulatory and market developments, determmining each year
whether awards will be made under such plans and whether there
are exceptional circumstances which allow awards at other times,

approving total proposed awards under each plan, approving
awards to Executive Directors and reviewing awards made to the
semor executive team,

Annually reviewing and taking account of the remuneration trends
across Brambles ints main markets, reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on remuneration by gender and
adwvising on any major changes in employee benefit structures
throughout Brambiles,

Reviewing the funding and performance of Brambles’ retrement
plans and reporting to the Board,

Selecting, apponting and setting the terms of reference for
external remuneration consultants who adwise the Committee or
Brambles in respect of the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and other key management personnel as outlined in the
Remuneration Report, and

Monitoring the Group's policy of equal remuneration for equal
work value, regardiess of gender, by recemang an annual report on
remuneration by gender across the Greup, and otherwise
reviewing and making recommendatrons to the Board on
remunerationh by gender

,

8.1 4 Remuneration policy
Details of Brambles’ remuneration policy can be found 1n the
Directors’ Report - Remuneration Report on pages 33 to 35 and 44

The remuneration of the Chawrman af Brambles 1 determined by
the Remuneration Committee The remuneration of the other

Non executive Directors 15 deterrmined by the Executive Directors,
following consultation with the Chawman of Brambles, wath the
Non executive Directors taking no part 1n the discussion or decision
relating to their remyneration In setting remuneration, advice 15
sought from external remuneration consultants

8 2 STRUCTURE OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee 1s compnsed entirely of
Non-executive Directors, all of whom are independent Luke
Mayhew (Committee Chawrman), Tahira Hassan, Graham Kraehe and
Bnan Schwartz were members of the Remuneration Committee
throughout the Year Tony Froggatt retred from the Commottee on
1 August 2012 due to his appointment 1o the Audit Committee
earlier in the Year Luke Mayhew has decided to retire as Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee with effect from the end of the
2013 AGM Tony Froggatt will replace Luke Mayhew as Chawman
and, for that reason, was re appointed to the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 1 July 2013 The Remuneration
Committee meets at least three times a year Details of the number
of Remuneration Commuttee meetings held dunng the Year, and
attendance at those meetings, are set out in the Directors’ Report -
Other Information on page 51

The Remuneration Committee may seek input from certain members
of executive management on remunaration, but nc members of
executive management are directly involved 1n deciding therr own
remuneration

8.3 COMPARISON OF REMUNERATION STRUCTURES

There 15 a clear distinction between the structure of Non-executive
Directors’ remuneration and that of the Executive Directors and
executive management Brambles has taken account of the
guidelines for executive remuneration packages 1n Box 8 1 of the
CGPR and the gutdehnes for Non-executive Director remuneration in
Box 8 2 of the CGPR Further details can be found in the Directors’
Report - Remuneration Report on pages 33 to 25 and 44
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The following checklist summarises Brambles' comphiance with the CGPR and contains cross references to the sections of this Statement and
to the exact location of information disclosed at www brambles com

Pnnciple/Recommendation Reference

PRINCIPLE 1 LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT

Recommendation 1 1 Role of the board and management Corporate Governance Statement 1 1
Recommendation 1 2 Performance evaluation of semior executives Corporate Governance Statement 12
Recommendation + 3 Compames should provide the following information in the corporate govesnance

statement

- an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 1 1, 1 2 or 1 3 Nat applicable

- whether a performance evaluation for seor executives has taken place 1n the Corparate Governance Statement 12

reporting period and whether 1t was n accordance with the process disclosed

A statement of matters reserved for the board, or the board charter or the www brambles com
statement of areas of delegated authority to semor executives should be made See “Corporate Governance”,
publicty available, 1deally by posting 1t to the company's website i a clearly “Charters & Related Documents™

marked corporate governance section

PRINCIPLE 2 STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE

Recommendation 2 1 Independent directors Corporate Gavernance Statement 2 1
Recommendation 2 2 Independent chairman Corporate Governance Statement 2 2
Recommendation 2 3 Roles of chairman and chief executive officer Corporate Governance Statement 23
Recommendation 2 4 Nomination commilttee Carporate Gavernance Statement 2 4

Recommendation2 5 Process for evaluating the perfarmance of the board, 1ts committees and drectors Corporate Governance Statement 2 5

Recommendation 2 & Comparies should provide the following information n the corporate Corporate Governance Statement
governance statement
- the sklls, expenence and expertise relevant to the position of director hetd 2 and Board and Executive Leadership
by each director 1n office at the date of the annual report Team, pages 16 to 18
- the names of the directars cansidered by the board to constitute independent 2112

directors and the company's matenality thresholds

the existence of any of the relationships histed in Box 2 1 and an explanation 212
of why the board considers a director to be independent, notwithstanding the
existence of those relationships

a statement as to whether there 1s a procedure agreed by the board for dwrectors 211
to take independent professional advice at the expense of the company

a statement as to the mix of skills and diversity fer which the board of directorsis 245
looking to achieve in membership of the board

the penod of office held by each director n office at the date of the annual report 2112

the names of members of the nomination cormimittee and their attendance at 2 4 3 and Directors’ Report Other
meetings of the committee, or where a comparny does not have a nomination Information, page 51
committee, how the functions of a nomination committee are camed out

whether a performance evaluation for the board, 1ts commmittees and directors 25
has taken place in the reporting period and whether 1t was 1n accordance with the
process disclosed

an explanauion of any departures from Recommendations 21,2 2,2 3,2 4, 25 Not applicable
orlb

The following matenal should be made publicly available, ideally by posting 1t to
the company’s website 1n a clearly marked corporate governance section

- a description of the procedure for the selection and appointment of new directors  www brambles com
and the re electien of incumbent directors See “Corporate Governance”,
“Charters & Related Documents”

- the charter of the namination committee or a summary of the role, nghts, www brambles com
responsibilities and membership requirements for that committee See “Corparate Governance”,
- the baard’s policy for the nomination and appointment of directors “Charters & Related Documents”
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Pnnciple/Recommendation

PRINCIPLE 3 PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING

Reference

Recommendation 3 1

Establish a code of conduct

Corporate Governance Statement 31

Recommendation 3 2

Establish a diversity policy

Corporate Governance Statement 3 2

Recommendation 3 3

Gender diversity objectives

Corporate (Governance Statement 3 3

Recommendation 3 4

Gender diversity reporting

Corporate Governance Statement 3 4

Recommendation 3 5

An explanation of any depariures from Recommendations 31,32 33,3 40r35
should be nctuded in the corporate governance statement

Not applicable

The following matenal should be made publicly available, 1deally by posting it to the
campany's website In a clearly marked corporate governance section

- any applicable code of conduct or a summary
- the diversity policy or a summary of 1ts main provistons

www brambles com
See “Corpoarate Governance”,
“Charters & Related Documents”

PRINCIPLE 4 SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

Recommendation 4 1

Establish an audit committee

Corporate Governance Statement 4 1

Recommendation 4 2

Structure of the audit committee

Corporate Governance Statement 4 2

Recommendation 4 3

Audit committee charter

Carporate Governance Statement 4 3

Recommendation 4 4

Compames shoutd provide the followang information 1n the corporate governance
statement

the names and qualifications of those appointed to the audit committee and ther
attendance at meetings of the committee, or, where a company does not have an
audit committee, how the functions of an audit committee are carned out

the number of meetings of the audit committee

Corporate Governance Statement
42 3 and Directors’ Report - Other
Information, page 51

- an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 41,42, 4 3or4 4

Not applicable

The following matenal shoutd be made pubbicly avaiable, 1deally by posting it to the
company’s website 1n 3 clearly marked corporate governance section

- mnformation on procedures for the selection and appointment of the external
auditer, and for the ratahon of external audit engagement partners

- the audit commttee charter

Corporate Gavernance Statement 4 4
and www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance”,
“Charters & Retated Documents”

PRINCIPLE 5 MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE

Recommendation 5 1

Establish a continuous disclasure policy

Corporate Gavernance Statement 51

Recommendation 5 2

An explanation of any departures from Recommendations 5 1 or 5 2 should be
included n the corporate govermance statement

Not apphicable

The policies or a summary of those palicies designed to guide compliance with
Listing Rule disclosure requirements should be made publicly available, 1deatly by
posting them to the company's website n a clearly marked corporate governance
section

www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance™,
“Charters & Related Documents”,
“Brambles Code of Conduct” {which
wcorporates the Continuous Disclosure
& Communications Pabicy as

Schedule 3)

PRINCIPLE 6. RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Recommendatign 6 1

Establish a commumcatiens policy

Corporate Governance Statement & 1

Recommendation & 2

An explanation of any departures from Recommendations 6 1 of 6 2 should be
included in the corporate governance statement

The company should describe how 1t wall communicate with its shareholders publicly,
ideally by posting the information on the company's website in a dearly marked
corporate governance section

Hot apphicable

www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance”™,
“Charters & Related Dacuments”,
“Brambles Code of Conduct™ (which
tncorporates the Continuous Drsclosure
& Communications Policy as

Schedule 3)
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Principle/Recommendation

PRINCIPLE 7 RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK

Reference

Recommendation 7 1 Establish policies far the oversight and management of matenal business nsks

Corporate Governance Statement 7 1

Recommendathion 7 2 Reporting on effective management of matenat business risks

Corporate Governance Statement 7 2

Recommendation 7 3 Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer declaration

Corporate Governance Statement 7 3

Recommendation 7 4 Compamies shoutd provide the following informatien in the corporate governance

statement

- an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 71, 72, 7 30r7 4

Not applicable

- whether the board has received the report from management under
Recommendation 7 2

Corporate Gavernance Statement 7 2

- whether the board has receved assurance from the chief executive officer {or
equivalent) and the chief financal officer (or equivalent) under Recommendation

73

Carporate Governance Statement 7 3

The following matenal should be made publicly available, 1deally by posting it to the
company’s website 1n a clearly marked corporate governance section

- a summary of the campany’s policies on nsk oversight and management of
matenal business nsks

www brambles com
See “Corporate Govermance”,
"Risk Management”

PRINCIPLE 8 REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY

Recommendation B 1 Establish a remuneration committee

Corporate Governance Statement 8 1

Recommendation 8 2 Structure of the remuneration committee

Corporate Governance Statement 8 2

Recommendation 8 3 Compansen of remuneration structures

Corporate Governance Statements 8 3
and Directors’ Report  Remuneration
Report pages 33 to 35 and 44

Recammendation 8 4  Campanies should provide the following snformation in the corporate governance
statement or a clear cross reference to the location of the matenal

the names of the members of the remuneration committee and therr attendance
at meetings of the committee, or where a company does not have a remuneration
committee, how the functions of a remuneration committee are carned out

Corporate Gaovernance Statement 8 2
and Directars’ Report - Other
Information, page 51

the existence and terms of any schemes for retirement benefits, ather than
superannuation, for Non executive Directors

Not applicable

an explanation of any departures from Recommendations 81,8 2, 8 3or B 4

Not applicable

The following matenal should be made publicly available, 1deally by posting it to the
company's website 1n a clearly marked corporate governance section

- the charter of the remuneration committee or a summary of the role, rights,
responsibilities and membership requirements for that committee

- asummary of the company's policy on prombiting entering into transactions in
assocated products which irmit the economic nsk of participating 1n unvested
entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes

www brambles com
See “Corporate Governance”,
“Charters & Related Documents”

www brambles com

See “Corporate Governance”,
“Charters & Related Documents”,
“Brambles Code of Conduct™
twhich incorporates the Secunties
Trading Policy as Schedule 9)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration for senor executives 1n FY13 reflects another year
of strong Brambles results, as shown n the table below

Financial measure FY13 result Change from FY12
(USSM) (constant currency)

Sales revenue 5,889 9 6%

Operating Profit 1,012 6 0%

Profit after tax 640 6 14%

30 dime 2073 ® 1% A

Annual Short-Term Incentive (ST1) cash awards for continuing
semor executives ranged from 20% to 58% of base salary These STI
outcames were driven by Brambles' financial performance and the
achrevernent by executives of their specific persanal objectives
65% of Long Term Incentive (LTI) awards granted n FY11 vested,
tnggered by Brambles’ performance aver the past three years to
Fr13

Where roles remained unchanged, salary increases in the Year for
the Brambles Executive Leadership Team (ELT) were between 0%
and 3%

Dunng the Year, there were changes to the ELT stemming from
the retrrement of CFO, Greg Hayes, the restructunng of the
Pallets operating segment and the strateg review of Recall The
remuneration arrangements implemented as a result of these
changes followed Brambles’ policy and standard practice, except
In the case of the recruitment of a new Group President for
Recall, Doug Pertz

Mr Pertz, an external candidate, was appeointed followang an
extensive global recruntment exercise Some elements of his
contract are not standard as the Board was, at the time,
considering a range of strategic optrons for Recall, ncluding a
potential demerger or an imtial public offening He was also
required to forgo a substaptial financial opportumty at the
business he was runming at the twme of ns recrintment by
Brambles Teo compensate mm for this loss, his Brambies
remuneration package contamns a one off share award in Recall
Holdhngs, the company which will be histed on the ASX as a result
of the proposed demerger announced on Z July 2013, if that
demerger 1s completed

CONTENTS

1 Background

2 Remuneration Committee

3 Remuneration Policy & Structure

4 Performance of Brambles & At Risk Remuneration
5 Employee Share Plan

& Executive Directors & Disclosable Executives
7 Non-Executive Directors’ Disclosures

8 Remuneration Adwvisors

9 Appendices

1.

BACKGROUND

The Remuneration Report provides information on Brambles’
rernuneration policy, the ink between that poticy and the
performance of Brambles, and remuneration nformation about
Brambles’ Key management Personnel

Brambles’ Key Management Personnel are
{a) 1ts Non executive Directars,
(b) ts Executive Directors, and

These shares would vest 1 stages over the next three years, contain
a performance related element, and cannot be sold by Mr Pertz until
Apnl 2017 The relevant parts of Mr Pertz's remuneration
arrangements will be subject to shareholder approvat as part of the
demerger process

Following a review earbier 1 FY13, the Board determmned to
norminate all Non executive Director fees in Austrahan dollars
Caonsequently, fees for overseas based Non executive Directors were
reset from therr respective local currencies (as used previously) to
Austrahan dollars This change algns Brambles wath Austraban -
market practice Separately, the Chairman’s fee and other Non
executive Director base fees ncreased by 3%, as a result of the
annual fee revew Brambles has mtroduced Committee fees for the
Audit and Remuneration Committees as well as a travel allewance,
again n line wath Australian market practice

We continue to try to make the Remuneration Report as easy to read
as possible and still compatible weth the required regulatory
disclosures This year we have included more detanl on the range of
1ssues considered by the Remuneration Committee over the year
These included the annual review of pay by gender n the major
CHEP countnes of operations and IFCO's operations 1n Europe, this,
as in the previous year, mdicated remuneration equity across
genders Brambles will extend the review across all its business

umts

The Remuneration Committee carmed out 1ts annual review of the
Brambles’ remuneration policy and share-based incentive plans This
included reviewing the cantinued validity of Brambles Value Added
as a key performance measure for the Company’s incentive plans
The Committee concluded that the current approach continues to
align the long-term mterests of the Company and 1its shareholders
with those of 1ts executtves

No changes to Brambles’ remuneration policy are proposed in the
coming year Targets for FY14 are demanding and 1t will require 2
strong performance to achieve sumilar or better levels of total
remuneration than n the pnor year

Lk '%éca

Luke Mayhew
Non-executive Director & Chairman of the Remuneration Commttee

(¢) other Group executives who have authonty and responsibility
for ptanning, directing and controlling the actmities of the
Group This has been defined as those who, for some or all of
the year ended 30 June 2013 (the Year), were members of the
Executive t.eadership Team (ELT) of Brambles

In this report, executives coming within paragraph 1(b) and 1(c)
above are called Disclosable Executives

Thus report includes all dhsclosures required by the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth) (Act), regulations made under that Act and Australian
Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures The
disclosures required by section 300A of the Act have been audited
Disclosures required by the Act cover both Brambles Limited and the
Group

2. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Cammittee (the Committee) operates under
delegated authonty from Brambles' Board The Committee's
responsibihities include

- Recommending overall remuneration policy to the Board,

- Approving the remuneration arrangements for Cisclosable
Executives and the Company Secretary, and

- Revtewing the remuneration policy and ndividual arrangements
for other executives
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During the Year, the members of the Remuneration Commattee’
were Luke Mayhew {Committee Chairman), Graham Kraehe, Taira
Hassan and Bnan Schwartz Tony Froggatt re joined the Commttee
in July 2013 and will take over the Chairmanship of the Committee
after the 2013 AGM, when Mr Mayhew will retire as Committee
Chairman Other indmaduals are invited to attend Committee
meetings as required by the Committee This includes members of
Brambles’ management team including the CEO, Group Sentor Vice
President of Human Resources, Group Company Secretary and Group
Vice President of Remuneration & Benefits as well as Srambles’
external adwvisor, Emst & Young

Details of the Committee’s Charter and the rules of Brambles’
executive and employee share plans can be found under Charters &
Related Documents 1n the Corporate Governance secton of
Brambles’ website

Dunng the Year, the Committee held eight meetings The most
siemficant topics of discussion were as follows

Executive performance assessment, salary review and FY12 short-
term incentive outcomes,

Vesting of FY10-FY12 long-term incentive plan,
- Approval of FY13 short-term ncentive targets,
- Approval of FY13 FY15 long-term wncentive plan targets,

Approval of final terms of emptoyment for Group President,
Recall,

Executive remuneration strategy review,

Review of executve contracts,

Review of Board Chairman’s fees,

Review of gender based remuneration relatmties,
Review of Emptoyee Share Plan performance,
Design of short term mcentive plan,

Consideration of remuneration 1ssues related to the divestment of
Recall, and

Annual review of the Committee’s performance

3  REMUNERATION POLICY & STRUCTURE

The Board has adopted a remuneration policy for the Group which
requires remuneration to be consistent with Brambles® strategic
business abjectives, attract and retan igh calibre executives, align
executive rewards with the creation of shareholder value and
motivate executives to achieve challenging performance targets
Dunng FY13, the Committee reviewed the remuneration policy
against these objectives and concluded that it remawned effective
and appropnate

When setting and reviewing remuneration tevels for Disclosable
Executives, the Committee considers the expenence,
responsibilities and performance of the individual while also taking
Into account market data relevant to the indmdual’s role and
location as well as Brambles’ size, geographic scale and complexity
The Group's remuneration policy 1s to set pay around the median
level of remuneration (of the peer group referred tan Section 3 1)
but wath upper-quartile total potential rewards for outstanding
performance and praven capability

'Each of the Committee members 1s an independent Non executive Director
(see section 2 1 2 of the Corporate Gavernance Statement on page 20

3 1 FIXED & AT RISK REMUNERATION

Rermuneration 15 dnaded 1nto those camponents not directly linked
to performance {Fixed remuneration) and those components which
are vanable and directly linked to Brambles® financial

performance and the delivery of personal strategic objectives

{At Risk remuneration) Fixed remuneration generally consists of
base salary and benefits and superannuation contnbutions Fixed
remuneration for most Disclosable Executives creased by 0% to 3%
during the Year

Brambles’ remuneration framework 1s underpinned by 1ts banding
structure This ctassifies roles into speafic bands, each
incorporating roles which have broadly equivalent work value Pay
ranges for each band are determined under the same framework
globally and are based on the local market rates for the roles fathng
wathin each band Where benchmarking was needed, the
comparative compames considered were major listed compames n
the USA, Australia, UK and Germany, with sales revenue and market
capitahsation between 50% and 200% of Brambles® 12-month average
at 30 June 2013 This approach provides a sound basis for delivenng
a non dischminatory pay structure for all Group emplayees

Given the global scape of 1ts operations, Brambles operates an
nternational mobility policy, which can include the prewsion of
housing, payment of relocation costs and other tocation adjustment
expenses where appropnate

A sigmificant element of Disclosable Executives’ totat potential
reward 1s required to be At Risk

This means an indwidual’s maximum potential remuneration will be
achieved only in circumstances where they have met challenging
objectives n terms of Brambles' overall financial perfarmance,
returns for atl shareholders and strategic objectives The proportion
of Thsclosable Executives remuneration packages At Risk s
Wlustrated i Section 3 3 of this Remuneration Report

Brambles’ At Risk remuneration 1s provided by way of three types of
annual 1ncentive awards a Short Term Incentive (ST!) cash award,
an STI share award and a Long Term Incentive {LT1) share award

The market value at the date of grant of all STl and LT! share
awards made to any person 1n any finanoial year should not noermally
exceed two times their base salary

The remuneration structure and the key features of Fixed and At
Risk remuneration are summansed n the chart on the next page

The application of the At Risk element of remuneration 1s further
descnbed i in Section 4
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FIXED REMUNERATION J L AT RISK REMUNERATION

LTI SHARE AwARD

l

Size of grant calculated as percentage of
salary and based an

Fixed remuneration consists of base
salary, superannuaticn and benefits

v

- TSR performance against the ASX100
median ranked conpany {Vesting starts at
median with full vesting for
outperformance of median by 25%), and

- Sales revenue compound annual growth
rate with BVA hurdle

Awards subject to performance testing at
end of three years (see Section 4 2 for

ncluding BVA, cash flow and Strategic
Personal Objectives (see Section 4 1
for details)

employrnent at second anniversary of
grant (see Secton 4 1 for detanls)

v details)
ST) CASH AWARD 5T1 SHARE AWARD
Size determined by performance Size denved from wize of ST cash award
against Key Performance inchcators Awards vest subject to continued

3 2 REMUNERATION AND THE LINK TO BUSINESS STRATEGY

Brambtles continues to adopt a growth strategy focussed on
strengthering its global eguipment pooling businesses This strategy
15 underpinned by

- Business performance being focused on profitable growth, the
efficient use of caprtal and the generation of cash,

- The recrintment and retention of high calibre executives;
- The setting of goals to implement the growth strategy, and
- Achieving sustainable returns for Brambles shareholders

The implementation of Brambtes" remuneration policy, which 1s
summarised in the chart above, 15 directly linked to the above
strategy and objectives in the following manner

Business perfarmance - profitable growth 1s emphasized by both
the use of Brambles Value Added (BVA) as a key performance
condition in ST! cash awards and the vse of compound annual
growth rate (CAGR) sales targets with BYA hurdles as one of the
two key perfermance condhtions which must be satisfied for LTI
share awards to vest The generation of cash and the effective use
of capital are renforced through the setting of cash flow targets
for ST cash awards

High-calibre executives - remuneration packages for executives
are designed to be competitive Lo assist Brambies i attracting
talented managers and to reward strong performance The award
of a sigmficant proportian of executives’ ST{ awards as sharas
which do not vest for two years helps retain key executives

Strategic goals - each year, a part of an executive’s 5TI cash
award 1s subject to the achievement of specific personal
objectives These include objectives focussed on the delivery of
Brambles’ strategy such as safety perfarmance, development of
new markets, customer satisfaction, product and service
wnovapion, employee engagement, productivity improvements
and development of future potential semor executives

Sustainable sharehalder returns - each of the abave three
elements support the delivery of sustainable returns to
shareholders In addition, there is a direct ahgnment of executive
rewards to the creanon of sharehelder value through the use of
relative total shareholder return ¢TSR) performance conditions, to
wineh the vesting of half of all LT} share awards granted since
FY10 are subject

Full detauls of the link between senior executives’ remuneration and
Brambles’” performance m terms of financial outcome, creation of
shareholder value and the delivery of the Group’s strategy are set
out in Section 4

Defimtions of the BVA, TSR and CAGR measurements and the
methads by which they are calculated are included in the Glossary
on pages 125 and 126

3 3 REMUNERATION MIX FOR DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES

Brambles’ executive remuneration mix 15 heavily tied to
performance At Risk remuneration represents 71% to 76% of the
Disclosable Executives’ maximum potential remuneration

The graph on page 35 illustrates the level of actual remuneratron
recewved by Drsclosable Executives compared with thew maxmum
potential remuneration Maxamum potential remuneration s the
Disclosable Executive's base salary plus his or her STI cash award
and ST1 share award assuming maxamum level of performance {see
Section 4 1) and full vesting of all LTI share awards

The “Actual” column of that graph compnses
- Base salary this is fixed remuneration for FY13,

- STI cash - this represents the STI cash award recewved 1n respect
to FY'13 performance (see Section 4 1},

- STI shares - this 15 the ST| share award earned n respect to FY13
performance but the vesting of which 15 deferred until FY15 (see
Section 4 1), and

- LTI shares - this shows the proportion of the FY10 to FY13 LTI
share awards which wall vest in FY14 (see Sechon 4 2)

The “Potential” column represents the maximum value of each
element of remuneration that could have been recewed i each
case by the indwidual Disclosable Executive for FY13 As a result of
the simplification of the Pallets operating segment, wiich 1ook
effect on 1 March 2013, Mr Mackie was assessed agamnst the previous
CHEP Amencas business unit for the first eight months of the year
and the Pallets segment far the balance of the year

Under the terms of s employment contract {see Section 6 3), Mr

Pertz was not entitled to partiaipate in Brambles' wncentive
arrangerments referred to 1n sections 3 and 410 FY13
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? Doug Pertz was not entitled to participate in Brambles’ incentive program

3 4 SECURITIES TRADING POLICY & INCENTIVE AWARDS

Brambles Secunties Trading Policy applies to awards granted under
the incentive arrangements descnbed above That policy prohibits
designated persens {which include all the Disclosable Executives)
from acquinng financial products or entenng nto arrangements
which have the effect of hmiting exposure to the risk of pnce
movements of Brambles securities 1t 1s a term of semor executives’
employment contracts that they are required to comply with all
Brambles policies (including the Securities Trading Policy)
Management declarations are obtained twice yearly and include a
statement that executives have complied wath all pohicies

Sections 9 2 and 9 3 summanse all the incentive plans under which
awards to Disclosable Executives are still to vest or be exercised

4, PERFORMANCE OF BRAMBLES & AT RISK
REMUNERATION

Brambles’ remuneration policy 15 directly linked to 1ts performance
n terms of financial outcome, the creation of shareholder wealth
and delwery of the Group's strategy This hnk s achieved in the
following ways

- By placing a significant partion of executives’ remuneration
At Risk,

- By selecting appropnate Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for
annual STi cash awards and performance conditions for LTI share
awards, and

- By requinng those KPis or performance conditions to be met 1n
order for the At Risk component of remuneration to be awarded or
to vest

The relationship between Brambles’ remuneration policy and 1ts
performance over the Year and the previous four financial years 15
set out n Section 4 2 The tables 1n Section 4 2 2 show the level
of vesting of LT! share awards tnggered by performance over those
penods

4 1 STI KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

As outlined n Section 3 1, Disclosable Executives have the
oppartumty to recewve annual STI cash and share awards based on
performance agawinst KPls A sigmficant proportion of averall S5T)
ncentives are STI share awards, which vest two years after the
award 1s made Disclosable Executives’ KPIs compnise both financial
and non-financial KPls

FINANCIAL KPIS

Frnancial KPIs are chosen to link executive rewards wath the
financial performance of the Group, the pursuit of profitable growth
and the efficient use of capital and generaticn of cash

STI financial KPls chosen for the Year were BVA and Cash Flow from
Operations plus (for the CEO and CFQ) profit after tax (PAT) For the
Group President, Pallets and the former Group Presidents, Recall
and CHEP EMEA & Asia-Pacific, KPls were Brambles' and their
respective business units' BVA and Cash Ftow from Operations The
Group President, Containers had the same KPIs except sales growth
was substituted for that business umt’s BVA

A focus on BVA helps ensure efficient use of capital wathin
Brambles PAT captures nterest and tax charges not directly
incorporated in BYA. Cash Flow from Operations 15 used as a
measure to ensure a strong focus on the generation of cash

The key levels of performance possible aganst each of the financial

KPis relevant to the STI awards for the Year were

- Threshald (the mimmum necessary to quabify for the awards),

- Target (where the performance targets have been met), and

- Maximum (where the targets have been significantly exceeded,
and the related rewards have reached their upper limit)

The 5Tl incentives for Group President of RPCs, Karl Pohler, are

based on the IFCO STi ptan in place at the time Brambles acquired

IFCO This provides im with the opportunity to obtain an ST cash

award based on performance against the following KPls iFCO's

EBITDA (70% of tatal STI opportumity), and IFCO’s free cash flow !

{30% of the total ST opportumty) Mr Pohler does not participate

Brambles’ ST) share award ncentives
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Doug Pertz did not participate mn Brambles™ ST1 cash, STI share
award or LT) share award incentives for the Year

The actual levels of performance achweved for the Year aganst the
financial KPls are summansed i the following table

PERFORMANCE AGAINST FINANCIAL KPIs IN 2013

KPIs?

Brambles BVA

Level of performance achieved
during the Year!

Between Target and Maximum

Brarnbles PAT

Between Target and Maximum

Brambles Cash Flow

Achieved Target

Pallets BVA

Between Target and Maximum

Pallets Cash Flow

Achieved Target

Contamners Sales

Between Threshold and Target

Containers Cash Flow

Achieved Target

CHEP Americas BVA

Between Threshold and Target

- Customer satisfaction and retention are mamnly measured using
the Net Promoter Score (NPS) System NP5 targets are set for each
year and performance 1s measured agamnst the achievement of
those targets

- People and talent management metncs relate 1o the development
of future leaders in Brambles as well as succession planmng for
critical roles

The followang table summanses the compenents and wewghtng of

KPIs for STI cash awards for Disclosable Executtves ather than Group

President of RPCs, Karl Pohler, and Group President of Recall, Doug

Pertz, from 1 Aprl 2013

Dsclosable
Executive

Financial KPIs MNon-
Financial
KPis

Group Business Group Group Business
BYA  Umt PAT  Cash Umt
BYA/Sales Flow Cash
Flow

CHEP Amencas Cash Flow

Achieved mid year target but
below Threshold at Year-end

CEQ, CFO 30% - 0%  20% 30%

CHEP EMEA & Asia Pacific BVA Batween Target and Maxinum
CHEP EMEA & Asia-Pacific Cash  Achieved Target

Flow

Recall BVA Below Threshold

Recall Cash Flow Achieved Target

IFCO EBITDA

Between Threshold and Target

Group 25% 25% - 20% 30%
Presidents

Pallets,

Containers,

Recall and

CHEP EMEA

& Asia

Pacific

IFCO Cash Flow

Achieved mid year target but
betow Threshold at Year-end

Other 50% - 20% 30%
nsclosable
Executives

NON-FINANCIAL KPIS

Non-financial KPIs are set to link Disclosable Executives’
performance to Brambles’ overall strategic objectives These
nclude personal strategic objectives in areas such as safety,
business strategy, new markets, customer satisfacton and
retention, and people and talent management

Brambles safety 1s measured by Brambles Injury Frequency Rate

(BIFR)* BIFR targets for each business umt and the Group as a
whole are set each Year and incorporated into Disclosable
Executives’ non-financial KPls Brambies regards the safety of its

people as a major prionty and, as the leaders of the company, the
ELT has Group wide oversight of the Zero Harm palicy If a fatabty

occurs, then the CEQ, Group Senmor Vice President of Human

Resources and relevant Group President(s) will have any incentive

related to BiFR outcomes reduced to zero

.

Business strategy and growth objectives include the
implementation of clearly specified strategic imtiatives allocated
to indmadual ELT members, for example new business acquisitions

*Defimitions of BVA, PAT, Cash flow from operations and EBITDA

measurements and the methods by which they are calcutated are inctuded in

the Glossary on pages 125 and 126

“Financial targets set for the forthcoming financial year under Brambles®

incentive plans will not constitute prafit forecasts and the Board s conscious

that therr publication may therefore be misleading Accordingly Brambles
does not publish in advance the coming year’s financal targets for incentrve

purposes

A defimtion of BIFR 5 mciuded n the Glossary on page 115 and reporting of
the Group’s BIFR performance 15 included in the Zero Harm section of the
Operational & Financial Review on page %

Details of the 5T| cash award payable to Disclosable Executives and
the 5Ti cash award forfeited, as a percentage of the maximum
potential STI cash award wn respect to performance dunng the Year,
are shown for each Disclosable Executive 1n the following table

ACTUAL STI CASH PAYABLE & FORFEITED FOR YEAR
ENDED 30 JUNE 2013

Name % of maximum 5T| % of maxamum 5TI |
cash payable cash forfeited

DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES

T Gorman 64% 36%

I Todorcevski 49% 51%

J Holley 66% 34%

P Macke 58% 47%

D Pertz N/A N/A

K Pohler’ 8% 92%

J Rabbno 56% 44%

N Smith 62% 8%

*an explanation of the Group’s use of NPS 15 included n the Sustamability
Review to be published on Brambles' website by end September 2013
’Karl Pohler's remuneration mix and bonus calculations reflect s exsting
incentive arrangements from IFCO
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Hame % of maximum 5TI % of maxamum STI
cash payable cash forfeited

FORMER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES

G Hayes 44% 56%

E Potts 2% 68%

R Westerbos 67% 33%

4 2 LTI SHARE AWARDS

As outlined n Section 3 1, Disclosable Executives have the
opportunity to receive equity awards in the form of LTI share
awards Vesting only occurs three years from the date of award and
1s subject to satisfaction of performance conditions (which are
explained in Section 4 2 1 below) over a three-year performance
penod (Performance Penod) If awards vest, they are exercisable
for up to six years from the date of grant

The tabte 1n Section 4 2 2 illustrates the relationstip between
Brambles’ remuneration policy and performance, showing the level
of vesting of LTI share awards duning the Year and the previous four
financial years

Details of the LTI share awards granted to Disclosable Executives
and the performance hurdles which apply to each of the awards are
set out 1n Sections ¢ 2 and 9 3 LTl share awards only vest to the
extent that performance conditions are met The awards are
governed by the Brambles 2006 Performance Share Plan (2006 Share
Ptan) rules, wiich have been approved by shareholders Any Board
discretion, such as vesting in the event of a change of control, 15
clearly prescribed under the 2006 Share Plan rules Under the “good
leaver” provisions, there 1s no accelerated vesting n the case of
terminations and all unvested LTI share awards are forfeited in the
case of resignations or terminations for cause

421 LTISHARE AWARD PERFORMANCE CONDITIONS

LTI performance conditions are set both to align executive
remuneration with the creation of shareholder value and to
support Brambles' finanaial objective of creating and sustaining
profitable growth

To allow a greater focus on profitable growth white retaiming a
shareholder value metnic, LTI share awards have two sets of
performance conditions, each with equal weighting

Creation of Shareholder Value Half of the LTI share awards are
measured by the following relative TSR condition  40% of LTI share
awards will vest if the Company's relative TSR performance over the
Performance Penod equals the TSR of the median ranked ASX100
company, 100% will vest for out performance of the TSR of the
median-ranked ASX100 company by 25% over the Performance
Period, and 1f Brambtes’ TSR performance 15 between these two
levels, vesting will be on a pro rata straight bne basis

TSR measures the retumns that a company has provided for its
sharehalders, reflecting share pnce movements and reinvestment of
dmwdends over a speaific period A relative TSR performance
condition helps ensure that value 15 only delivered to participants if
the investment return actually recewed by Brambles' shareholders
15 sufficiently Ingh relative to the return they could have received
by investing wn a portfolio of alternatwe stocks over the same penod
of time

Profitable growth Half of the LTI share award incentivises both
long-term sales revenue and BVA growth Vesting 15 based on
achievement of sales revenue targets with three-year performance
targets set on a CAGR basis The sales revenue growth targets are
underpinned by BVA hurdles This 1s designed to dnive profitable
business growth, to ensure quality of earmings Is maintaned at a
strong level, and to deliver increased shareholder value Both sales
revenue CAGR and BVA are measured in constant currency

tach year, a sales revenue CAGR/BYA matnx 1s set by the
Commttee and approved by the Board for each LTI share award
The matnx 15 published i the subsequent Remuneration Report
This allows the Board to set targets for each LTI share award which
reward strong performance n the light of the prevasling and
farecast economic and trading conditions

The table below 15 the sales revenue CAGR/BVA matnx for LTI share
awards made during the Year It should be noted that the LTI
Performance Matnx shown encompasses the entire Brambles Group,
including Recall On 2 July 2013, Brambles announced its intentron
to demerge Recall by listing a new holding company, Recall
Holdings, on the ASX If the Recall demerger 1s approved by
sharehalders, the matnx will be restated to exclude Recall from the
performance targets The Company’s 2014 Remuneration Report will
explain the change to the matnx and how the final deterrmination of
performance wilt be made

As a policy pnnciple, the Company takes into account major
acquisitions or divestments 1n determining the final outcome Where
there are acquisitions or divestments that are not material to the
overall outcome, these are excluded from any performance
assessment

LTI PERFORMANCE MATRIX FOR FY13 TO FY15

Cumulative three-year BVA

Vesting % at fixed 30 June 2012 FX rates (US$M)
Sales revenue CAGR* 950 1,150 1,350
4% - 20% 40%
5% 20% 40% 60%
6% 40% 60% 80%
7% 60% 80% 100%
8% 80% 100% 100%
9% 100% 100% 100%

“Three year CAGR over base year

The sales revenue CAGR provides for half point vesting in between
the percentages shown 1f the sales reveniue outcome 1s more than
half way between the vesting levels For example, a sales revenue
CAGR of & 7% and a BVA cutcome of US$1,000 miltion would provide
vesting of 50% There 15 no half pont vesting scale i between the
respective BVA hurdles

42 2 PERFORMANCE OF LTI SHARE AWARDS UNDER THE 2006
PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

The following tables detail actual performance aganst the
applicable performance condition for LTI share awards made duning
the five financial years indicated
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As outhned n 4 2 1 LTI share awards have two sets of performance conditions, each with equal weighting The tables below show the level
of performance and vesting for each of the two components, which each indradually comprise half of the LTI Award

Level of vesting of LT! share awards based on TSR performance
Period Prior to 30 June Period to 30 June 2013

2012

Rariking (Out-
Awards Start of performance of median  Vesting Yesting
made dunng Performance Performance company's TSR return® triggered triggered
financial year® condition Pertad (%) (% af original award) {% of original award)
FYo9 Relative TSR 1 July 2008 630 57 8% LTl awards N/A
FY10 Relative TSR 1 July 2009 629 55 1% LTI TSR Award N/A
FY11 Relative TSR 1 July 2010 30 34 N/A 100 0% LTI TSR Awards

The followang table pravides sirular details for awards which have yet to be tested
Period to 30 June 2013

Awards made  Performance condition  Start of Performance  Out-performance of median VYesting if current performance 1s

during® Period company's TSR return® (%)  mafntained until earliest testing
date (% of criginal award)

FY12 Relative TSR 1 July 2011 19 08 79 34% LTi TSR awards

FY13 Relative TSR 1 July 2012 11 15 61 59% LTI TSR awards

Level of vesting of LT! share awards based on sates revenue CAGR and BVA performance
The foliowing table provides details for the actual performance of LTI share awards against the applicable sales revenue CAGR/BVA matrix
for those awards granted in 2010 and 2011 and which have been tested

Awards made Performance condition  Start of Performance  Prior Period and Period to 30 Penod to 30 June 2013 Vesting

during® Perlod Jurie 2012 vesting triggered (%  triggered (% of original award)
of original award)
FYQ9 Sales revenue CAGR/BYA 1 July 2008 0 00% LT} awards NiA
FY10 Sales revenue CAGR/BVA 1 July 2009 30 00% LTI sales revenue N/A
CAGR/BVA awards
FY11 Sales revenue CAGR/BYA 1 July 2010 N/A 30% of LTI sales revenue
CAGR/BVA awards

The following table provides sirmlar detanls for LTI share awards the performance period of winch has not yet expired

Awards made Performance condition  Start of Performance  Periocd to 30 June 2013 vesting if current performance is

during® Perfod maintained until earliest testing date (% of original award)
FY12 Sales revenue CAGR/BVA 1 July 2011 20% LTI sales revenue CAGR/BVA awards
FY13 Sales revenue CAGR/BVA 1 July 2012 40% LTI sales revenue CAGR/BYA awards

Total level of vesting of LTI share awards
The combined vesting of the two LTI components for 2012 and 2013 15 shown below

Awards made Start of Performance End of Performance Total vesting (TSR and sales revenue CAGR/BYA combined)
during Perod Peried

FY(O9 1 Juty 2008 30 June 2011 28 90%

FY10 1 July 2009 30 June 2012 42 55%

FY11 1 Juty 2010 30 June 2013 65%

*These performance share rights were granted under the 2006 Share Plan Rights under this Plan vest on the third anniversary of their grant date 50% of the
award will vest subject to meeting a retative TSR performance condition The halance of the award will vest subject to three year sales revenue CAGR and BVA
performance The vesting matrix for this component of the award made dunng the 2013 financial year is detailed in Section 4 2 1

*Percentage out performance of the median company’s TSR return against the SGP/ASX 100 Index

8rambles Annual Report 2013 Page 40




DIRECTORS’ REPORT - REMUNERATION REPORT - CONTINUED

5 EMPLOYEE SHARE PLAN
At the 2008 AGM, shareholders gave approval to an all employee
share plan (MyShare), which was implemented n January 2009

Since the 1imtial launch, more than 3,500 Brambles employees from
approxamately 40 countnes have elected to participate in MyShare
MyShare employee parhicipants as a group represent a group
approxamately equivalent in size to our 25 largest registered
shareholder The number of shares purchased by employees
(Acquired Shares) as at 30 tune 2013 was 929,613, excluding shares
received under the MyShare Dividend Share Program (Dswadend
Shares) At the end of March 2013, Brambles i1ssued 500,941 shares
to employees, being a matching number of shares (Matching Shares)
to those purchased and held by employees for the two year penod

Dunng the Year, employees in Pallecon, acquired wn January 2013,
were given their first opportumity to enrol in MyShare This program
has been very well recewed by the Pallecon employees and ther
participation rate was 46%

In addhtion, dunng the Year, due to a relaxaton of restnctions on
capital transfers out of Chna, CHEP China was able to convert its
MyShare plan from a phantom scheme to a standard share plan
CHEP China employees MyShare participation increased significantly
to 57% 1n FY13 from 43% 1 FY12

In August 2012, Argentina’s govemment enacted tighter foreign
exchange controls Since then, Brambles' Argentina-based
businesses have been unable to fund additonal share purchases for
thewr MyShare plans

DMisclosable Executives are ehgible to participate in MyShare
Acquired Shares, Dividend Shares and vested Matching Shares
obtained by Disclosable Executives through MyShare are included in
Section 6 6 Matching Shares allocated, but not yet vested, are
shown in Sections 6 Sand 6 7

6 EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS & DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES

6 1 EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR CHANGES

Bunng the Year, Greg Hayes retired as CFO and as an Executive
Director He retired from the Brambles Board effective 1 October
2012 but remaned a Brambles employee until 1 March 2013

6 2 OTHER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVE CHANGES

Zlatko Todorcevska commenced as Chief Financial Officer on 8
October 2012 On 1 March 2013, Dolph Westerbos ceased
employment following the restructure of the Pallets operating
segment Following the appointment of Doug Pertz as Group
President of Recall, Elton Potts ceased employment on 25 Apnl
M3

6 3 SERVICE CONTRACTS

Disctosable Executwes are on continuing contracts which may be
terminated without cause by the employer giving 12 months’ notice
or by the emplayee giving s1x months’ notice, with payments 1n beu
of notice calculated by reference to annual base salary These
standard service contracts states that any termination payments
made would be reduced by ary value to be received under any new
employment

Other than Peter Mackie', executives remunerated on a base salary
approach recewe pension contnbutions of 15% of base salary

All ternuinations dunng the Year were in accordance with the terrns
and conditions of wdimvdual employees’ contracts

Under his employment contract, Zlatko Todorcevski, who
cemmenced employment on 8 October 2013, recewed a sign on
grant of 214, 213 Brambles share nghts This was an amount equal
“pmr Mackie received employer superannuation (pension) contributions of Z1%

of base salary for income up ta £153,700 and 15% of base salary for any
amount above £153,700

1n value ta the share nghts he forfeited on leaving his former
employer These nghts vest 1n five tranches between January 2013
and January 2015 Dunng the Year, 77,906 of those nghts vested
and are reflected w the table tn Section 6 6 Vesting of these share
nghts 15 subject to his continuing employment with Brambles

©On 28 March 2013, Brambles announced the appointment of Doug
Pertz as Group President of Recall and he commenced that role on
1 Apnl 2012 His employment contract provides for lum to be
remunerated on a base salary approach

At the bime of Mr Pertz’s recnuntment, Brambles was carrying cut a
strategic review of Recall, which included a number of different
divestment options including a possible demerger or IPO  Therefore,
n searching for a candidate for the role of Recall Group President,
prionty was given to denbifying indwaduals who had the skills and
expenence to lead Recall as a standalone business headquartered in
the LISA and, 1f Brambles so decided, to manage 1t through a
dvestment or public listing After a comprehensive search, Mr Pertz
was selected as the mast suitable candidate

Because Brambles was still conducting the Recall strate@ic review at
the time 1t was recruiting a new Group President, parts of Mr Penz'’s
service contract are not standard It contains prowisions relating to
s remuneration which are contingent on the occurrence and, if
apphcable, the manner in which any Recall divestment would take
place In addition, Mr Pertz’s contract includes a one-off grant of
share awards 1n Recall Holdings to the vatue of US$6 mithon if it
were to be demerged, to recogmse the sigmficant opportunity he
forfeited n (eaving his previous employer to Join Recall The Board
considered that the one off nature of these amrangements were
necessary and appropriate

On 2 July 2013, Brambles announced it would divest Recall by way
of a demerger and listing on the ASX The elements of Mr Pertz’s
remuneration which apply if the demerger takes place are as
follows

- One-off Recall share award Subject to Mr Pertz remaiming
employed by Recalt, he 1s entitled to a one off share award
compnising a grant of share rights in Recall Holdings to the value
of US$6 million (Recall Award) The amount and nature of the
Recall Award was determined to compensate i for the vatue of
the equity 1n s then employer that he would forfert by Joiming
Recall, to provide an incentive for mm to remain at Recall through
and after a demerger and to align this part of ms package with the
creatton of shareholder value tn Recall Holdings Any shares issued
to Mr Pertz pursuant to the Recall Award will be held in escrow
and may not, except in the speaific termination situations
described below, be sold or otherwise disposed of for a penod of
48 months (1 ¢ 1 Apnil 2017) from the date of commencement of
s employment with Recall
The grant of the Recall Award 1s subject to any required
shareholder approval Each share nght the subject of the Recall
Award will, upon vesting, entitle Mr Pertz to one share in Recall
Holdings The vesting schedule for the Recall Award 15 over a two-
year peried, as follows
- On completion of the demerger 33 33%,

- 12 ronths after completion of the demerger 1f he remains
employed by Recall Holdings 16 67%, and a further 16 67%
subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions to be
deterrmned by the Board of Recall Holdings, and

- 24 months after completion of the demerger 1f he remains
employed by Recatl Holdings 16 67%, and a further 16 67%
subject to the satisfaction of performance conditions to be
determined by the Board of Recall Holdings

The number of share nghts the subject of the Recall Award will be
Uss6 million divided by the volume-weighted average pnece of
shares wn Recall Holdings for the five trading days after (and
excluding) the first day on whnch Recalt Holdings” shares are
quoted on the ASX
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Recall Holchngs' incentive schemes subject to receiving any
necessary shareholder approvals, Mr Pertz will be eligible to
parugipate in any cash bonus scheme, share-based incentwe plans
or other incentive arrangements that Recall Holdings may
implement after the demerger 1s completed

Because of the uncertainty surrcunding the future of Recall at the
bime Mr Pertz commenced employment with Brambles, under his
employment contract he was not entitled to participate in
Brambies’ incentive arrangements referred to in Sections 3 and 4 1n
F¥13 and beyend In hieu of this, Mr Pertz will be entitled to a cash
bonus of up to USS1 million relating to the penod 1 Apnl 2013 to
31 December 2013, subject to the achievement of the following
objectives

- Financial targets
- Recall EBITDA, and
- Recall Cash Flow,

- Personal and strategic objectives
- Zero Harm for Recall, and

- Retaming key custamers, and droang the achievement of a
successful separation of Recall

This cash benus will be payable no later than 15 March 2014

The termination provisions of Mr Pertz's employment contract are
mare complex than ysual because Brambles had not completed the
strategic review of Recall at the time he was recruited The
following 1s a summary of his termination provisions

- As with other Disclosable Executives, s contract may be
terminated by his employer for good cause or by Mr Pertz giving
six months’ notice  If his employment 1s terminated n these
crcumstances, Mr Pertz will retain any vested portion of the
Recall Award, any unvested portion of the Recall Award will be
foregone and the 48 month escrow penod referred to above wilt
continue 10 apply

- As with other Disclosable Executives, his contract may be
terminated without cause by the employer giving 12 months’
notice Mr Pertz may also terminate his employment contract for
“good reason” The circumstances which comprise “goad reasan™
are either a matenal reduction in his base salary, a matenal
dirmnutron in his duties or reporting relationships, a reguirement
that he relocates to a pnncipal place of business outside the USA,
or, f applicable, his not being appointed (or, f required by law,
nominated penodscally) to the Board of any Recall listed entity If
Mr Pertz’s employment 1s termmated 1n either of these
circumstances, Mr Pertz will retain any vested portion of the
Recall Award, any unvested portion of the Recall Award wll vest
and the 48 month escrow penod referred to above wall no longer
apply He weuld also be entitled to a pro rata payment of the
USS1 milhen bonus relating to the pernod up to 31 December 2013
referred to above, subject to satisfaction of the performance
conditions to which that bonus 15 subject

Mr Pertz's employment contract prowvides that any termination

benefits descnbed above are, where apphicable, subject to recemving

any necessary shareholder appraval under Part 2D 2 of the Act This
approval will be sought at the Brambles general meeting to approve
the Brambles capstal reduction by winch the demerger will be
implemented and which 15 expected to be held n earty December
2013

Mame and role(s)

Dhsclosable Executives

T Gorman
CEO

CONTRACT TERMS FOR DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES

Base salary at 30 June 2013
unless indicated

A$2,060,000

Z Todorcevski
CFO
From 8 Qctober 2012

A$1,050,000

J Holley
Group Chief Information Officer

US5435,000

P Mackie
Group President, Pallets

£425,000

K Pohler
Group President, RPCs

€850,000

D Pertz

Group President & Chief Operating
Officer, Recalt

From 1 Apnl 2013

US$900,000

J Rabbino
Group President, Containers

US5535,000

N Smith
Group Semor Vice President,
Human Resources

45635,000

Former Disclosable Executives

G Hayes"
CFO until 7 October 2012, ceased
employment on 1 March 2013

A$1,550,000

E Potts
Group President & Chief Operating
Officer, Recall until 25 Apnl 2013

Us5583,000

R Westerbos
Group President, Pallets, EMEA &
Asia-Pacific until 30 June 2013

€442,000

"M Hayes retired from the Group on t March 2013 A summary of his
retirement entitlements was announced to the ASX on 4 June 2012 and 15

inctuded 1n Section 6 4
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6 4 TOTAL REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS FOR THE YEAR

The table below provides a summary of the actual remuneration, befare equity, receved or recewvable by the Dsclosable Executives for the
Year, together wath prior year comparatives Income denved from the vesting of shares dunng the year has been included below as “Actual
share income” The value shown 1s the market value at the time the income became available to the executive These awards were granted
n pnor financial years The values shown relate to STl and LTI share awards made 1n 2009 (Theoretical accounting values for unvested share
awards are shown 1n Section 9 4, those values are a statutory disclosure requirement Unvested share awards may result in “Actual share
ncome” i future years and, 1f $0, the income will be reported 1n the tabte below i the Annual Repart for the relevant year) The purpose
of this table is to enable shareholders to understand the actual rermuneration received by Disclosable Executives

Post- Actual
(USs$ 000) Short-term employee benefits employment Other share
benefits income
Name Year Cash/ Cash Non- Super- Termination/ Other Totat sTIAT Total
salary/ bonus monetary annuation sign-on before awards
fees benefits’? payments/ equity
retirement
benefits
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
T Gorman" FY13 2,322 1,210 180 - - 18 3,730 1,101 4,831
FY12 2,430 1,043 796 - - 21 3,790 661 4,451
CURRENT DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
Z Todorcevsk™ F¥Y13 955 503 10 26 306 - 1,800 674 2,474
Fy12 - - - - - - .
J Holley™ FY13 454 216 152 59 - 17 898 204 1,102
FY12 408 158 75 24 133 11 809 - 809
P Mackie™ FY13 761 349 52 21 - 25 1,208 193 1,401
FY12 749 370 146 17 - 20 1,302 171 1,473
D Periz"’ FY13 253 333 - - - 1 587 - 587
Fy1i2 - - - - - -
K Pohter' F¥13 1,100 219 35 9 - 5 1,368 - 1,368
Fyi2 1,133 - a7 9 - [ 1,185 1,185
J Rabbino™ FY13 563 268 - 53 - 15 899 - 899
FYi2 64 - - - 64 64
N Smath' FY13 778 303 - 26 - - 1,107 359 1,466
Fy12 691 260 - 52 - - 1,003 339 1,342
FORMER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
G Hayes'™ FY13 1,146 633 32 26 1 - 1,838 1,281 3,119
FY12 1,691 746 42 52 - 2,51 2,531
E Potts FY13 493 320 - 46 693 17 4,575 374 1,949
FY12 613 148 ral 15 847 261 1,108
R Westerbos'? FY13 589 346 125 &h 447 - 1,592 - 1,592
FY12 582 248 108 84 330 1,352 - 1,352
Totals FY13 9,414 4700 586 351 1,453 68 16,602 4,186 20,788
FY12 8,361 2,973 704 309 463 73 12,883 1,432 14,315

INon monetary benefits include car parking, personal/spouse travel, club membership, mator vehicles, relocation and storage costs and fringe benefits tax

The year on year comparison of remuneration 15 affected by the movement of exchange rates from ASTsUSS1 0304 and EUR=USS1 3325 for 2012 to
AS1=US51 0212, EUR=USS1 2939 and GBP=USS1 5657 respectively for 2013

“These executives were appointaed to thelr current role during the 2012 Year, as such the 2012 comparator represents part year only

" The U$$333,000 cash bonus far Mr Pertz n the above table is the current estimate accrued for service performed dunng the penod 1 April 2013 to 30 June
2013 The full details of Mr Pertz’s cash bonus entitlernent, including the objectives to which it is subject, are referred toin section 6 3 This amount was not
actually paid to Mr Pertz in FY13 and will only become payable In FY14 subject to achievement of the objectives referred to in that section
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6 5 EQUITY-BASED AWARDS

The following table shows details of equity-based awards made to
the Drsclosable Executives during the Year STI and LTI share awards
were made under the 2006 Share Plan, the terms and condiions of
which are set out 1n Sections 9 2 and 9 3 (see plan numbers

16 to 26) Matching Awards were made under MyShare, the terms
and conditions of which are also set out 1n Sections 9 2 and 9 3
{plan numbers 43 to 5%)

Equity-based awards
Value at grant

6 6 SHAREHOLDINGS

The following table shows details of Brambles Lirmted oréinary
shares 1in which the Disclosable Executives held relevant 1nterests,
betng 1ssued shares held by them and their related parties

Under recently updated guidelines, members of Brambles® ELT are
encouraged, over the five year penod commencng from the date
they joined the ELT, to achieve and maintain a shareholding equal
to 100% of thetr base salary before tax In circumstances where
executives wish to sell shares, they will require the approval of the
Chairman (1n the case of the CEQ) or the CEO {in the case of all
other ELT members)

Name Type of award Number uss 000"
DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES Balance at the Changes Balance at
T Gorman s 150,039 1,059 Ordinary startof the  during the the end of
LTI 385,412 1,719 shares Y ear Year the Year'
MyShare Matching b4t 5 DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
Total 536,092 3,783
T Todorcevski 3Tl IT4 213 1,562 T Gorman' 128,782 80,366 209,148
LTI 191,900 1,399 Z Todorcevski™ 500 78,091 78,591
MyShare Matching 185 1
J Holley?0 229 24,596 24,825
Total 406,298 2,962 d ’
“THolzy 5Tl 27,560 1597 Pmackie® 2,165 12,890 15,055
LTI 60,652 428
MyShare Matching 661 5 D Pertz - -
Total 83,873 592 K Pohler N
P Mackie STl 52,835 373
LTI 118,366 35 ) Rabbwno®® ” 19 '
MyShare Matching 642 5 Nsmthe® 4,132 71,359 75,491
Tata! 171,843 1,213
b barts el - —  FORMER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
Ln i G Hayes?! - -
Total - |
K Pohler ST - E Potts?0?! 93,059 (19,577) 73,482
(N1} . -
Total ) . Rwesterbos 101,495  (101,495) . |
“J Rabbino STI - |
(T 97,400 687 !
MyShare Matching 19 - |
Total 97,419 687 ;
‘N 5mith STl 37,356 264 |
LTI 91,608 646 |
MyShare Matching 641 5
Total 129,608 915
FORMER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
'50f which 500 shares were held by Zlatko Todorcevski and Robert
G Hayes 5Tl . © Todorcevski, 77,906 shares were held by Tentwentyfive Pry Ltd and 185 are
LTI - held by AET Structured Finance Services Pty Limited
Total - - *Of which 70,000 held by Lisa Smith
E Potts STl {11,075 710" VThe total value of the relevant equity award(s) Is valued as at the date of
grant using the methodology set cut in Section 9 1 The minimum possible
tn 105,008 4 future value of all awards yet to vest is zero, and is based on the
MyShare Matching 552 4 performance/service canditions not being met The maximum possible future
Tozal 216.635 1,455 value of awards yet to vest is equal to the value at grant
i . "0n 31 July 2013, the followling Disclosable Executives acquired ordinary
RWestérbos ~ 511 34,277 T8 ares under MyShare, which are held by AET Structured Finance Services Pty
LT 109,822 T47 Limited Tom Gorman {43), 2latko Tedorcevski (45), Jean Holley (44), Peter
Total 140.039 938 Mackfe (47}, Jason Rabbino (4) and Nick Smith {46)

°0f which AET Structured Finance Services Pty Limited holds 933 shares for
Tom Gorman, 230 shares for Zlatko Todorcevskd and 5,%37 shares for Nick
Smith

Al of these shares are held by AET Structured Finance Services Pty Limited

MBalance at the end of the Year is at cessation of employment for Greg
Hayes, who ceased emplayment on + March 2013, Eltan Potts, who ceased
employment on 25 April 2013
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& 7 INTERESTS IN SHARE RIGHTS®

The foliowing table shows details of nghts over Brambles timited ordinary shares in which the Disclosable Executives held relevant interests
share nghts, bewng awards made on 24 November 2010, 31 March, 2011, 6 September 2011, 16 July 2012, 25 September 2012 and 12 October
2012 under the 2006 Share Plan, and Matching Awards, being conditional rights awarded dunng the Year under MyShare

Balance at Yested and
the start Granted Exercised Lapsed Balance at exerciseable
of the during during during the end of at the end of
Year the Year the Year® the Year the Year™ the Year
Value at Value at
Name Number Number®  Value atgrant Number exercise Number lapse™ Number Number
Us$5 000 Uss 000 Uss 000
DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
T Gorman 1,316,336 536,092 3,783 148,310 1,101 178,735 1,129 1,525,183
1 Todorcevski 406,298 2,962 77,906 674 328,392
J Holiey 125,859 83,673 592 32,305 204 177,427
P Mackie 375,446 171,843 1,213 25,888 193 27,918 176 493,483
D Pertz -
K Pohler 251,637 - 251,637 -
J Rabbino 97,419 687 - 97,419
N Smth 376,931 129,608 915 46,822 359 49,649 314 410,068
FORMER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
G Hayes 1,159,820 172,739 1,281 384,861 2,802 602,220
E Potts 392,796 216,635 1,455 50,192 74 1777 755 381,522
R Westerbos 264,092 140,039 988 - 106,648 737 297,483

T0f the awards detailed in Section 9 3, the following plan numbers are relevant to Disclosable Executives Tom Gorman, Peter Mackie and Nick Smith (2 t0 9, 13
to 15, 17 to 19 and 27 to 55), Zlatko Todorcevski (20 to 26 and 51 to 55), Jean Holley {11 to12, 14 to 16 and 17 to 19), Karl Pohler {10), Jason Rabbino (18 to 19
and 51 to 55), Greg Hayes {1 to 9, 13 and 15), Elton Potts (2 to 9, 13 to 18 and 27 to 55), Dolph Westerbos (7 to 9, 13to 15and 17 10 19) Lapses occurred for
Tom Gorman, Peter Mackie and Nick Smith (3 and 4), Greg Hayes (3 to 4 and 8 to 9), Elton Potts (3to 4, 8 ta 9 and 14 to 13) and Dolph Westerbos (14 to 15 and
18 to 19) Exercises occurred for Tom Gorman, Peter Mackle and Nick Smith (2 to 4 and 27 to 38}, Zlatko Todorcevski (20 to 21}, Jean Holley (11), Greg Hayes

(3 to 4), and Elton Potts (2 to 4 and 27 to 52)

70f the rights exercised during the Year, no monies were paid or payabte on exercise The shares fssued on exercise of share rights are fully paid up Al of the
share rights exercised during the Year vested during the Year

#0n 31 July 2013, the following Disclosable Executives received Matching Awards under MyShare Tom Gorman (45), Zlatko Todercevsio (43), Jean Holley (46),
Peter Mackle (47), Nick Smith (48) and Jason Rabbino (4)

Bpunng the Year, 3,468,198 performance share rights were granted under the 2006 Share Plan, of which 535,451 were granted to Torm Gorman and 406,113 were
granted to Zlatko Todorcevski 763,015 Matching Awards were granted under MyShare during the Year, of which 641 were granted to Tom Gorman  Approval for
these lssues of secunties was obtained under ASX Listing Rule 10 14 at the AGM held on 10 November 2011

P4 apse” in this context means that the award was forfeited due to either the applicable service or performance conditions not belng met
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7 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ DISCLOSURES

7 1 HON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION POLICY
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION POLICY

The Chairrman’s fees are determined by the Remuneration
Commuttee and the other Non-executive Directors’ fees are
determined by the Chairman and Executive Owectors In setting the
fees, advice 1s sought from external remuneration advisors on the
appropnate level of fees, taking intg account the responsibilities of
Drrectors 1n dealing with the complexty and global nature of
Brambles® affairs and the tevel of fees paid to Non executive
Directors 1n comparable companies

Over the past three years Brambles has set Non executive Directors'
fees at the relevant market rate for the geography 1n which the

Non executive Director resided In 2013, this approach was reviewed
by Brambles’ external adwisors and, follovang an extensive
benchmarling exercise, a decision was made to align Brambles
practice with that of the Australian market

Fees for all Non-executive Directors’ are now paxd in Australian
dollars Brambles' base fees for Non executive Directors are st
with reference to the peer group referred to 10 Section 3 1, which is
cansistent with Brambles® policy on executive pay

A review of Non-executive Director and Board Chairman fees was
undertaken in 2013 to ensure the fees remained n line wath the
Australian market practice, resulting in an increase of 3%

A key outcome of the review was a gap between Brambles' practices
in relation to the payment of Committee membership fees Market
practice 1n Australia showed that the majonty of compames pay
Committee membershtp fees Effective 1 January 2013, 8rambles
commenced paying a A$10,000 Cornmittee memberstip fee per
annum This only apphes to the Audit and Remuneration
Committees These fees do not apply to the Board Charrman To
reflect the increasing complexaty and workload of the Chairman of
both the Audit and Remuneraticn Committees, the fees for the
Committee Chairs have been increased as follows

- Audit Committee Chair from A%$36,000 to A$50,000, and

- Remuneration Committee Chair from A$33,000 to A$40,000

In addition, Brambles reviewed the travel allowances for Non-
executive Drectors and wntroduced a flat fee of ASS,000 per long-
haut tnp for all Non-executive Directors {including the Chairman)

In summary, the 2013 review established the following fee
structure

- Chatrman A%605,000

- Non-executive Directors AS$193,000

- Supplement for Audit Conmmittee Chairman AS$50,000

- Supplement for Remuneration Commttee Chairman A$40,000

- Supplement for Audit and Remuneration Commttee
membership A$10,000

- Travel altowance per long-haul fight AS$5,000
The next fee review will be undertaken dunng January 2014
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7 2 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' APPOINTMENT LETTERS

Directors are appointed for an unspecified term but are subject to
election by shareholders at the first AGM after their tmitial
appointment by the Board The Corporate Gavernance Statement
contains detatls of the process for appointing and re electing

Non executive Directors and of the years in which the Non executive
Dhrectors are next due for re election by shareholders (see pages 20
and 22)

Letters of appointment for the Non executive Directors, winch are
contracts for service but not contracts of employment, have been
put in place These letters confirm that the Non-executive Directors
have no nght to compensation on the termination of their
appeintment for any reason, other than for unpaid fees and
expenses for the penod actually served

The Non-executive Directors do not participate 1n Brambles' STI, LTI
or MyShare plans

7 3 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR

The fees and other benefits provided t¢ Non-executive Directors
during the Year and dunng the pnior year are set out 1n the table
below in US dollars The full names of the Non executive Directors
and the dates of any changes in Non-executive Directors are shown
in the Directors’ Report - Gther Information Non-executive
Directors do not recewve any share based payment

Any contnbutions to personal superannuation or pension funds on
behalf of the Non-executive Directors are deducted from thewr
overall fee entitlements
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TABLE 7 3 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR

(Us5000) Short-term employee benefits Past-employment benefits
Name Year Directors' fees Superannuation Other¥ Total®
CURRENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
0 Duncan FY13 207 9 7 223
FYi2 B8 4 17 109
A Froggatt®® FY13 190 17 16 223
FY12 176 13 B 197
D Gosnell FY13 181 B8 2 191
FY12 81 3 3 87
T Hassan FY13 209 9 5 223
FY12 109 5 8 122
S Johns™ FY13 238 8 28 274
FYi2 214 12 12 238
€ Kay® FY13 190 17 17 224
FY12 173 16 [ 195
G Kraehe AO™ FY13 611 26 35 672
FY12 579 12 53 654
L Mayhew™ FY13 212 10 4 226
FY12 178 6 9 193
B Schwartz AM™ FY13 190 17 3 240
FY12 173 16 56 245
Totals FY13 2,228 121 147 2,496
FY12 1,71 97 172 2,040
7 4 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS o “ Balanceat” " Changes Balance at
_Ordinary shares _ startof Year ~_ dunng Year end of Year
As a gideline, Non-executive Directors are CURRENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
encouraged to held shares in Brambles equal to their 0D
annual fees after tax within three years of their uncan . .
appointment A Froggatt 24,890 (10,000) 14,890
14,450 22,910"
The following table contains details of Brambles Lirnited D Gosnell ’ 8,460 '
ordnary shares 1n which the Non executive Dwrectors held T Hassan 8,000 . 8,000
relevant interests, being 1ssued shares held by them and $ Johns 47,500 i 47,500%
their related parties ¢ Kay 14,877 14,8774
G Kraehe A0 63,776 1,189 66,965”
L Mayhew 16,500 . 16,500%
B Schwartz AM 13,029 8,652 21,6817

Tugther™ ncludes personal /spouse travel, meals and fringe benefits tax

PNone of the Non executive Directars recelved rights/awards over Brambles Limited shares during the Year, so there are no relevant share based payment

amounts for disclosure

™The year on-year comparison of remuneration is affected by the movement of exchange rates from ASH=USS1 0304 and GBP1=USS1 5834 for 2012 to

AS1=US51 0212 and GEP1=USS1 5647 for 2013

Ot which 7,000 shares were held by Christine Joanne Froggatt and 7,890 shares were held by Anthony Grant Froggatt

"Held by Charles Stanley & Co Australia in the name of Susan Gosnell

THeld by RBC Dexaa Custadian an behatf of Tahira Hassan

BOf which 27,500 shares were held by Canzak Pty Ltd, and 20,000 shares were held by Caran Pty Lirmted
HOf which 9,977 held by the Carolyn Kay Superannuation Fund

FHeld by Invia Custodians as trustee for the Graham John Kraehe Self Managed Superannuation Fund
*Held by HSBC Bank of Australia Limited on behalf of Luke Mayhew

"Held by Brian Martin Schwartz & Arlene Schwartz as trustee for the Schwartz Superannuation Fund
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8. REMUNERATION ADYISOR

The Committee have appointed Ernst & Young as Brambiles'
remuneration advisor to assist the Company with Non executive
Director and executive remuneration matters In perferming 1ts rote,
the Remuneration Comrmttee directly request and recewe
information and adwice from Ernst & Young

Dunng the Year, no remuneration recommendations, as defined by
the Act (Recommendations}, were previded by Ernst & Young Emst
& Young also prowvided taxation, internal audit, option valuatior and
project-related services together with general employee advice
services to Brambles dunng the Year These services did not include
a Recommendatian

During the Year, the Committee reviewed the arrangement relating
to the engagement of 1ts independent, external adwvisor As a result,
Brambles has made arrangements to ensure that the making of any
Recommendations would be free from undue influence by the
Dnsclosable Executives to whom a Recommendation may relate

The engagement letter entered into by Brambles and Ernst & Young
contains an agreed set of engagement protocols which apply to the
provision of Recommendations to Brambles These include

- An agreed set of pre-appraved senices Ernst & Young may provnde
Brambles management, which excluded Recommendations,

- Any requests to Ernst & Young from Brambles management
which might constitute a Recommendation are to be
referred by Ernst & Young ta the Committee forits
consideration and direction,

- Ernst & Young 1s not permitted to provide Recommendations to
Brambles’ management, and

- If Ernst & Young provides a Recommendation, it would include

with 1t a declaration that 1t has not been unduly influenced by
the Disclosable Executive subject to the Recommendation,

- Representatives of Erpst & Young attend all Committee meetings,

- Except for CEQ Tom Gorman and Group Semor Yice President of
Human Resources, Mck Smith, the Dhsclosable Executives do not
attend Committee meetings,

- Mr Gorman and Mr Sruth do not attend those parts of any
Committee meeting when thewr remuneration 1s being reviewed or
discussed, and

- The Committee meets with Ernst & Young without management
bewng present, duning which tume any 155ues or questions relating
to Disclosable Executives' remuneration which are not appropnate
to discuss with management present, may be discussed

9  APPENDICES

9 1 BASIS OF VALUATION OF EQUITY-BASED AWARDS

Unless otherwise specified, the fair values of the options and share
nghts included 1n the tables m this report have been estimated by
Emnst & Young Transaction Advisory Services 1n accordance wath the
reguiraments of AASE 2 Share based Fayments using a binomal
model Assumptions used in the evaluations are outlined 1n Note 28,
pages 95 and 96 of the financial statements

9 2 SUMMARY OF 2006 PLANS

The table below contains details of the 2006 Share Plan and MyShare
Plan under which former or current Disclosable Executives have
unvested and/or unexercised awards which could affect
remuneration in this or future reporting pertods The plans n bold
relate to the Plans and targets which were relevant to vesting
dunng the Year

Plan Nature of Size of award Vesting Vesting schedule Performance/ Life of award
award condition vesting pefiod
2006 Share Plan Share Up to 100% of Time only 100% vesting based on continuous Two years Maximum six years
(STLY rights size of 5T) cash employment
award
2006 Share Plan Share % of salary/TFR  Time and 40% vesting if TSR is equal to the  Three years Maximum six years
(TSR LTI) rights relative TSR median ranked company
hurdle 100% vesting i 25% above the
median ranked company
2006 Share Plan Share % of salary/TFR Time and sales  30% vesting occurs 1if CAGR 15 5% Three years Maxamum six years
(FY11-FY13 BVALT)) nghts revenue CAGR  and BVA 15 US5900M over three year
and BVA period
performance 100% vesting occurs 1if CAGR 15 7%
and BVA 15 LISS1, 300M over three-
year perod
20046 Share Plan Share % of salary/TFR  Time andsales 20% vesting occurs if CAGR 15 6% Three years Maxsmum $ix years
(FY12-FY14 BVALTI) nghts revenue CAGR  and BVA 1s LISS850M over three-year
and BVA penad
performance 100% vesting occurs if CAGR 15 8%
and BVA 15 US51,250M over three
year penod
2006 Share Plan Share % of salary/TFR Time and sales 20% vesting occurs if CAGR 15 5% Three years Maximum siIx years
(FY13 FY15 BVALTYH nghts revenue CAGR  and BVA 15 USS950M over three-year
and BVA perod
performarce 100% vesting ocours if CAGR 15 7%
and BVA ts U551, 350M over three
wear period
MyShare Matching 1 1 Matching Time and N Two years Automatic exercise
Awards Awards for every retention of from first an secend
Acquired Share  Acquired acquisition anniversary of first
purchased Shares acquisition

Brambles Annual Report 2013 Page 48




DIRECTORS’ REPORT - REMUNERATION REPORT - CONTINUED

9 3 SHARE RIGHTS

The terms and conditions of each grant of share rights affecting remuneration in this or future reporting penods are outlined tn the table
below Share nghts granted under the plans do not have an exercise pnce and carry no dividend or voting nghts

Plan Plan Grant date Expiry date Value at grant Status/vesting date
number

2006 Share Plans 1 29 August 20072 30 August 2013 AS12 64 100% vested at 29 August 2010
2 25 November 2009% 25 Navember 2015  AS5 85 100% vested at 25 November 2012
3 25 November 2009 25 November 2015%  AS3 B4 55 1% exercisable from 25 November

2012, remainder lapsed
4 25 Novernber 2009 25 November 2015%  AS5 85 30% exercisable from 25 November
2012, remainder lapsed

5 12 Apnt 2010 12 apnl 2016 ASE 48 1% November 2013
6 12 Apnl 2010% 12 Apnl 2016 AS4 26 25 November 2013
7 24 November 2010 24 November 2016™  AS6 01 25 November 2013
8 24 November 2010% 24 November 2016™  A$3 78 25 November 2013
9 24 Navember 2010 24 November 2016®  AS6 01 25 November 2013
10 31 March 2011 30 June 2017 AS6 15 30 June 2014
1 6 September 2011 1 August 2012% ASE 17 100% vested at 1 July 2012
12 6 September 2011 1 August 213" AS5 92 1 July 2013
13 & September 20117 6 September 20179 A5592 6 September 2013
14 6 September 2011% 6 September 2017°  AS2 46 6 September 2014
15 6 September 201" 6 September 2017%  ASS 68 6 September 2014
16 16 July 2012 1 September 2014™  AS6 09 1 September 2013
17 25 September 2012% 25 September 20187 AS6 31 25 September 2014
18 25 September 2012 25 September 2018™ AS3 41 25 September 2015
19 25 September 2012 25 September 2018 AS6 07 25 September 2015
20 12 Qctaber 2012 12 October 2018 AS6 48 100% vested at 31 January 2013
21 12 October 2012 12 October 2018 AS6 48 100% vested at 31 May 2013
22 12 October 2012 12 October 2018 AS6 48 31 January 2014
2] 12 October 2012 12 October 2018 AS6 48 31 May 2014
24 12 October 2012 12 October 2018 AS6 48 31 January 2015
25 12 Octaber 2012° 25 September 2018 AS3 50 25 September 2015
26 12 October 2012*' 25 September 2018 456 23 25 September 2015

HoT] awards vest on the third annfversary of their grant date, subject to continued employment

® awards granted to Elton Potts, Jean Helley, Peter Mackie and lason Rabbino expire three years earlier than the date shown, or immediately after vesting, if

earlier

“©These LTI awards vest on the third anniversary of their grant date. subject to continued employment and meeting a TSR performance condition
“"These LTI awards vest on the third anniversary of thefr grant date, subject to continuing empleyment and meeting a sales revenue CAGR and BVA performance

condition

ST awards vest on the secand anniversary of their grant date, subject to continued employment
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Plan Plan Grant date Expiry date Value at grant Status/vesting date
number

MyShare 27 31 March 20119 1 Apnil 2013 ASE 73 100% vested on 31 March 2013
28 29 apnl 2011+ 1 Apni 2013 AS6 48 100% vested on 31 March 2013
29 31 May 2011 1 Apnl 2013 ASE 94 100% vested on 31 March 2013
30 30 June 2011 1 Apnl 2013 AS56 76 100% vested on 31 March 2013
31 29 July 2011 1 Apnl 2013 AS6 58 100% vested on 31 March 2013
32 31 August 2011% 1 Apnl 2013 AS6 30 100% vested on 31 March 2013
33 30 September 2011*' 1 Apnl 2013 AS6 05 100% vested on 31 March 2013
34 31 October 2011** 1 April 2013 AS6 37 100% vested on 31 March 2013
35 30 Movember 2011 1 apni 2013 AS6 71 100% vested on 31 March 2013
36 30 December 2011*' 1 Apnl 2013 AS6 8D 100% vested on 31 March 2013
37 31 January 2012° 1 Apnl 2013 AS6 94 100% vested on 31 March 2013
k}:} 29 February 2012% 1 apnl 2013 AS6 77 100% vested an 31 March 2013
19 30 March 20124 1 Apnl 2014 AS6 73 31 March 2014
40 30 Apnl 2012% 1 Apnl 2014 AS6 97 31 March 2014
41 31 May 20124 1 Apni 2014 AS6 26 31 March 2014
42 29 June 2012* t April 2014 ASS 80 31 March 2014
43 31 July 2012% 1 Apni 2014 A55 93 31 March 2014
44 31 August 2012% 1 April 2014 AS6 55 31 march 2014
45 28 September 2012% 1 Apnl 2014 A56 57 31 March 2014
46 31 October 2012* 1 Apni 2014 AS6 93 31 March 2014
47 30 November 2012 1 Apnl| 2014 AS6 94 31 March 2014
48 28 December 2012 1 Apnl| 2014 AS7 17 31 March 2014
49 31 January 2013% 1 Apnl 2014 AS7 74 31 March 2014
50 18 February 2013** 1 Apnl 2014 ASS 27 31 March 2014
51 29 March 20134 1 Apni 2015 A58 08 31 March 2015
52 30 Apnl 2013 1 Apnl 2015 ASE 3 31 March 2015
53 31 May 2013% 1 Apnl 2015 ASS 86 31 March 2015
54 28 June 2013* 1 Apnl 2015 ASH 92 31 March 2015
55 1 July 20139 1 Apnl 2015 ASB 74 31 March 2015

“Mhese Matching Awards granted under MyShare vest on 31 March 2013, subject to conunuing employment and the retention of the associated Acquired Shares
On vesting they are automatically exercised

*These Matching Awards granted under MyShare vest on 31 March 2014, subject to continuing emplayment and the retention of the assoctated Acquired Shares
On vesting they are automatically exercised

“These Matching Awards granted under MyShare vest on 31 March 2015, subject to continuing employment and the retention of the associated Acquired Shares
On vesting they are automatically exercised
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9 4 SHARE BASED PAYMENTS - FUTURE POTENTIAL

The table below provides annual accounting values for shares granted during years 2010 2012 which have been amortised over three years
These share awards are subject to condibions set out 1 section 9 2 Remuneration will normally not be receved as a result of the underlying
share awards vesting until the conditions have been met

(US$'000) Share based
payment
Total
before Share of FY 13
Name Year equity Awards total remuneration Total
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
T Gorman 2013 3,730 1,624 30% 5,354
2012 3,790 1,546 29% 5,336
CURRENT DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
Z Tedorcevsks 2013 1,800 1,054 7% 2,854
2012 - . -
J Holley 2013 898 335 7% 1,233
2012 809 194 19% 1,003
P Mackie 2013 1,208 538 31% 1,746
2012 1,302 469 26% 1,771
D Pertz* 2013 587 1,134 66% 1,721
2012 - - - -
K Pohler 2013 1,368 512 27% 1,880
2012 1,185 465 8% 1,650
J Rabbino 2013 899 79 8% 978
2012 64 - - 64
N Srmth 2013 1,107 485 30% 1,592
2012 1,003 481 32% 1,484
FORMER DISCLOSABLE EXECUTIVES
G Hayes 2013 1,838 992 35% 2,830
2012 2,531 1,306 34% 3,837
E Potts 2013 1,575 1,207 43% 2,782
2012 847 463 5% 1,310
RWesterbos 2013 1,592 939 k% 2,531
2012 1,352 301 18% 1,653
Totals 2013 16,602 8,899 - 25,501
2012 12,883 5,225 - 18,108

/éa I‘-éj loa

Luke Mayhew
Non-executive Director & Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

22 August 2013
* Ths represents the Recall Award described in Section 6 3
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The information presented in this Report relates to the consolidated
ennty, the Brambles Group, consisting of 8rambles Limited and

the entities 1t controlled at the end of, or dunng the year ended

30 June 2013 (Year)

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal actmities of the Group dunng the Year were the
provision of pooling sotutions senaces and information management
services Brambles 15 a leading global prowvider of these services

The Group's pooling sclutions services compnsed three operating
business segments  Pallets, RPCs and Containers

The Pallets business, camed out under the name CHEP, focusses on
the outscurced management of returnable pallets, which it 1ssues,
collects and reissues through a network of service centres 1In
multiple countnes Manufacturers, producers, distributors and
retarlers use these pallets and contaners ta transpart thew products
safely and efficiently through the supply chain In addition, Pallets
provides supply chain optirmsation and transport management
services and, n the USA prowides a national network of pallet
management services, to sort, repaw and reissue pallets

The RPC business, carned out under the name IFCQ wn Europe, North
and South Amenca and CHEP 1n Australia, New Zealand and South
Afnca, focusses on the outsourced management of reusable plastic
contamners globally, which are used pnmanly to transport fresh
produce from producers to grotery retanters

The Containers business provides intermediate bulk, avtomotwe and
chemical and catalyst containers to 1ts customers [t also operates
an arrline container pocling and repair business and a non-fl:ght
cniical anatian equipment maintenance and repav business called
CHEP Aerospace

The information management services business, carmed out under
the name of Recall, 1s a global business and compnses the
management of information, providing secure storage, digitisatan,
retneval and destruction of anformation in multiple media formats

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group's
pnncipal activities duning the Year

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND RESULTS

A review of the Group's operations and a review of the results of
those operations are given in the Letter fram the Chairman & the
CEO on page 1, the Operational & Financial Review on pages 2 to
13

Information about the financial position of the Group 1s included in
the Operational & Financial Review on pages 2 to 13 and n the Five-
Year Financial Performance Summary on page 124

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES N STATE OF AFFAIRS

On 3 January 2013, Brambles announced the completed acquisition
of Pallecon, a teading prowvider of Intermediate Bulk Container (IBC)
solutions 1n Europe and the Asia-Paaific, for €135 million (USS177
milhon)

Pallecon operates mainly 1n Western Europe, Australia and New
Zealand, providing IBCs pnmanly for the transportation of biquids n
the food, cosmetic and chermcat industries It has been operating
for mare than 30 years and operates a pool of approximately
180,000 [BCs

Qther than this, there were no significant changes to the state of
affairs of the Group for the Year

MATTERS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

On 2 July 2013, Brambles announced the intention to demerge its
information management business, Recall, by listing a new holding
company, Recall Holdings Limited, on the ASX Through the
demerger, eligible Brambles sharehalders will recerve new shares in
Recall Hotdings Lirmted proportionate to thewr existing Brambles
sharehotding, while retaimng thewr existing Brambles shares
Brambles will not retain any shareholding 1n Recall Holdings
followang the demerger

Brambles expects to distnbute a scheme book to shareholders 1n
October 2013 contaimng a recommendation from the Brambles
Board n respect of the demerger, information about the mechamcs
of the demerger, information about the operating and financial
profiles of both Recall Holdings Lirmted and the post demerger
Brambies, an independent expert's report, and additional
wformation for shareholders

Brambles intends to convene a meeting n December 2013 for
shareholders to vote on the demerger proposal Subject to the
outcome of this shareholder vote and the satisfaction of other
condittons (including recemving the relevant court and regulatary
approvats) the final separation of Recall from Brambles and the
listing of Recall Holdings Limited 1s expected to occur shortly
thereafter

Other than this, the Directors are not aware of any matter or
crcumstance that has ansen since 30 June 2013 up to the date of
this Report that has sigmficantly affected or may sigmficantly affect
the operations of the Group, the results of thase operations or the
state of affairs of the Group n future financial years

BUSINESS STRATEGIES AND PROSPECTS FOR FUTURE

FINANCIAL YEARS

The business strategies and prospects for future financial years,

together with hkely developments in the operations of the Group n

future finangial years and the expected results of those cperations

known at the date of this Report, are set out in 1n the Letter from ‘
the Chairman and CEQ at page 1 and sn the Operational & Financial |
Review on pages 2 to 13 Further information 1n relation to such ‘
matters has pot been wcluded because the Directors beheve

it would be likely to result tn unreasonable prejudice to the Group

DIVIDENDS

The Directors have declared a final dwdend for the Year of 13 5
Austrahian cents per share, which will be 30% franked The dividend
will be pad on 10 October 2013 to sharehclders on the register on
13 September 2013

On 11 Apnl 2013, an intenm dmdend for the Year was paud, whach
was 13 5 Austrabian cents per share and 30% franked ©On 11 October
2012, a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2012 was paid,
which was 13 0 Australian cents per share and 30% franked

The unfranked component of each dividend paid during the Year was
condut foregn income  This means that na Australian dvidend
withholding tax was payable on the dimdends that Brambles paid to
non-resident sharehclders
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DIRECTORS

The name of each persen who was a Director of Brambles Lirmited at
any time dunng, or since the end of the Year, and the period for
which they served as a Director dunng the Year, 1s set out below
The qualfications, expenence and special responsibilities for
Dwrectors are set out on pages 16 to 17

Douglas Gordon Duncan 1 Juty 2042 to-d;te
1 July 2012 to date
1 July 2012 to date

1 July 2012 to date

Anthony Grant Froggatt
Thomas Joseph Gorman
Dawd Peter Gosnell

Tahira Hassan 1 July 2012 to date

Gregory John Hayes "1 July 2012 to 1 October 2012
Stephen Paul Johns 1 July 2012 to date 7

Sarah Caro-!;n Ha1le's—;(ay_ T 1 J_u'l:,r-2012 to date -
G_raham Joi{n Kraeh;e AD o 1 July 2012 to <j;te - ’
ér;nstopaa‘ l::ke &\;;rhew —_‘1 JJy i012 to date T
BrianMartin Schwartz AM 1 July 2012 to date

DIRECTORS' MEETINGS

SECRETARY

Details of the guahifications and the expenence of the Company
Secratary of Brambles Limited are as follows Robert Mes Gerrard
joned Brambles 1n 2003 as Semor Counsel and was appointed Group
Company Secretary n February 2008 Prior to joimng Brambles, he
was General Counsel to, and Company Secretary of, Roc (il
Company Lymited, Group Legat Manager, Cairn Energy plc, General
Counsel to, and Company Secretary of, Command Petroleum
Lwmited, and a solicitar with Allen Allen & Hemsley He holds a
Masters of Law (LLM) from the University of Sydney and Bachetor of
science (BSc) and Bachelor of Law (LLB) degrees from the Umiversity
of New South Wales He 15 a Solicitor of the Supreme Court of New
South Wales

INDEMNITIES

tndemmties provided to Directors and officers 1n accordance with
the constitubion of Brambles Limited are detailed in Note 36 on
page 118

insurance policies are 1n place to caover Directors and executive
officers, however, the terms of the policies prombit disclosure of
the details of the insurance cover and the premiums paid

Details of the Board committee memberships are given 1n the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 21, 24 and 28 The following table
shows the actual Board and committee meetings held dunng the Year and the number attended by each Director or committee member

Directors
Regular Special Special
Committees
(a) (b} (@ (b) (a}
D G Duncan 11 11 - - - -
A G Froggatt 1" 11 - - - -
T J Gorman 1t 11 - k} 3
D P Gosnell™ 10 1 - - -
T Hassan 1" 11 - - .
G J Hayes 1 2 - - -
$ P Johns® 10 1 - 4 4
SCHKay 11 1 - -
G J Kraehe AQ 1 11 - 4 4
C L Mayhew 10 1 - - - -
B M Schwartz AW 11 1 - - -

Board meetings

Aucht Committee Remuneration Mominations

meetings Committee Comimittee
meetings meetings
(b} () (b) @) (b) (@) (b)
6 6
6 1 1 5 5
é 6
9 9
6 6 5 5
6 6
9 9 5 5
9 9
9

12l The number of meetings attended during the period the Director was a member of the Board or refevant committee which the Dnrector was eligible to attend
1 The nymber of meetings held while the Director was a member of the Board or relevant committee which the Director wes eligible to attend
€ The meetings each of these Directors did not attend were ane hour telephone conference meetings
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

DIRECTORS’ DIRECTORSHIPS OF OTHER LISTED COMPANIES
The followng lists the directerships held by the Directors in listed compamies (other than Brambles Lirmted) since 30 June 2010

Director Listed company
D G Duncan J B Hunt Transport Sennces, Inc
Benchmark Electromcs, Inc

Period directorship held
2010 to current
2006 to current

A G Froggatt AXA Asia Pacific Holdings Limited
Billabong International Limited
Coca-Cola Amatil Limited

2008 to 2011
2008 to current
2010 to current

T J Gorman IFCO Systems NV (de listed in October 2011) 2011 to current

D P Gosnell None .

T Hassan None

G J Hayes None -

S P Johns Lerghton Holdings Limited 2009 to March 2013

Spark Infrastructure Group
Westfield Group
Westfield Holdings Limited

2005 to 2011

1985 to May 2013

Westfield Amenca Trust {director of responsible entity, Westfield Amenca Management Limited) 1996 to May 2013

Westfield Trust and Canndale Property Trust (director of responsible entity, Westfield

Management Lirmited)

1985 to May 2013

S C H Kay Commonwealth Bank of Austratia

2003 to current

G | Krache AQ Blirescope Steel Limited
Diermwarrh Investments Limited

2002 to current
2002 to current

C L mayhew WH Smith plec
InterContinental Hotels Group plc

2006 to 2040
2011 to current

B M Schwartz AM  Insurance Austratia Group Limited
IAG Finance (New Zealand) Lvmited
Westfield Group
Westfield Holdings Limited

2005 to current
2008 to current

2009 to current

Westfield amenca Trust (dwrector of responstble entity, Westfietd Amenca Management Limited) 2009 to current

Westfield Trust and Carindale Property Trust {director of responsible entity, Westfield

Management Limited)

2009 to current

ENVIRONMENT

Brambles’ Emarcnmental Policy 1s set by the Board It applies in all
countnes where Brambles operates The Emvarenmental Policy
prowvides that Brambles will act with integnty and respect for the
community and the ervironment and be commtted to scund
environmental practice in1ts daily operations It 15 a mmmum
requirement that all Brambles operations comply with all relevant
emaronmental laws and regulations Additionally, employees are
expected to care for the ermronment by adopting a specified set
of emaranmental pnncples Every business umit must ensure

that those pninciples are adhered to, ncluding in countnes that may
not yet have enacted laws for the protectien of the environment

Brambles has set environmental performance targets Reporting of
performance against those targets s contained 1n Brambtes’
Sustamnability Review which will be available on the Brambles’
website 1n September 2013 A copy of the complete Envirgnmental
Palicy 15 set out 1n Brambles’ Code of Conduct, which 1s available at
www brambles com

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Board 1s respansible for setting Brambles' Health and Safety
Policy, which states that Brambles 1s to prowvide and mantain a
healthy and safe working emvironment and to prevent injury, illness
or wnpairment to the health of empltoyees, contractors, customers
or the public

Brambles has adopted a Zero Harm Charter, which sets out the
wisien, values and behaviours and commitment required to werk
safely and ensure human nghts and envwronmental comphiance 1s
provided to all employees and, together with the complete Health
and Safety Policy, 15 on the Brambles webstte www brambles com

The Chief Executive Officer together wath the Group Presidents of
the Pallets, Contatners, RPC and Recall business segments are
responsible for policy implementation and safety performance

Health and safety performance indicators measure compliance with
corporate ob)ectives and milestones, allow assessment of progress
and companson with industry benchmarks and provide wncentves for
improvement Reporting on health and safety performance will be
shown in the Sustainability Review, which will be available on
Brambles’ website tn September 2013
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - OTHER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

EMPLOYEES

The Sustainabiity Review, available on Brambles’ website in
September 2013, will contain details of Brambles' performance as
an employer

INNOVATION, RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
innovation, whether of an incremental or step change nature, s
integra! to Brambles' growth strategy Brambles s focusing on three
key areas 1nnovating to address customers’ current and future
needs, accelerating tomorrow's growth opportunities, and fostenng
and driving a culture of innovation In 2011, Brambles launched an
innovation Fund, which has reviewed and funded a sigmficant
number of early stage new business 1deas Brambles carnes out
research and development activities i1n relation to both 1ts Pooled
Solutions and Recall businesses These activities compnse
Continuously testing 1ts pallets, contaners and other platforms to
make them more durable, sustainable and safer for use i the
suppiy chain,

Enhancing exsting, and developing new designs of pallets,
containers and other supply chamn platforms, for both new and
existing markets,

Improving paltet and container repar processes and equipment,
Testing and developing umque identifier technologiies, including
radho frequency 'dentification, and

Research into and development of new service offenngs,
information technology and software solutions, and information
and document management processes

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

Except as set out below, the Group’s operations 1n Austrabia are not
subject to any particular and sigmificant environmental regulation
under a law of the Commonwealth or a State or Terntory The
operations of the Group in Austraba involve the use or development
of land, the use of transportation equipment and the transport of
goods These operations may be subject to State, Terntory or Local
government envircnmental and town planmng regulations, or
require a licence, consent or approval from Commonwealth, State
or Terntory regulatory bodwes There were no matenal breaches of
environmental statutory requirements and no matenal prosecutions
dunng the Year Brambles' businesses comply with all relevant
environmental laws and regulations and none were nvolved 1n any
matenal environmental prosecutions dunng the Year

INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Pages 42, 43 and 45 of the Directors’ Report - Remuneration Report
include details of the retevant interests of Cirectors, and other
Group Executives whose details are required to be disclosed, n
shares and other secunties of Brambles Limited

SHARE CAPITAL, OPTIONS AND SHARE RIGHTS

Details of the changes n the 1ssued share capital of Brambles
Limited and share nghts and MyShare matching share nghts
outstanding over Brambles Limited ordinary shares at the Year end
are goven i Notes 27 and 28 on pages 94 to 96

Other than the share nghts in Recall Holdings granted to Mr Doug
Pertz and which are descnbed 1n Section 6 3 of the Directors’
Report - Remuneration Report, no options, share nghts or MyShare
matching share rights over the shares of Brambles Limited’s
controlled entities were granted dunng or since the end of the Year
to the date of this Report

Since the end of the Year to the date of this Report, the following
grants, exercises and forfeits 1 options, performance share nghts
and MyShare matching share nghts over Brambles Limited ordinary
shares have taken place, broken down by reference to the plan
numbers shown on pages 47 to 48 of the Remuneration Report

- 361 grants under the 2012 MyShare offer (plan numbers 39-50) and
63,316 under the 2013 MyShare offer {plan numbers 51-55),

80,172 exercises resulting 1n the 1ssue of fully pad ordinary

shares 8,176 under the 2012 MyShare offer {plan numbers 39 to
50}, 2,713 under the 2013 MyShare offer (plan numbers 51 to 55),
25,202 under plan 1, 4,867 under plan 2, 32,305 under plan 12,
4,474 under plan 3 and 2,435 under plan 4, and

1,137,657 lapses 12,346 under the 2012 MyShare offer (plan
numbers 39 to 50), 5,249 under the 2013 MyShare offer (plan
numbers 51 ta 55), 941,465 under plan 9, 8,015 under plan 6,
18,019 under plan 15, 35,305 under plan 19, 78,952 under plan 14,
35,305 under plan 18, and 3,000 under plan 17

SHARE BUY-BACKS
No ardinary shares were bought-back and cancelled dunng the Year
There 15 no current on market buy-back in operation

RISK MANAGEMENT

A discussion of Brambles' rsk profile, management and mitigaticn of
nsks can be found n the Operabional & Financial Revtew on page 7
and the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 26 to 28

TREASURY POLICIES

A discussion of the implementation of treasury policies and
mitigation of treasury nsks can be found 11 the Operational &
Financial Review on pages 3 and 4

NON-AUDIT SERVICES AND AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE
The amount of US5911,000 was pawd or 1s payable to
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Group’s audhtors, for non-audit
sernices provided dunng the Year by them (or anather person or
firm on thewr behalf) These services pnimanly related to financial
due diligence for the demerger of Recall, treasury consulting
services, compliance tracking system, regulatory reporting and tax
consulting advice The Audit Committee has reviewed the provision
of non-audit services by PncewaterhouseCoopers and its related
practices and provided the Directors with formal wntten advice of a
resolution passed by the Audit Committee Consistent with this
advice, the Directors are satishied that the prevision of non-audit
services by PncewaterhouseCoopers and its related practices did not
compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Act for
the following reasons the nature of the non-audit services provided
duning the Year, the quantum of non audit fees compared to overall
audit fees, and the pre approval, momitoring and ongoing review
requirements under the Audit Committee Charter and the Charter of
Audsit Independence tn relation to non-audit work The auditors have
also provided the Audit Committee with a letter confirming that, n
their professional judeement, as at 15 August 2013 they have
maintained their independence 1n accordance wath thewr firm’s
requirements, with the provisions of APES 110 - Code of Ethics for
Professtonal Accountants and the applicable provisions of the Act

On the same basis, they also confirmed that the objectiwity of the
audit engagement partners and the audit staff is not impaired

AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

A copy of the auditors' independence declaration as required under
secton 307C of the Act 1s set out on page 123

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be hetd at 2 00pm {AEDT) on 22 October 2013 at

The Wesley Theatre, Westey Conference Centre, 220 Pitt Street,
Sydney NSW 2000 This Directors’ Report 15 made in accordance with

a resoiution of the Board

Mete

G J Kraehe AQ T J Gorman
Chairman CEQ
22 August 2013
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

DIRECTORS

G J Kraehe AQ

(Non executive Chairman)
D G Duncan
(Non-executive Director)
A G Froggatt
{Non-executive (hrector)
T J Gorman

(Chief Executive Officer}
D P Gosnell
(Nen-executive Director)
T Hassan
{Non-executive Director)
S P Johns

{Non executive Director)
S CH Kay
(Non-executive Director)
C L Mayhew

{Non executive Director)
B M Schwartz AM

(Non executive Director)

COMPANY SECRETARY
R N Gerrard

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Brambles’ ordinary shares are listed on the Austrabian Secunties
Exchange and are traded under the stock code “BXB"

UNCERTIFICATED FORMS OF SHAREHOLDING
Brambles’ ordinary shares are held in uncertiiicated form There are
two types of uncertificated holdings

Issuer Sponsored Holdings This type of holding 1s recorded on a
subregister of the Brambles share register, maintained by Brambles
If your holding 1s recorded on the 1ssuer sponsored subregister, you
will be allocated a Secuntyholder Reference Number or SRN, which
1s & umique number used to identify your holding of ordinary shares
m Brambles

Broker Sponsored Heldings This type of holding 15 recorded on the
main Brambles share repister Shareholders who are sponsored by an
ASX market participant broker will be allocated a Holder
Identification Number or HIN One HIN can relate to an wnvestor’s
shareholdings in multiple companies For exampte, a shareholder
with a portfolio of holdings which are managed by a broker would
have the same HIN for each shareholding

SHARE SALE FACILITY

Ordnanly, Issuer Sponsored shareholders must establish a
relationship wath a broker i order to sell thewr shares However,
Brambles® share registry provides issuer Sponsared shareholders with
an altermative to traditional share sale services If you would lke to
take advantage of this service to sell your entire Brambles
shareholding, please contact Link Market Services at the address set
out i Contact information on the back cover of the Annual Report
Please note that under anti-money iaundenng regulations, Link
Market Services may require shareholders to complete an
wdentification nformation form

If you are a Broker Sponsored shareholder, please contact your
broker 1f you wash to sell your Brambles shares

DIVIDEND

Shareholders may elect to recetve dividend payments in Austrabian
dollars or pounds sterling, by contacting Link Market Senaces at the
address set out 1n Contact Information on the back cover of the
Annual Report

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Brambles Limited 2013 AGM will be hetd at 2 80pm {AEDT)
on 22 October 2013 at The Wesley Theatre, Wesley Conference
Centre, 220 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

FINAL DIVIDEND 2013

Ex dwdend date - Monday, 9 September 2013
Record date - Fnday, 13 September 2013
Payment date - Thursday, 10 October 2013

2014 (PROVISIONAL)

Announcement of ntenim results - mid February 2014
Intenm divndend mid Apnil 2014

Announcement of final results - mid August 2014
Final dividend - md October 2014

AGM - November 2014
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

ANALYSIS OF HOLDERS OF EQUITY SECURITIES AS AT 6 AUGUST 2013

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Brambles has been notified of the followang substantial shareholdings

Holder Number of ordinary % of issued ordinary
shares share capital
Schroder Imvestment Management Austrabia Limted 101,032,203 6 49%
Commonwealth Bank of Austraha 78,315,546 503%
I parrentages are as disclosed in substantial holding notices given to Brambles Limited
NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES ON ISSUE AND DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDINGS
Holders Shares
1- 1,000 26,4035 12,851,184
1,001 - 5,000 17,450 64,683,869
5,001 - 10,000 5,156 36,107,846
10,001 - 100,000 3,076 63,716,428
100,001 and over 168 1,380,076,076
Total 62,255 1,557,435,403

The number of members holding less than a marketable parcel of 54 ordinary shares {based on a market pnce of ASS 40 on 6 August 2013)1s
921 and they hotd a total of 16,898 ardinary shares The voting rights of ordinary shares are descnbed on page 56

NUMBER OF SHARE RIGHTS ON 1SSUE AND DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDINGS

Holders Share rights
1-1,000 2,694 886,786
1,001 - 5,000 76 264,136
5,001 - 10,000 34 243,505
10,001 - 100,000 73 3,205,189
100,001 and aver 34 8,121,539
Total 2,911 12,724,155

The voting nghts of performance share nghts and MyShare Matching Awards are descnbed on page 56
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION - CONTINUED

TWENTY LARGEST ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS

Name Number of ordinary % of issued ordinary

shares share capital
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 422,702,565 27 14%
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 315,261,202 20 24%
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 287,862,165 18 48%
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 78,905,089 507%
BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 45,319,515 291%
JP MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED <CASH INCOME A/C> 41,923,544 2 69%
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <CCLONIAL FIRST STATE INV A/C> 36,303,872 233%
AMP LIFE LIMITED 11,963,661 077%
AUSTRALIAN FOUNDATION INVESTMENT COMPANY LIMITED 11,173,530 0 72%
BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <AGENCY LENDING DRP A/C> 8,402,043 0 54%
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED <NT-COMNWLTH SUPER CORP A/C> 7,615,334 0 49%
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <BHP BILLITON ADR HOLDERS A/C> 6,781,494 0 44%
CS FOURTH NOMINEES PTY LTD 5,862,224 0 38%
RBC INVESTOR SERVICES AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LIMTED <BKCUST A/C> 5,433,100 0 35%
ARGD INVESTMENTS LIMITED 4,556,341 O 29%
UBS NCGMINEES PTY LTD 3,710,094 0 24%
RBC INVESTOR SERVICES AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <MBA A/C> 3,656,470 0 23%
SHARE DIRECT NOMINEES PTY LTD <10026 A/C> 3,504,829 023%
UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 3,355,396 0 22%
UBS NCMINEES PTY LTD 3,325,000 021%
Percentage of total holdings of 20 largest holders 1,307,618,468 83 97T%

VOTING RIGHTS: ORDINARY SHARES

Brambles Limsted's constitution provides that each member entitled
to attend and vote may do 5o 1n person or by proxy, by attorney or,
where the member 1§ a body corporate, by representative The
Directors may also deterrmine that at any general meeting, a
member who 15 entitled to attend and vote on a resolution at that
meeting 1s entitled to a direct vate n relation to that resalution
The Directors have prescnbed rules to govern direct voting which
are available at www brambles com

On a show of hands, every member present 1n person, by proxy, by
attomey or, where the member is a body corparate, by
representative and having the nght to vote on a resolution has one
vote The Directors have determined that members who submit a
direct vote will be excluded on a vote by a show of hands

On a poll, every member present 1n persan, by proxy, by attorney
or, where the member 1s a body corporate, by representative and
having the nght to vote on the resclution has one vote for each
ordinary share held The Oirectors have determined that votes cast
by members who submit a direct vote will be included on a vote by
a poll, being one vote for each ordinary share held

VOTING RIGHTS* SHARE RIGHTS

Performance share nghts over ordinary shares and MyShare Matching
Awards do not carry any voting nghts
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

for the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012
us$ém ussm

Continuing operations
Sales revenue SA 5,889 9 5,625 0
Other income 54 145 1 142 6
Operating expenses 56 (5,030 2) {4,833 9)
Share of results of jowt ventures 19C 64 85
Operating profit 1,011 2 9392
Finance revenue 20 3 215
Finance costs (131 2) (173 5)
Net finance costs 8 (110 9) (152 0)
Profit before tax 900 3 787 2
Tax expense 9 (260 4) (212 3)
Profit frem continuing operations 6399 5749
Profit from discontinued operations 12 07 14
Profit for the year 640 6 576 3
Profit attnbutabie to members of the parent entity 640 6 576 3
Earnings per share {cents) 10
Total
- basic 411 389
- diluted 409 B
Continuing operations
- basic 411 38
- diluted 409 85

The consolidated income statement should be read tn conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012
ussm UsSm
Profit for the year 640 6 576 3
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension plans 26E (11 1) (197)
Income tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 9A 24 54
(8 7) (143)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss.
Exchange chfferences
- on translation of foreign subsidianes 29 (70 7) (192 5)
- FCTR released to profit 29 - {12 5)
- on entities disposed taken to profit 29 - 17
Cash flow hedges 29 18 51
Income tax on 1tems that may be reclassified to profit or loss GA 07 (17
(69 6) (203 3}
GCther comprehensive loss for the year (78 3) (217 6)
Total camprehensive income for the year attributable to members of the parent entity 562.3 587

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read wn conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012
USSm usSm

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 128 9 1742
Trade and other receivables 15 1,124.2 1,054 8
Inventones 16 56 2 48 2
Denvative financial instruments 17 09 89
Other assets 18 60.7 662
Total current assets 1,380 9 1,352 3
HNon-current assets
Other recervabtes 15 92 85
Investments 19 20 1 171
Property, plant and equipment 20 4,407 9 4,138 6
Goadwall n 1,736 7 1,607 4
Intangible assets 2 336 5 362 2
Deferred tax assets 9C 48 2 376
Denvative financial instruments 17 98 190
Other assets 18 26 30
Total non-current assats 6,571 0 6,193 4
Total assets 7,951 9 7,345 7
LIABILITIES
Current habstities
Trade and other payables 23 1,2535 1,176 8
Borrownngs 24 1569 86 4
Denvative financial instruments 17 95 50
Tax payable 629 46 5
Prowisions 25 1108 901
Total current liabilities 1,593 6 1,404 8
Nen-current liabilities
Borrowrngs 24 2,686 4 2,777 7
Denvative financial mstruments 17 - 08
Provisions 25 258 30 4
Retirement benefit cbhigations 26 512 58 8
Deferred tax habilitres 9D 545 2 505 7
Other Labitities 23 243 271
Total non-current liabilities 3,1329 3,400 5
Total Habilities 4,926 5 4,805 3
Net assets 3,025 4 2,740 4
EQUITY
Contributed equity 27 6,618 5 6,484 1
Reserves 29 (6,748 2) (6,689 1)
Retained earmngs 29 3,155.1 2,945 4
Total equity 3,025 4 2,740 4

The consalidated balance sheet shoutd be read {n conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Naote 2013 2012
ussm UsSm
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers 6,604 B 6,217 7
Payments to suppliers and employees (4,961 6) (4,759 2)
{ash generated from operations 1,643 2 1,458 5
Dnndends received from joint ventures 35 42
Interest receved 4.1 58
Interest pad (119 8) (164 2)
Income taxes paid on aperating achwvities {191 1) (2151}
Net cash inflow from cperating activities 3B 1,339.9 1,089 2
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment (905 1) (949 4)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and eguipment 110 5 935
Payments for intangible assets {36 7) (53 8)
Costs incurred on disposal of businesses - (0 4)
Acquisition of subsidianes, net of cash acquired (179 0) 22 7)
Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,010.3) (932 8)
Cash flows frem financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 1,585 7 1,721 5
Repayments of borrowings {1,679 &) {1,710 0)
Net nflow from hedge instruments 66 46
Proceeds from 1ssues of ordinary shares 117 4 326 6
Dwidends pad (425 5) {397 7)
Net cash outflow from financing activities {395 4) {55 0)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (65 8) 101 4
Cash and deposits, net of gverdrafts, at beginmng of the year 152 7 80 4
Effect of exchange rate changes {(119) {29 1)
Cash and deposits, net of overdrafts, at end of the year A 750 1527

The consolidated cash flow statement should be read In conjunction with the accompanying notes
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

for the year ended 30 June 2013

Non-
Share Retained controlling
Note capital  Reserves'  earmings interest Total
UsSm UsSm ussm UsSm ussm
Year ended 30 June 2012
Opening balance 14,370 2 {14,716 8) 2,797.6 04 2,451 4
Profit for the year . - 5763 - 576 3
Other comprehensive \ncome - (203 3) (14 3) (217 &)
Total comprehensive income - (203 3) 562 0 - 3587
Share-based payments’
- expense recogmsed - 186 . 18 6
- shares 1ssued - (i) - - (1 1)
- egquity component of related tax 01 . 01
Transactions with owners i their capacity as owners
dividends declared 29 - - {414 2) (414 2)
- 155ues of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs 27 3373 - - 3373
- capital reduction {8,223 4) 8,223 4 - -
- disposal of non controlling interest - - - 9 0 4)
Closing balance 6,484 1 (6,683 1) 12,9454 - 2,740 4
Year ended 30 June 2013
Operning balance 6,484 1 {6,689 1) 2,945 4 - 2,740 4
Profit for the year - - 640 6 - 640 6
Cther comprehensive wncome - (69 6) (87) - (78 3)
Total comprehensive income - (69 6) 6319 - 56213
Share-based payments
- expense recogmsed - 230 - - 230
- shares issued - (17 1) - - (17 1)
- equity component of related tax - 46 - - 46
Transactions with owners in thewr capacity as owners
- dwidends declared 9 - - 422 2) - (422 2)
- 1ssues of ordinary shares, net of transaction costs 27 134 4 - - - 1344
Closing balance 6,618.5 {6,748 2) 31551 - 3,025 4

' Refer Note 29 for further information on reserves

The consolidated statement of changes 1n equity shoutd be read in canjunction with the accompanying notes
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These finanaial statements present the consolidated results of
Brambles Limited (ACN 118 896 021) (Cornpany) and 1ts subsihanes
(Brambles or the Group) for the year ended 30 June 2013

The financial statements comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) This general purpose finanaial report has
been prepared in accordance wath Austrahan Accounting Standards
{(AAS), other authontative pronouncements of the Austraban
Accounting Standards Board (AASB} and the requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Act)

The financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the
conventions of histoncat cost accounting, except for denvative
financial instruments and financial assets and habilities at fair value
through profit or loss

References to 2013 and 2012 are to the financal years ended
30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 respectively

Details of Umhcation, whereby Brambtes Lirmted acquired al the
share capital of Brambles industries Limited (BIL) and Brambles
Industnes plc (BIP) under separate schemes of arrangement on
4 December 2006, are set out in Brambles' 2007 Annual Report

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements and all comparanives have
been prepared using the accounting poticies set out below which are
consistent wath the prior year, except for financial statements
presentation

Changes 1n accounting pohicies

Brambles has applied revised AASB 131 Presentation of Financial
Statements from 1 July 2012 The revised standard requires entities
to separate items presented in other comprehensive income 1nto
two groups, based on whether the items may be recycled to profit
ar loss in the future This change in accounting policy only refates to
disclosures and does not impact amounts recognised in the financial
statements Cemparatwe information has been re-presented to
conform to the rewvised standard

Basis of consahdation

The consolidated financial statements of Brambles wnclude the
assets, habilities and results of Brambles Limited and all its legal
subsidianes The consolidation process eliminates all inter entity
accounts and transactions  Any finangial statements of overseas
subsidhanes that have been prepared in accordance with overseas
accounting practices have been adjusted to comply with AAS before
inclusion 1n the consolidation process The financial statements of
all matenal subsihanes are prepared for the same reporting penod

Business combinations

On acquisition, the assets and habilities and contingent liabiites of
a subsidiary are measured at their far values at the date of
acquisition Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recogmised as goodwall Any
deficiency of the cost of acquisition below the fair values of the
wdentifiable net assets acquired (1 ¢ discount on acquisition) 1s
crecited to the income statement 1n the penod of acqgusition The
interest of non-controlling shareholders 15 stated at the non-
controlhing proportion of the far values of the assets and habilities
recognised Any acquisition-related transaction costs are expensed
in the penod of acquisition

The results of subsidanes acquired or disposed of dunng the year
are included n the consolidated income statement from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,
as apprapnate

Investment in controlled entities

Shares n controlled entities, as recorded in the parent entity, are
recorded at cost, less provision for imparment

Investment 1n joint ventures

Investments in Jjoint venture entities are accounted for using the
equity method n the consolidated financial statements, and include
any goodwill ansing on acquisition Under this method, Brambies®
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the joint venture is
recogrised 1n the income statement and its share of post-acquisition
movements 1n reserves 1s recogmsed in consohidated reserves The
cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted aganst the
carrying amount of the investment

If Brambles’ share of losses in a jarnt venture equals or exceeds its
interest 1n the joint venture, Brambles does not recogmise further
losses unless 1t has sncurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the jont venture

Loans to equity accounted joint ventures under formal loan
agreements are long term in nature and are sncluded as
nvestments

Where there has been a change recogmsed directly 1n the joint
venture’s equity, Brambles recognises its share of any changes as a
change 'n equity

Non-current assets held for sale

Non current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell

Non current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use This condition 1s regarded as
met only when the sale 1s faghly probable and the asset (or disposal
group) 1s avallable for immediate sale i 1ts present condition
Management must be committed ta the sale which should be
expected to qualify for recogmtion as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification

Discontinued operations

The trading results for business operations disposed dunng the year
or classified as held for sale are disclosed separately as discontinued
operations 1n the income statement The amount disclosed includes
any related impairment losses recogmsed and any gains or losses
ansing oh disposal

Camparative amounts for the prior year are restated in the mcome
statement to include current year discontinued operations

Presentation currency

The consolidated and summansed parent enbity financial statements

are presented wn US dollars

Brambles uses the US dollar as 1ts presentation currency because

- a significant portion of Brambles’ actiwity 1s denerminated 1n US
dollars, and

- the US dollar 1s widely understood by Austrahian, UK and
intemational investors and analysts
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Foreign currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of Brambiles’
entities are measured using the functional currency of each entity

Foreign currency transactions are transtated into the functional
currency of each entity using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions Foreign exchange gains and {osses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the
translation at year-end rates of monetary assets and habilities
derominated n foreign currencies, are recogmsed 1n the income
statement, except where deferred wn equity as qualifying cash flow
hedges or qualifying net investment hedges

Non-monetary assets and llabilities carned at far value that are
denominated n foreign currencies are translated at the rates
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined Gains
and losses arising on retranslation are recogmsed directly 1n equity

The results and cash flows of Brambles Lirmted, subsidhanes and
joint ventures are translated mnto US dollars using the average
exchange rates for the period Where this average 15 not a
reasonable approxamation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, the exchange rate on the
transaction date s used Assets and Liabilities of Brambles Lwmted,
subsichanes and joint ventures are translated into U5 dollars at the
exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date The share capital of
Brambles Limmted 1s translated into US dollars at historical rates All
resulting exchange differences ansing on the translation of
Brambles' overseas and Austrahian entities are recogmsed as a
separate component of equity

The financial statements of foreign subsidianes and jaint ventures
that report in the currency of a hypennflationary economy are
restated in terms of the measuring umt current at the balance sheet
date before they are transiated into US dollars

Goodwll and fair value adjustments ansing on the acquisition of a
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabihties of the foreign
entity and transtated at the closing rate

The pnncipal exchange rates affecting Brambles were

USS AS UsS € USS £

Average 2013 10212 1 2939 1 5667
2012 1 0304 13325 1 5824

Year end 30 June 2013 09134 13015 1 5206
30 June 2012 1 0032 1 2440 1 5515

Revenue

Revenue 15 recogmsed to the extent that it 15 probable that the
economic benefits walt flow to Brambies and the revenue can be
rebably measured Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the
conswderation received or recewable Amounts disclosed as revenue
are net of dutwes and taxes paid (Goods and Services Tax and local
equivalents)

Revenue for services 15 recogmised when invoncing the customer
following the provision of the service and/ar under the terms of
agreed contracts in accordance with agreed contractual terms in the
penod n winch the service 1s provded

Other income

Other income ncludes net gains on disposal of property, plant and
equipment y the ordinary course of business, which are recogmsed
when control of the property has passed to the buyer Amounts
ansing from compensation for srrecoverable pooling equipment are
recogmsed only when 1t 1s probable that they will be received

Dividends

Dwadend revenue 1s recogrised when Brambles” nght to receive the
payment 15 established Owdends recewved from nvestments in
subsichianes and joint ventures are recogmsed as revenue, evenaf
they are paid out of pre-acquisition prafits

Finance revenue

Interest revenue 1S recognised as the interest accrues (usmng the
effective interest method, which 1s the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected Wife of the
financial instrument) to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recogmised as expenses 1 the year 10 which they
are wicurred, except where they are mcluded n the cost of
qualifying assets

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of barrowing
costs to be capitalised 1s the weighted average interest rate
applicable to the entity’s outstanding borrowings dunng the year

No borrowing costs were camitabised 1n 2013 or 2012

Pensions and other post-employment benefits

Payments to defined contnbution pension schemes are charged as
an expense as they fall due Payments made to state managed
retirement benefit schemes are dealt wath as payments to defined
contnbution schemes where Brambles® obligations under the
schemes are equivalent to those ansing 1n a defined contnbution
pension scheme

A hablity in respect of defined benefit pens:on schemes 15
recogmsed in the balance sheet, measured as the present value of
the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair
value of the pension scheme’s assets at that date Pension
obligations are measured as the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at rates reflecting the yelds of high quality
corporate bonds

The costs of providing pensions under defined benefit schemes are
calculated using the projected umt credit method, wath actuanal
valuabions being carned out at each balance sheet date Past
service cost 15 recoginsed immedhately to the extent that the
benehts are alreacy vested, and otherwse 15 amortised on a
strarght line basis over the average period until the benefits become
vested

Actuanal gains and losses ansing from differences between
expected and actual returns, and the effect of changes n actuanal
assumptions are recogmsed i full through the statement of
comprehensive income n the perfod in which they anse

The costs of other post-employment habibittes are calcutated in a
simlar way to defined benefit pension schemes and spread aver
the period dunng which benefit 15 expected to be derwved from the
emgployees’ services, 10 accordance wath the adwee of qualihed
actuanes
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Executwe and employee share-based compensation ptans
incentives i the form of share-based compensation benefits are
provided to executives and employees under performance share and
MyShare employee share plans approved by shareholders

Performance share awards are fair valued by quabfied actuanes at
therr grant dates in accordance with the requirements of AASB 2
Share-based Payments, using a binormal model The cost of equity
settled transactions 15 recogmsed, together with a correspending
ncrease N equity, on a straight-line basis over the penod n which
the performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on
which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
{vesting date)

Executives and employees 1n certain junisdictions are provided cash
incentives calculated by reference to the awards under the share
based compensation schemes {phantom shares) These phantom
shares are fawr valued on imtial grant and at each subsequent
reporting date

The cost of such phantem shares 1s charged to the income statement
over the relevant vesting penods, with & corresponding increase in
provisions

The fair value calculation of performance shares granted excludes
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions Non-market
vesting condittons are included 1n assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable At each balance
sheet date, Brambles reviews 1ts estimate of the number of
performance shares that are expected to become exercisable The
employee benefit expense recogmsed each penod takes into
account the most recent estimate

Sigmiftcant items and Underlying Profit

Sigmficant ltems are 1tems of income or expense which are, either
individually or 1n aggregate, matenal to Brambles or to the relevant
business segment and

- outside the ordinary course of business {e g gans or losses on the
sale or terrmnation of operations, the cost of samficant
reargamsations or restructunng}, or

- part of the ordinary actwvitres of the business but unusual due to
their size and nature

Underlying Profit 1s a non-statutory profit measure and represents
profit from continuing operations before finance costs, tax and
Sigmficant [tems |t 1s presented within the segment nformation
note to assist users of the financial statements to better understand
Brambles® business results

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the cash flaw statement, cash includes deposits at
call with financial institutions and other highly hiquid investments
which are readily convertible to cash on hand and are subject to an
nsignificant nsk of changes 1n value, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts Bank overdrafts are presented within borrgwings in the
balance sheet

Recewables

Trade receivables due within one year do not carry any interest and
are recogmsed at amounts recewvable less an allowance for any
uncollectible amounts Trade recevables are recogmsed when
sarices are provided and settlement 15 expected within normal
credit terms

Bad debts are wntten off when identified A prowision for doubtful
recewvables 1s established when there 15 a level of uncertainty as to
the full recoverability of the recewvable, based on objective
evidence Sigmficant financial difficulties of the debtor, probabibity
that the debtor will enter hquidation, recewvership or bankruptcy,
and default or sgmficant delay in payment are considered
indicators that the trade receivable 1s doubtful

The amount of the provision 1s measured as the difference between
the carmying amount of the trade recevables and the estimated
future cash flows expected to be recewed from the relevant
debtors When a trade recervable for which a provision had been
recogmsed becomes uncollectible in a subsequent perod, 1t s
wntten off aganst the provision account  Subsequent recovenes of
amounts previously wnitten off are crechted against other expenses
tn the 1ncome statement

Inventaries

Stock and stores on hand are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and, where appropnate, provision 15 made for
possible obsolescence Work in progress, which represents partly-
completed work undertaken at pre-arranged rates but not invoiced
at the balance sheet date, 1s recorded at the lower of cost or net
realisable value

Cost 1s determined on a first wn, first-out basis and, where relevant,
ncludes an appropnate portion of overhead expenditure Net
realisable value 15 the estimated seling pnce 1n the ordinary course
of business, less estimated costs of completion and costs to make
the sale

Recoverable amount of non-current assets

At each reporting date, Brambles assesses whether there 1s any
indication that an asset, or cash generating umt to which the asset
belongs, may be impaired Where an wndicater of impairment exists,
Brambles makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount The
recoverable amount of an asset 15 the greater of 1ts fair value less
costs to sell and 1ts value in use

Where the carnang value of an asset exceeds 115 recoverable
amount, the asset 1s considered to be impaired and 1s wntten down
ta 1ts recoverable amount The impawment loss 1s recogmsed n the
Income statement 1n the reporting penod 1n which the wnte-down
oceurs

The expected net cash flows ncluded i determiming recoverable
amounts of non current assets are discounted to their present
values using a market nsk adjusted discount rate

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (PPE} 1s stated at cost, net of
depreciation and any imparment, except land which 1s shown at
cost less impairment  Cost includes expenditure that 15 dwrectly
attnbutable to the acqusition of assets, and, where applicable, an
imbal estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing the item
and restoning the site on which it 1s located

Subsequent expenditure 1s capitahised only when 1t 15 probable that
future economic benefits asseciated with the expenditure will flow
to Brambles Repairs and maintenance are expensed 1n the income
statement i the period they are incurred

Depreciation 15 charged n the financial statements so as to write-off
the cost of all PPE, other than freehold land, to their residual value
on a straight-line or reducing batance basis aver their expected
useful tives to Brambles Residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted \f appropnate, at each balance sheet date
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The expected useful lves of PPE are generally

- buildings 50 years

- pooling equipment 5-10 years

- other plant and equipment (owned and leased) 3-20 years

The cost of improvements to leasehald properties 1s amortised over
the unexpired portion of the lease, or the estimated usefill life of
the improvement to Brambles, whichever 1s the shorter

Provision 1s made for 1rrecoverable pooling equipment based on
expenence wn each market The prowvision is presented wathin
accumulated depreciation

The carrying values of PPE are reviewed for impairment when
circumstances indicate their carrying values may not be
recoverable Assets are assessed within the cash generating unit to
which they belong  Any tmpairment losses are recognised in the
ncome statement

The recoverable amount of PPE 15 the greater of 1ts fair value less
costs to sell and 1ts value i use Value 1n use 1s determined as
estimated future cash flows discounted to their present value using
a pre tax discount rate reflecting current market assessments of the
time value of money and the nsk specific to the asset

PPE 15 derecognised upon disposal or when no future economc
benefits are expected to anse from continued use of the asset Any
net gain or loss ansing on derecognition of the asset 1s 1ncluded n
the income statement and presented within ather income n the
penad n which the asset 1s derecogmsed

Goodwill
Goodwill 1s carmed at cost less accumulated impairment losses
Goodwill 15 not amortised

Goodwl! represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition aver the
fair value of Brambles’ share of the net wdentifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary ar jant venture at the date of acquisiton
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries 15 included 1n intangible
assets Goodwill on acquisitions of joint ventures 15 included in
nvestments n joint ventures

Upon acquisition, any goodwall ansing 15 allocated to each cash
generating umt expected to benefit from the acquistion Goodwill
15 tested annually for impairment, or more frequently 1f events or
changes n circumstances indicate that 1t might be impaired An
impairment loss 1s recogmsed when the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit 15 {ess than 1ts carrying amount

On disposal of an aperation, goodwll associated with the disposed
operation 15 included n the carmying amount of the operation when
determimng the gain or loss on disposal

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired are capitalised at cost, unless acquired as
part of a business combination tn which case they are capitalised at
fair value as at the date of acquisition Followang initial recogrition,
intangible assets are carred at cost less provisions for amortisation
and wnpairment

The costs of acquinng and developing computer software for
internal use are capitalised as intangible non-current assets where 1t
15 used to support a sigmificant business system and the expenditure
leads te the creation of a durable asset

Useful hives have been established for all non-goodwill intangible
assets Amortisation charges are expensed in the income statement
on a straight-line basis gver those usefut hives Esttmated useful lives
are reviewed annually

The expected useful lives of intangible assets are generally

- customer Lists and relationships 3-20 years
- computer software 3-10 years
There are no non goodwill intangible assets with indefintte bives

Intangble assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of
impawrment exists, either individually or at the cash generating umit
level

Gains or losses ansing from derecogmition of an intangible asset are
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recogmsed n the income

statement when the asset 15 derecogmised

LIABILITIES

Payables

Trade and other creditors represent liabilities for goods and serices
provided to Brambles prior to the end of the financiat year which
remain unpaid at the reporting date The amounts are unsecured
and are pad within normal credit terms

Non current payables are discounted to present value using the
effective interest method

Provisians

Provisions for liabilities are made on the basis that, due to a past
event, the business has a constructive or legal obhigation to transfer
economic benefits that are of uncertain timing or amount
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best
estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation The discount rate used 1s a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the nsks apprepnate to the hability

Where discounting 1s used, the ncrease n the provision due to the
passage of ime 15 recognised as a ftnance cost in the tncome
statement

Interest bearing liabilities

Barrowings are imnially recogmsed at fawr vatue, net of transaction
costs incurred Borrewings are subsequentty measured at amortised
cost Any difference between the borrowing proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption amount 15 recogmsed n the
income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current habhities unless Brambles has
an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the hability for at
teast 12 months after the balance sheet date

Employee entitlements

Employee entitlements are provided by Brambles in accordance with
the legal and social requirements of the country of employment
Pnncipal entitlements are for annual leave, sick leave, long service
leave and contract entitlements Annual leave and sick leave
entitlements are presented wathin trade and other payables

Liabihties for annual leave, as well as those employee entitlements
which are expected to be settled within one year, are measured at
the amounts expected to be pard when they are settied All cther
employee entitlement babwhities are measured at the estimated
present vatue of the future cash outflows to be made 1n respect of
services provided by employees up to the reporting date

Dividends
A prowision for dividends 1s only recogmsed where the dividends
have been declared pnor to the reporting date
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Leases

Leases are classified at their inception as either operating or
finance leases based on the economic substance of the agreement
sa as to reflect the nisks and benefits incidental to ownershp

Operatmng leases

The mrimum lease payments under operating leases, where the
lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of
ownership of the leased item, are recognised as an expense on a
straight-hine basis over the term of the lease

Finance leases

Finance leases, winch effectively transfer substantially all of the
nisks and benefits inaidental to awnership of the leased item to
Brambles, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair
value of the leased asset or, if lower, present value of the mmmum
lease payments, and disclosed as property, plant and equipment
held under lease A lease labihity of equal value 15 also recogmsed

Lease paymernts are allocated between finance charges and a
reduction of the lease hability so as to achieve a constant penod
rate of tnterest on the lease hability outstanding each period The
finance charge 15 recognised as a finance cost wn the income
statement

Capitabised lease assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
estimated useful life of the assets and the lease term

Income tax

The ncome tax expense or benefit for the year 1s the tax payable or
recevable on the current year's taxable income based on the
national income tax rate for each junsdiction, adjusted by changes
in deferred tax assets and habilites attnbutable to temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabalities and thewr
carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax
losses

Deferred tax 1s accounted for using the balance sheet habiity
method 1n respect of temporary differences between the carrying
amounits of assets and ilabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax basis used 1n the computation of taxable profit,
calculated using tax rates which are enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date

Deferred tax assets are recogmsed for deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses only 1f 1t 15 probable that future
taxable arnounts will be available to utihise those temporary
differences and losses The carrying amount of deferred tax assetsis
reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that
1t 15 no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit wall be
available to allow ail or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised

Deferred tax assets and liabilibes are not recogmsed

where the deferred tax anses from the imtial recognition of an
asset or hability in a transaction that 15 not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, or

wn respect of temporary differences assotiated wath investments tn
subsidharies and joint ventures where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and 1t 15 probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse wn the foreseeable
future

Current and deferred tax attnbutable to amounts recogmsed
directly tn equity are also recogmsed directly in equity

Financial assets

Brambles classifies its financial assets 1n the following two
categones financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
loans and recewvables The classification depends on the purpase for
which the financial assets were acquired

Fmnancial assets at farr value through profit or loss
Finanoial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financiat
assets held for trading A financial asset 1s classified 1n this category
if acquired pnincipally for the purpose of selling in the short term

Loans and recervables
Loans and recervables are non-denvative financial assets with fixed
or deterrminable payments that are not quoted i an active market

Finanoial assets are recogmsed on Brambles® balance sheet when
Brambles becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument Derecognition takes place when Brambles no longer
controls the contractual nghts that compnse the financial
instrument, winch 1s normally the case when the instrument 15 sold,
or all the cash flows attnbutable to the instrument are passed
through to an independent third party

Derivatives and hedging activities

Denvative instruments used by Brambles, which are used solely for
hedging purposes (1 e to offset forewgn exchange and interest rate
nisks}, compnse interest rate swaps, caps, collars, forward rate
agreements and forward forewgn exchange contracts Such dervative
mstruments are used to alter the nsk profile of Brambles’ existing
underlying exposure 1n line with Brambles’ nsk management

pohcies

Denvative financial instruments are stated at fair value The fair
value of forward exchange contracts 1s calculated by reference to
current forward exchange rates for contracts with ssimilar matunities
at the batance sheet date The far value of interest rate swap
contracts 1s calculated as the present value of the forward cash
flows of the instrument after applying market rates and standard
valuation technmiques

For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are clasaified as
either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges or net investment
hedges

Fair value hedges

Fair value hedges are dervatives that hedge expasure to changes 1n
the fair value of a recogmsed asset or liabihty, or an unrecogmsed
firm commitment In relation to fair value hedges which meet the
candihons for hedge accounting, any gan or loss from remeasunng
the hedging instrument at fair value 1s recogmsed immediately
the income statement

Any gain or loss attnbutable to the hedged nsk on remeasurement
of the hedged item 15 adjusted against the carrying amount of the
hedged stem and recogmsed 1n the income statement Where the
adjustment 15 to the carrying amount of a hedged interest beanng
financial nstrument, the adjustment 1s amortised to the income
statement such that 1t 15 fully amortised by matunty

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued prospectively if the hedge 1s
terminated or no longer meets the hedge accounting cntena In this
case, any adjustment to the carmying amounts of the hedged tem
for the designated nisk for interest beaning financial instruments 1s
amortised to the income statement following termination of the
hedge
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Cash flow hedyges

Cash flow hedges are denvatives that hedge exposure to vanability
n cash flows that 15 esther attnbutable to a particular nsk
associated wath a recogmsed asset or latnlity, or a mghly probable
forecast transaction

In relation to cash flow hedges to hedge forecast transactions which
meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gan or
loss on the hedaing instrument that 15 determmed to be an effective
hedge 1s recogmsed n other comprehensive income and reserves n
equity and the neffective portion 1s recogmsed in the income
statement

Hedge accounting 1s discontinued when the hedging instrurnent
expires or 15 sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer qualifies for
hedge accounting

At that pawnt 0 time, any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging
nstrument recognised 11 equity 15 kept 1n equnty until the forecast
transaction accurs

If a hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net
cumulative gain or loss recogmsed 1n equity 1s transferred to net
profit or loss for the year

For all other cash flow hedges, the gains or losses that are
recogmsed 1n equity are transferred to the income statement in the
same year 1n which the hedged firm commitment affects the net
profit and loss, for example when the future sale actually occurs

When the hedged firm commitment results in the recogmition of an
asset or a hability, then, at the time the asset or hability 15
recogmsed, the associated gains or losses that had previously been
recogmsed 1n equity are included n the imtial measurement of the
acquisition ¢ost or ather carrying amount of the asset ar hability

Net investment hedges
Hedges for net investments in foreign operations are accounted for
similarly to cash flow hedges

Any gaan or 1055 on the hedging instrument that 15 determned to be
an effective hedge 15 recognised n other comprehensive ncome and
reserves 1n eguaty and the meffective portion 1s recognised in the
ncome statement

Gawns and losses accumulated i equity are included in the wcome
statement when the foreign operation 1s partially disposed or sold

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Where denvatives do not qualify for hedge accounting, gains or
losses ansing fram changes 1n thewr fair value are taken dwrectly ta
net proht or loss far the year

Contnbuted equity

Ordnary shares includng share premmum are classified as
contnbuted equity Na gain or lass 15 recogmsed n the income
statement on the purchase, sale, 1ssue or cancellation of Brambles’
own equity instruments

Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the 1ssue of new shares or

options are shown 1n equnty as a deguction from the proceeds of
1ssue

Earnmings per share (EPS)

Basic EPS 15 calculated as net profit attnbutable to members of the
parent entity, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity {other
than dwidends), divided by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element

Dituted EPS 15 calculated as net prafit attnbutable te members of
the parent entity, adjusted for

costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and preference
share diidends,

the after tax effect of dnvadends and finance costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recegnised as
expenses,

other non discretionary changes in revenues or expenses durnng
the year that would result from the dilution of potential ordinary
shares,

and divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and
dilutive potential ardinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element

EPS on Underlying profit after finance costs and tax 15 calculated as
Underiying profit after finance costs and tax attrbutable to
members of the parent entity, dvided by the weghted average
number of ¢rdinary shares, adjusted for any borus element

New accounting standards and interpretations 1ssued but
not yet apphed

At 30 June 2013, certain new accounting standards and
nterpretations have been published that will become mandatory 1n
future reporting penods Brambles has not early-adopted these new
or amended accounting standards and interpretations n 2013

AASB 9 Financial Instrumnents and AASB 2009-11 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards ansing from AASB 9 are applicable
to annuat reporting perteds beginmng on or after 1 January 2013
AASE S addresses the classification, measurement and derecogmtion
of financial assets and habilties and may affect Brambles’
accounting for financial assets and lrabilities Brambles does not
expect that this standard will have a sigmficant wmtpact on its
financial statements

AASB 10 Consoldated Financial Statements 1s applicable to annuat
reporting penods beginmng 1 January 2013 This standard
introduces a single defimtion of control that apples to all entities
The standard focuses on the need to have both power and nghts or
expasure to vanable returns for control to be established Brambles
does not expect that tins standard will have a sigmficant i/mpact on
1ts financial statements

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements s applicable to annual reporting
penods beginming 1 January 2013  AASE 11 introduces a pnnciples
based approach to accounting for Jont arrangements The focus has
shifted from the legal structure of the Jont arrangements ta how
the nghts and obhigations are shared by the parties to the joint
arrangements Brambles does not expect that thes standard will
have a sigmificant impact on its financial statements

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 15 applicable to
annual reporting penods beginming 1 January 2013 This standard
sets out the disclosure requirements of AASE 10 and AASE 11
Application of tins standard wall not impact amounts recogmsed n
the financial statements

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurements and AASB 2011 8 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards ansing from AASB 13 are applicable
to annual reporting penods beginming 1 January 2013 This standard
provides gundance on measunng fair value and aims to enhance fair
value disclosures Brambles does not expect that this standard wall
have a sigmficant impact on 1ts financial statements

v
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES -
CONTINUED

AASB 19 Employee Benefits 1s applicable to annual reporting
penods beginming on or after 1 January 2013 The revised standard
requires all remeasurements of defined benefit plan assets and
Liabilities to be recognised immedhately in other comprehensive
income 1t further requires net interest expense on net defined
benefit hatihity to be calculated using a discount rate The revised
requirements repiace the expected retum on plan assets that is
currently included n the profit or loss If this revised standard had
been applied in 2013, pre tax prafit would have been UsS2 2 million
lower pnmanly because the discount rate 1s lower than the
expected return on plan assets The net pension defiot would have
been unchanged

AASB 2011 4 Amendments to Remove Individual Key Management
Personnel Disclosure Requirements (effective 1 July 2013) The
revised standard removes the \ndividual key management personnel
{KMP) disclosure requirements from AASB 124 Related Party
Drsclosures, to achieve consistency with the intermationat equivalent
standard and remove a duplication of the requirements with the
Corporations Act 2001  While this will reduce the disclosures that
are currentty required n the notes to the finanoal statements, it
will not affect any of the amounts recogmsed in the financial
statements The amendments cannot be adopted early

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Austrabian Accounting Standard -
Offsetting Finangial Assets and Financial biabilities and AASB 2012-2
Insclosures  Offsetting Financial Assets and Finangial Liabilities
(effective 1 January 2014 and 1 January 2013 respectively) The
revised standards clanfy requirements te offset financial assets and
financiat batnlities n the balance sheet The revised requirements
are not expected to affect the accounting for any of Brambles’
current offsetting arrangements, however additional disclosures in
relation to offsetting arrangements may be required

Rounding of amcunts

As Brambies 15 a company of a land referred to in ASIC Class Order
98/100, retevant amounts n the financal statements and Directors’
Report have been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand US
dollars or, 1n certain cases, to the nearest thousand US dollars

NOTE 3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

In applyng 1ts accounting policies, Brambles has made estimates
and assumptions concerning the future, which may differ from the
related actuat outcomes Thase estimates and assumptions which
have a sigmficant nsk of causing a matenal ad)ustment to the
carmying amounts of assets and habilities wathin the next financial
year are discussed below

Irrecoverable pooling equipment provisioning

Loss or damage 15 an inherent nsk of pooling equipment operations
Brambles” pooling equipment operations around the world differ in
terms of business model, market dynamics, customer and
distnbution channel profiles, contractual arrangements and
operational details CHEP conducts audits continuously throughout
the year to confirm the existence and the condition of 1ts pooling
equtpment assets and to validate CHEP's customer hire records
Duning these audits, which take place at CHEP plants, customer sites
and other locations, pocling equipment 15 counted on a sample basis
and reconcited to the balances shown in CHEP's customer hire
records Brambles also monitors its pooling equipment operations
using detailed key performance indicators (KPIs)

The wrrecoverable pooling equipment prowision 1s deterrmined by
reference to historcal statistical data in each market, including the
outcome of audits and relevant KPIs, together with management
astimates of future equipment losses

impairment of goodwll

Brambles’ business umts undertake an impairment review process
annually to ensure that goodwll balances are not camed at
amounts that are 1n excess of their recoverable amounts The
recoverable amount of the goodwill 1n continuing operations 15
determined based on value 1n use calculatons undertaken at the
cash generating umt Yevel These calculations require the use of key
assumptions which are set out 1n Note 21

Income taxes

Brambles 15 a global company and is sub)ect to income taxes n
many junisdictions around the world Significant judgement 15
required in determiming the provision for Income taxes on a
worldwide basis There are many transactions and calculations
undertaken dunng the ordinary course of business for which the
ultimate tax determmnation 15 uncertain Brambles recognises
hiatilities for anticipated tax audit 1ssues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due Where the final tax outcome
of these matters s different from amounts provided, such
differences wilt impact the current and deferred tax provisions in
the penad 1n which such outcome 15 abtained Refer to Note 9 for
further details
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 4. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Brambles segment information 1s provided on the same basis as internal management reporting to the CEQ and reflects how Brambles 1s
orgamsed and managed

Brambles has seven reportable segments, being Pallets - Amenicas, Pallets - EMEA, Pallets - Asia Pacific (each pallet pooling businesses),
Reusable Plastic Crates (RPCs) {crate paoling buswess), Contaners (container pooling businesses), Recall information management
business) and Brambles HQ (corporate centre) Discontinued operations campnse businesses which were divested in prior years

Segment performance 1s measured on sales, Underlying Profit, cash flow from operations and Brambles Value Added (B¥A) Underlying
Profit 1s the main measure of segment profit A reconcibation between Underlying Profit and operating profit 1s set out below

Segment sales revenue 1s measured on the same basis as in the income statement Segment sales revenue s allocated to segments based
on product categones and phystcal location of the business unit that invoices the customer Intersegment revenue during the penod was
immatenal There 15 no single external customer who contnbuted more than 10% of Group sales revenue

Assets and habilities are measured consistently i segment reporting and 1n the balance sheet Assets and liabilities are allocated to
segments based on segment use and physicat locatien Cash, borrowings and tax balances are managed centrally and are not atlocated to
segments

Sales Cash flow from Brambles
revenue operations’ Value Added®

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

UsSm Ussm usém UsSm USSm usém
By operating segment
Pallets - Amencas 2,205 8 2,041 3 3118 3 272 3 1707 126 4
Pallets - EMEA 1,346 8 1,326 8 262 5 215 4 132 2 114 6
Pallets - Asia-Pacific 918 375 8 63 5 259 288 27 6
Pallets 3,944 4 3,743 9 644 3 513 6 3317 268 6
RPCs 812 8 759 5 50 7 (40 8) (36 1) (38 3)
Containers 325 7 276 6 373 292 (12 3) 43
Recall 807 0 845 0 161 7 1316 133 411
Brambles HQ - (35 0) {42 4) (26 7) (27 1)
Total Continuing 5,889 ¢ 5,625 0 859.0 591 2 269 9 248 6
By geegraphic origin
Amencas 2,817 5 2,632 4
Europe 2,083 5 2,041 4
Austraba 635 7 614 4
Gther 53 2 3368
Total 5,889 9 5,625 0

Operating Sigmficant ltems Underlying
profit® before tax* Profit*

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

usSm usSm ussSm usSm usSm ussm
By operating segment
Pallets - Amencas 414 6 346 4 {4 5) {17 2) 419 1 363 6
Pallets - EMEA 268 2 269 3 (14 2) (3 5) 282 4 274 8
Pallets - Asia-Pacific 772 757 {16) 09 78 8 76 6
Pallets 760 0 691 4 {20 3) (23 6) 780 3 7150
RPCs 138 4 109 3 {0 3) (16 2) 138 7 125 5
Containers 80 328 (0 4) 28 4 328
Recall 128 2 160 1 (16.0) (14 1} 144 2 174 2
Brambles HQ (43 4) (54 4) 90) (16 6) (34 4) (37 8)
Continuing cperations 1,011 2 939 2 {46 0) {70 5) 1,057 2 1,009 7
Discontinued operations 1.4 04 14 04
Total 1,012.6 939 6 (44 6) (70 1)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 4, SEGMENT INFORMATION - CONTINUED

Capital Depreciation
expenditure® and amortisation
2013 2012 2013 2012
ussm ussm UsSm ussSm
By operating segment
Pallets Amencas 340 8 297 9 193 8 186 7
Pallets - EMEA 236 1 2377 129 6 137 3
Pallets Asia Pacific 731 859 47 5 45 4
Pallets 6500 6215 3709 369 4
RPCs 158 2 2300 B5 5 B6 1
Containers 3313 49 1 330 330
Recall 8113 709 613 629
Brambles HQ 16 34 13 08
Total 964 4 974 9 557 0 552 2
Segment assets Segment liabilities
2013 2012 2013 2012
usém usSm ussSm ussm
By operating segment
Pallets - Amencas 2,278 3 2,1101 311 4 2751
Pallets EMEA 1,436 6 1,441 4 3300 337 6
Pallets - Asia-Pacific 412 5 449 7 215 50 4
Pallets 4,127 4 4,001 2 662 9 663 14
RPCs 1,940 7 1,755 8 461 4 4119
Containers 5019 3035 96 8 718
Recall 1,144 1 1,174 1 203 6 185 6
Brambles HQ 05 614 50 4 56 6
Total segment assets and liabshties 7,744 & 7,296 0 1,475 1 1,389 ¢
Cash and borrawings 128 9 174 2 2,843 3 2,864 1
Current tax balances 101 08 62,9 46 5
Deferred tax balances 48 2 376 545 2 505 7
Equity accounted nvestments 201 171 - -
Total assets and batilities 79519 7,545 7 4926 5 4,805 3
Non-current assets by geographic arigin®
Amencas 3,020 8 2,896 6
Europe 2,483 7 2,231 6
Austraha 551 8 5335
QOther 456 7 4751
Total 6,513 0 6,136 8

1Cash Flow from Operations 1s cash flow generated after net capital expenditure but excluding Sigmficant items that are outside the
ordinary course of business
28YA 15 a non statutery profit measure and represents the value generated over and above the cost of the capital used to generate that
value It 1s calculated using fixed 30 June 2012 exchange rates as
« Underlying Profit, plus
- Sigrificant Items that are part of the ordinary actmties of the business, less
+ Average Capital Invested, adjusted for accumulated pre-tax Sigmficant ltems that are part of the ordinary actiities of the business,
multiphied by 12%
3 Operating profit 15 segment revenue less segment expense and excludes net finance costs
1Underlying Profit 1s a non statutory profit measure and represents profit from continuing operations before finance costs, tax and
Sigmficant ltems (refer Note 6) It 15 presented to assist users of the financial statements ta better understand Brambles business results
5 Capital expenditure 15 based on an accruals basis and includes expenditure on property, plant & equipment and intangibles

¢ Non-current assets exctude financial instruments and deferred tax assets
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 5. PROFIT FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES - CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2013 2012
USSm ussm
A) REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME - CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Sales revenue 5,889 9 5,625 0
Net gans on disposals of property, plant and equipment 165 1413
Other operating tncome 128 6 128 3
Other wncome 145 1 142 &
Total income 6,0350 5,767 &
B) OPERATING EXPENSES - CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Employment casts (Nate 7) 1,096.9 1,055 &
Senvice supphers
- transport 1,047 9 993 0
- TepaTs and matntenance 3347 339
subcontractors and other serice suppliers 941 0 914 2
Raw matenals and consumables 447 4 404 &
Occupancy 339 6 3354
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 492 9 480 8
Impairment of software and property, plant and equipment 16 8 152
Irrecoverable pooling equipment provision expense 1015 100 1
Amortisatron of intangible assets and deferred expenditure
- software 233 309
- acquired intangible assets {(other than software) 318 309
- deferred expenditure 90 96
Other 147 4 1297
5,030 2 4,833 9
€) NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAINS AND LOSSES - CONTINUING OPERATIONS
Net gans ncluded w aperating profit! 03 193
Net gans included in net finance costs 59 56
62 249

! Includes a US$12 5 million foremgn exchange gain on capital repatnanan by overseas subsidanes dunng 2012 Refer Note 4 for further
details
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 6. SIGNIFICANT ITEMS - CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Sigmficant items are items of income or expense which are, either indwidually or 1n aggregate, matenal to Brambles or to the retevant

business segment and

- outside the ordinary course of business (e g gains or losses on the sale or termination of operations, the cost of sigmficant
reorganisations or restructuning), or

« part of the ordinary activities of the business but unusual due to their size and nature

Sigmficant items are disclosed to assist users of the financial statements to better understand Brambles’ business resutts

2013

usSSm
Befare After
tax Tax tax

Items outside the ordnary course of business

acquisition related costs® (4 6) - (46)
restructuring and mtegration costs” 220) 89 (13 1)
impairment of software development costs” (153) 15 (13 8)
Recall transaction costs? 41 (17 (5 8)
Sigmificant ttems from continuing operations (46 0) 87 {37 3)

2012

ussSm
Before After
tax Tax tax

Items outside the ordinary course of business

acquisition related costs® (28 04 24
restructuring and integration costs® {53 2) 16 1 (37 1)
- Recall transaction costs® (212) 28 (18 4)
- pension costs® (58) 16 42)
- foreign exchange gain on capital repatnation’ 125 . 125
Sigmficant Items from continuing operations {70 5) 209 (49 6)

* Professional fees and other transachion costs were incurred n relation to the Pallecon acquisition in 2013 and Driessen Services,
Paramount Pallet and IFCO acquisitions in 2012

® Redundancy, plant closure, ntegration and other restructunng costs of US$22 0 millicn were incurred 1n vanous countnes during the
year, net of reversal of pnaor year costs not incurred (2012 US553 2 million}

¢ Following a change 1n Recalls IT strategy, software development costs were wntten down to their recaverable values resulting in an
impawment charge of US515 3 mithon

¢ Professional fees of US$4 1 milhon were incurred duning the year n relation to the Recall demerger process (refer Note 37) Costs of
USS21 2 million, pnmanly professional fees, were incurred in 2012 1n relation to the terminated Recall divestment process

* Dunng 2012, CHEP South Afnca changed 1ts retirement plan from defined benefit to defined contrbution As required by AASB 119
Employee benefits, the actuanally-assessed value of a related enhancement in retirement benefits was treated as a past service cost
and recognised n the income statement

! Dunng 2012, capital returns were made by overseas subsidianes As required by AASB 121 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates, a partion of the accumulated foreign currency translation reserve held n relation to the averseas subsidianes were recognised in
the income statement, resulting in a US$12 5 million foreign exchange gan
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 7 EMPLOYMENT COSTS - CONTINUING OPERATIONS

2013 2012
ussSm ussm
Wages and salanes 907 6 B73 0
Social security costs 106 & 97 2
Share-based payment expense 247 25
Pension costs
- defined contnbution plans 254 236
- defined benefit plans (13 82
Other post-employment benefits 339 331
1,096 9 1,055 6
2013 2012
The average menthly number of employees in continuing operations was
Paltets 11,365 10,629
RPCs 996 914
Contaners 695 420
Recall 4,871 4,952
Brambles HQ 110 106
18,037 12,021
NOTE 8. NET FINANCE COSTS
2013 2012
UsSSm Ussm
Finance revenue
Bank accounts and short term deposits 1.7 28
Denvative financtial nstruments 162 156
Other 24 31
20,3 215
Finance costs
Interest expense on bank loans and borrowings (125 6) {156 3)
Benvative financial instruments a3 (37}
Other (43) (11 5)
(131 2) {173 5)
Net finance costs (110 9) {152 0)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 9. INCOME TAX

2013 2012
usSm ussm
A) COMPONENTS OF TAX EXPENSE
Amounts recognised in the income statement
Current income tax - continuing operations
ncome tax charge 222 4 2030
prior year adjustments {4 2) (367)
218 2 166 3
Deferred tax - continuing operations
ongination and reversal of temporary differences 58 2 40 3
- previously unrecogmsed tax losses {14 2) {16 9)
- pnor year adjustments {(18) 26
42 2 460
Tax expense - continning operations 260 4 2123
Tax expense/(benefit) - discontinued operations {Nate 12) 07 (10
Tax expense recegmsed in the income statement 261 1 211 3
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
- on actuanal losses on defined benefit pension plans {24) (5 4)
- on losses on revaluation of cash flow hedges 07 17
Tax expense/{benefit) recogmised directly w the statement of comprehensive income (17 37
B) RECONCILIATION BETWEEN TAX EXPENSE AND ACCOUNTING PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Profit before tax - contmang operations 900 3 787 2
Tax at standard Austrahan rate of 30% (2012 30%) 270 1 236 2
Effect of tax rates 1n other yunsdictions (25 3) (37 5)
Prior year adjustments {6 0) (16 4)
Current year tax losses not recognised 11 4 129
Foreign withhelding tax unrecoverable 95 490
Non deductible expenses 129 228
Pnor year tax losses recouped/recogmsed (14 2) 16 9)
Other 20 712
Tax expense - continuing operations 260 4 2123
Tax expense/{benefit) - discontinued operations (Note 12) a7 1m
Total income tax expense 261 1 21113
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 9 INCOME TAX - CONTINUED
2013 2012
ussm us$m

C) COMPONENTS OF AND CHANGES IN DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred tax assets shown in the balance sheet are represented by cumulative temporary differences attnbutable to

items recognised through the income statement

Employee benefits 308 17.0
Provisions 46 4 364
Losses available against future taxable income 275 2 2895
Other 44 9 565

397 3 199 4

[tems recognised directly in equity

Actuanal losses on defined benefit pension plans 149 187
Cash flow hedges 02 39
Share-based payments 136 36

287 2612
Set-off against deferred tax habihities (377 8) {388 0)
Net deferred tax assets 48 2 76

Changes in deferred tax assets were as follows

At 1 July 376 363
(Charged)/credited to the income statement 281 65 4
(Charged)/credited directly to equity (8 8) 64
Offset aganst deferred tax hambhes {10y 9312)
Acquisition of subsichary 03 -
Currency vanations 02 (73
At 30 June 48 2 376

Deferred tax assets are recogmsed for carmed forward tax lasses to the extent that the reabsation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits 1s probable At reporting date, Brambles has unused tax losses of US$1,301 5 million (2012 US$1,298 5 million)
avarlable for offset agawnst future profits A deferred tax asset has been recognmsed in respect of USSE52 0 mithron (2092 USSE77 0 mittion)
of such losses

The benefit for tax losses will only be obtamned if

- Brambles denves future assessable wmecome of a nature and of an amount suffictent to enable the benefit from the deductions for the
losses to be realised,

- Brambles continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legisiation, and
- no changes 1n tax legisiation adversely affect Brambles in reahising the benebit from the deductions for the losses

No deferred tax asset has been recogmsed in respect of the remaining unused tax losses of US5449 5 milhon (2012 US5421 5 million) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams in the relevant junsdictions Tax losses of US5563 4 million, winch have been recogmsed in
the balance sheet, will expire between 2014 and 2032 All other losses may be carned forward indefiutely
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
far the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 9. INCOME TAX - CONTINUED
2013 2012
ussm ussm

D) COMPONENTS AND CHANGES IN DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Deferred tax habilities shown in the batance sheet are represented by cumulative temporary differences attnbutable to

ltems recognised through the income statement

Accelerated depreciatien for tax purposes 786 4 751 9
Other 132.2 140 5
918 6 892 4

Items recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

Actuanal gains on defined benefit pension plans [ ) 13
Cash flow hedges 3.8 -

4.4 113
Set off against deferred tax assets (377 8) (388 Q)
Net deferred tax habilities 545 2 5057

Changes 1n deferred tax hiabilities were as follows

At 1 July 505.7 529 1
Charged to the income statement 71.3 111 4
{Credited)/charged directly to equity {16 6) 15
Acquisition of subsidhary 33 {31 8)
Offset aganst deferred tax asset (10 2) 63 2)
Currency vanations {8 3) (41 2)
At 30 June 545 2 5057

At reporting date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistnbuted earmngs of subsidiaries for which
deferred tax habihities have not been recogmsed in the consobidated financial statements was US$966 2 milion (2012 USS508 2 million)
No bability has been recogmsed for these temporary differences because Brambles controls whether there 1s a labibity 1n relation to
distributions from 1ts subsidianes and 1s satisfied that there 1s no hability in the foreseeable future

E) TAX CONSOLIDATION

Brambles Limited and 1ts Australian subsidianes formed a tax consolidated group i 2006 Brambles Limited, as the head entity of the tax
consobidated group, and its Australian subsidianes have entered into a tax sharing agreement 1n order to allocate wmcome tax expense The
tax shanng agreement uses a stand-alone basis of allocation Consequently, Brambles Limited and 1ts Australian subsidiaries account for
ther own current and deferred tax amounts as 1f they each continue to be taxable entities w1 their own nght In addition, the agreement
provides funding rules setting out the basis upon which subsidianes are to indernmfy Brambles Limited in respect of tax habilities and the
methodology by which substdianes tn tax loss are ta be compensated

Brambies Annual Report 2013 Page 79




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2013 2012

US cents US cents
Earmngs per share
- basic 412 389
- diluted 40 9 386
From continuing operations
- basic 411 k- )
- dituted 409 385
- basic, on Underlysng Profit after finance costs and tax 435 421
From discontinued operations
- basic 01 01
- diluted - 01

Performance share nights and MyShare matching conditional nghts granted under Brambles share plans are considered to be potential
ordinary shares and have been included in the determination of diluted earmings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive

Details are set out in Note 28

2013 2012
mithon million
A) WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES DURING THE YEAR
Used 1n the catculation of basic earmngs per share 1,555 7 1,482 3
Adyustment far share nghts a2 90
Used in the calculation of diluted earmings per share 1,565 9 1,491 3
2013 2012
ussm ussm
B) RECONCILIATIONS OF PROFITS USED IN EPS CALCULATIONS
Statutory profit
Profit from continuing operations 6399 5749
Profit from discontinued operations 07 14
Profit used in calculating basic and diluted €PS 640.6 576 3
Underlying Profit after finance costs and tax
Underlying Profit (Note 4} 1,057.2 1,009 7
Net finance costs (Note 8) (110 9) (152 Oy
Underlying Profit before tax 946 3 857 7
Tax expense on Underiying Profit {269 1) 233 2)
Undertying Profit after finance costs and tax 677 2 624 5
which reconciles to statutory profit
Underiying Profit after finance costs and tax 677 2 6245
Significant Items after tax (Note 6) (37 3) (49 6)
Profit from continuing operations 6399 5749
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 11. DIVIDENDS
A) DIVIDENDS PAID DURING THE YEAR

Interim
2013

Dmadend per share (in Austrabian cents) 135
Franked amount at 30% tax {in Austrahian cents) 41
Cost (3n USS milticn) 2152
Payment date 11 Apnil 2013

Final
2012

30

39

103

11 October 2012

8) DIVIDEND DECLARED AFTER REPORTING DATE

Dwidend per share (in Austrahian cents)
Franked amount at 30% tax {in Austrabian cents)
Cost {in USS mllion)

Payment date

Dwidend record date

Final
2013

135

41

193 8

10 October 2013

13 September 2013

As this dividend had not been declared at the reporting date, 1t 1s not reflected in these financial statements

C) FRANKING CREDITS
2013
UsSm

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on a tax rate of 30% 718

2012
usSm

875

The amounts above represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the year, adjusted for

- franking credits that will anse from the payment of the current tax habibity,

- franking debits that will anse from the payment of dividends recogmsed as a liability at the reporting date,

- franking credits that will arse from dmadends recogmsed as recervables at the reporting date, and
franking crecits that may be prevented from being distnbuted in subsequent financial years

The final 2013 dwidend has been franked at 30%
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 12, DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Discontinued operations pnmanly comprise net adjustments to divestment provisions Finanoa! information relating to discontinued
operations is summansed below

2013 2012
ussm ussm
Profit before tax 14 04
Tax {expense)/benefit on 10
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 07 14
Net cash outflow from operating activities (10) (10

NOTE 13. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
ACQUISITIONS

A) Pallecon
On 28 December 2012, Brambles obtained control of Pallecon, a leading provider of IBCs (Intermediate Bulk Containers) in Europe and
Asia-Pacific, for consideration of €136 mullion

The fair value of the Pallecon assets acquired, habiities assumed and goodwill were as follows, based on preliminary acquisition
accounting data which will be finalised by December 2013

2013
usém
Purchase consideration 179 2
Less fair value of net 1dentifiable assets acquired (51 7)
Goodwnll (at acquisibion date) 1275

The goodwill acqurred 1s attnbutable to the profitability of the acquired business and anticipated synergies with Brambles existing
Contawners operations, as well as benefits denved from the acquired worlforce and other intangible assets that cannot be separately
recogmsed

On acquisition of Pallecon, assets acquired and Liabiities assumed were

Fair value

usSm

Cash 16
Receivables 112
Inventones 46
Property, plant and equipment 340
Intangibles 187
Other assets 05
706

Trade and other payables 100
Borrewings 20
Deferred taxes 31
Other habilities 18
189

Net assets 517
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 13. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - CONTINUED

2013
ussm
Cash oytflow on acquisition of Pallecon was as follows
Purchase consideration 179 2
Less cash acquired (1 6)
Net cash outflow 177 6
B) Other
In addition to the Pallecon acquisition, there were other minar acquisitions in 2013 with immatenal mpact
MOTE 14. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2013 2012
ussm ussm
Cash at bank and n hand 98 8 143 4
Short term deposits 301 308
128 9 174 2

Cash and cash equivalents include balances of US$3 2 mllion (2012 USS5 7 million) used as secunty for vanaus contingent Liabibties and1s
not readily accessible Short term deposits have imitial matunties varying between 7 days and 3 months

Refer to Note 30 for other financial instruments disclosures

NOTE 15 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade receivables 899 7 B26 9

Provision for doubtful receivables (A) {27 9) {21 3)

Net trade recewvables 8718 805 6

QOther debtars 1252 146 4

Accrued and unbilled revenue 127.2 102 B
1,124 2 1,054 8

Non-current

Other recewvables 92 85

A) PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are non interest beanng and are generatly on 30 90 day terms A prowvision for doubtful recevables 1s established when
there 15 a level of uncertatnty as to the full recaverability of the recewvable, based on cbjective evidence A provision of Uss10 1 mlhon
(2012 USS7 7 million) has been recogmsed as an expense 1n the current year for specific trade and other recewvables for which such
evidence axists

Movements i the provision for doubtful recervables were as follows

At 1 July 213 18 4
Charge for the year 101 77
Amounts wntten off {41) 39
Acquisition of subsidianes 06 10
Forengn exchange differences - (19
At 30 June 279 213
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES - CONTINUED

2013 2012
Usém UsSm

At 30 June, the ageing analysis of trade recervables by reference to due dates was as follows
Not past due 618 0 595 4
Past due 0-30 days but not impared 170 4 1317
Past due 31-60 days but not impaired 458 374
Past due 61 90 days but not impatred 113 102
Past 90 days but not impatred 261 309
Impaired 279 213
a99 7 826 9

At 30 June 2013, trade receivables of US5253 8 million (2012 USS230 2 milhon) were past due but not doubtful These trade recewvables
comprise customers who have a good debt history 2nd are considered recoverable

At 30 June 2013, trade receivables of USS27 9 million ¢2012 L5521 3 millign} were considered to be i/mpaired A prowision of
LSS27 9 mitbon (2012 USS521 3 million) has been recogmsed for doubtful recewables

Other debtors pnmanly compnse GST/VAT recoverable, loss compensation recervables and certan balances ansing from cutside Brambles
ordinary business actmies, such as deferred proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment

At 30 June 2013, other debtors of U5596 7 rllion (2012 USS77 6 million) were past due but not considered to be impared No speofic
collection 1ssues have been identified with these receivables  An ageing of these recewvables was as follows

Past due 0-30 days but not impaired 297 118
Past due 31 60 days but not 1mpaired 16 44
Past due 61.90 days but not impaired 18 30
Past 90 days but not impaired 63 6 58 4

96 7 776

At 30 June 2013, there were no balances within other debtors that were considered to be impaired (2012 ml} Ho provision has been
recognised {2012 nmil)

Refer to Note 30 for other financial instruments disclosures

NOTE 16. INVENTORIES

2013 2012
ussSm USSm
Raw matenals and consumables 380 348
Waork 1n progress 02 03
Fimshed goods 180 131
56 2 482
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2013 2012 2013 2012

ussm USSm Ussm usém

Current assets Current habilities

Interest rate swaps cash flow hedges R 05 10
Interest rate swaps  fair value hedges 97 83 - -
Forward foreign exchange contracts cash flow hedges 0.3 01 - 01
Forward foreign exchange contracts hetd for trading 0.4 01 90 19
Embedded denvatives 05 04 - -
109 B9 95 50

Non-current assets Non-current liabilities
Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges - - 08
Interest rate swaps - far value hedges 98 190 . .

Embedded denvatives - . . R

98 190 . D8
Refer to Note 30 for other finangial instruments disclosures
NOTE 18 OTHER ASSETS
2013 2012
ussm ussm
Current
Prepayments 506 45 4
Current tax recevable 10 1 20 8
60 7 66 2
Non-current
Prepayments 26 30
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 19. INVESTMENTS
A) JOINT VENTURES

Brambles has wwestments i the fallowang unbisted yontly controlled entities, which are accounted for using the equity method

% interest held
at reporting date

Place of June June
Name (and nature of business) incorporation 2013 2012
CISCO  Total Information Management Pte Limited (Information management) Singapore 49% 49%
Recall Becker GmbH & Co KG (Document management services) Germany 50% 50%
IFCQ Japan Inc (RPC pooling business) Japan 13% 3%
2013 2012
UsSm Ussm
B) MOVEMENT IN CARRYING AMOUNT OF INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES
At 1 July 171 16 8
Share of results after incame tax {Nate 19C) 64 55
Dwadends recewved freceivable (3 5) 42)
Foreign exchange differences 01 (10)
At 30 June 201 71
2013 2012
usSm UsSm
C) SHARE OF RESULTS OF JOINT VENTURES
Trading revenue 2913 157
Expenses (21 0) (30
Profit from ordinary activities before tax B3 67
Tax expense gn ordinary activities {19) (12)
Profit for the year 64 55
D) SHARE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF JOINT YENTURES
Current assets 82 78
Non-current assets 68 47
Total assets 350 325
Current habibties 91 95
Non current habihities 58 59
Total habthties 149 154
Net assets 201 171
E) SHARE OF COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES OF JOINT VENTURES
Contingent babhhities 06 06
Capital commitments 02 16
Lease commitments 40 35
Tatal 4.8 5.7
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 20. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Land and Plant and
buildings equipment Tatal
usSm Usém ussm

At 1 July 2011
Cost 182 5 6,986 2 7,168 7
Accumulated depreciation (75 7) (2,814 0) {2,889 7)
Net carrying amount 106 8 4,172 2 4,279 0
Year ended 30 June 2012
Opening net carrying amount 106 8 4,172 2 4,279 0
Addons M6 899 5 9211
Acquisition of subsidhanes 35 50 85
Fair value adjustment of prior year acquisition - 51 51 1)
Dispeosals (2 8) (70 0) (72 8)
Disposal of subsidianes - 02) {0 2)
Other transfers 12 (98) 14
Depreciation charge (9 0) (471 B) {480 8)
Impairment of pooling equipment (15 2) {15 2)
lrrecoverable pooling eguipment provision expense {100 1) (100 1)
Foreign exchange differences (14 6) {336 6) (351 2)
Closing net carrying amount 116 7 4,021 9 4,138 6
At 30 June 2012
Cost 2007 6,643 4 6,844 1
Accurmulated depreciation (84 Q) (2,621 5) (2,705 5)
Net carmynng amount 1167 4,021 9 4,138 6
Year ended 30 June 2013
Opening net carmymng amount 116 7 4,021 9 4,138 6
Additions 12.9 914 8 927 7
Acquisition of subsidianes 16 321 337
Dispasals (1 6) (88 6) (90 2)
Depreciation charge (8 8) (484 1) (492 9)
Imparment of pocling equipment - {(15) (15)
Irrecoverable pooling equipment prowvision expense - {101 5) (101 5)
Foretgn exchange differences 15 {7 5) (6 0)
Closing net carrying amount 122 3 4,285 6 4,407 9
At 30 June 2013
Cost 212 4 7,157 3 7,369 7
Accumulated depreciation {90 1) (2,871 7) {2,961.8)
Net carmmying amount 1221 4,285 6 4,407 9

The net carnpng amounts above include plant and equipment held under finance lease US522 7 mitlien (2012 US338 5 milhon), teasehold
improvements U$$22 6 million (2012 USS$25 7 million), and capital work in progress US$45 7 million (2012 USS$54 0 milhon)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 21. GOODWILL

2013 2012
Us$m ussm
A) NET CARRYING AMOUNTS AND MOVEMENTS DURING THE YEAR
At 1 July
Carmying amount 1,607 4 1,654 3
Year ended 30 June
Opening nat carrying amount 1,607 4 1,694 3
Acquisition of subsidhares 122 8 19 4
Foreign exchange differences 65 {106 3)
Closing net carrying amount 1,736 7 1,607 4
At 30 June
Gross carrying amount 1,736 7 1,607 4
Accumulated impairment -
Net carrying amount 1,736 7 1,607 4

B) SEGMENT-LEVEL SUMMARY OF NET CARRYING AMOUNT
Goodwill acqguired through business combinations 1s allocated to cash generating units (CGU}, which are the smallest identifiable
groupings of Brambles cash generating assets A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation 1s presented as follows

Pallets - Amencas 3170 3180
Pallets - EMEA 371 373
Paliets - Asia-Pacific 28 6 298
Pallets 3827 3851
RPCs 678 5 658 7
Contamers 169 8 47 7
Recall 5057 5159
Total goodwill 1,736 7 1,607 4

C) RECOVERABLE AMOUNT TESTING - CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The recoverable amount of goodwill 1s determined based on value in use calculations undertaken at the CGU level The value s use 1s
calculated using a discounted cash flow methodology covering a 10 year penod with an appropnate terminal value at the end of that
penod Based on the impairment testing, the carrying amounts of goodwsll in the CGUs related te continuing operations at reporting date
were fully supported The key assumpttons on which management has based 1ts cash flow projections were

Cash flow forecasts

Cash flow forecasts are based on the most recent financial projections covering a maxemum penod of five years Cash flows beyond that
penod are extrapolated using estimated growth rates Financial projections are based on assumptions that represent management s best
estimates

Growth rates

Average growth rates beyond the penod covered in the financial projections were Pallets - Amencas 5 0%, RPCs 2 6%, Containers 4 8%
and Recall 2 5% (2012 Pallets Amencas 2 7%, RPCs 2 5% and Recall 2 5%) They are based on management s expectations for future
performance

Terminal value
The terminal value calculated after year 1015 determmned using the stable growth model, having regard to the weighted average cost of
capital and terrmnal growth factor appropnate to each CGU

Discount rates

Discount rates used are the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (WACC) and include a premium for market nsks appropnate to each
coeuntry 1n which the CGU operates WACCs ranged between 8 4% and 19 9% (average rates Pallets Amencas 11 2%, RP(Cs 10 1%,
Contaners 9 7% and Recall 11 4%) WACCs for 2012 ranged between 9 7% and 21 2% (average rates Pallets - Amencas 11 5%, RPCs 10 0%
and Recall 11 8%)

Sensitivity
Any reasonable change to the above key assumptions would not cause the carrying vatue of the CGU to matenally exceed its recoverable
amount
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 22 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Software Other’ Total
USém UsSm uUsSm

At 1 July 2011
Gross carrying amount ins 434 0 805 5
Accumulated amortisation (285 2) (116 6) (401 8)
Net carrying amount 863 317 4 4037
Year ended 30 June 2012
Operning carrying amount B6 3 N7 4 403 7
Additons 348 190 538
Acquisition of subsidiares 56 56
Dispasals 03 07 {10)
Dsposal of subsichanes {0 3} 03
Amortisation charge (309 (40 5) {71 4)
Foreign exchange differences (] (26 5) (28 2)
Clostng carrying amount 88 2 274 0 362 2
At 30 June 2012
Gross carrying amount 402 0 418 5 8205
Accumulated amortisation (313 8) (144 5) (458 3)
Net carrying amount 88 2 2740 362 2
Year ended 30 June 2013
Opening carrying amount 88 2 274.0 362 2
Additions 245 12.2 367
Acquisition of subsidianes 03 16 & 169
Disposals (2 1) {0 5) {2 &)
Amortisation charge {23 3) (40 B) (64.1)
Impairment charge (15 3) - {15 3)
Foreign exchange differences 08 19 27
Closing carrying amount 731 263 4 3365
At 30 June 2013
Gross carnying amount 419 0 439 2 858.2
Accumulated amortisation (345 9) (175 8) (521 7)
Net carmynng amount 731 263 4 336 5

' Qther intangible assets primarity compnse acquired customer relationships, customer lists and agreements
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013
NOTE 23, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2013 2012
UsSm Ussm
Current
Trade payables 469 ¢ 458 5
GST/VAT, refundable deposits and other payables 417 2 365 6
Accruals and deferred income 367 3 3527
1,253 5 1,176 8
Non-current
Other habilities 2413 271
Trade payables and other current payables are non-interest beanng and are generzlly settled on 30 90 day terms
Refer to Note 30 for other financial tnstruments disclosures
NOTE 24, BORROWINGS
Current
Unsecured
- bank overdraft 539 215
- bank loans’ 39 n7
- gan notes® 3313
- accrued interest on loan notes? 344 224 221
- finance lease itabilities (Note 32) 117 165
- other loans .7 4.6
156 9 86 4
Non-current
Unsecured
- bank loans' 934 4 1,000 6
- loan notes? ¥4 5°¢ 1,740 6 1,753 3
- finance lease Liabilities (Note 32) 110 220
- other loans 04 18
2,686 4 2,777 7
Total borrowings 2,843 13 2,864 1

! Unsecured bank loans include the following (1) revolving loans fn vanous currencies priced off LIBOR and drawn under multi currency global banking
facilities with a range of matunities out to November 2017, and (i) vanous regional banking facilities prowding lecal currency funding to certain
subsidiarfes Included in bank loans are borrowings of US5456 2 mulllon (2012 US5436 0 miltion) which have been designated as a hedge of the net
investment 1n Brambles Eurapean subsidiaries and are being used to partially hedge Brambles exposure to fareign exchange risks on these investments

~

Notes issued in August 2004 in respect of US5425 0 mitlion US private placement of which US$171 0 million was redeemed 1n August 2011 The terms of the

outstanding notes are (1) Series B LIS$157 5 million 5 77% Guaranteed Senicr Unsecured Notes due 4 August 2014 and (1) Series C US596 5 million 5 94%

Guaranteed Senfor Unsecured Notes due 4 August 2016

-

Notes issued in May 2009 in respect of US5110 0 rmillion US private placement The terms of the note are (1) Serles A US535 0 milhon 7 29% Guaranteed

Senior Unsecured Notes due 7 May 2014, (i} Serles B USS55 0 mllion 7 83% Guaranteed Senior Unsecured Notes due 7 may 2016, and (i) Sertes C

US520 0 miltion 8 23% Guaranteed Senlor Unsecured Notes due 7 May 2019

-

Notes fssued in March 2010 ta qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 1444 and Regulation § of the United States Secunties Act The terms of

the notes are (i} US$250 0 million 3 95% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 1 April 2015, and {fi} USS500 ¢ milion 5 35% Guaranteed Sentor Notes due 1 April

2020

3 US5450 0 million of loan notes have been hedged with interest rate swaps for fair value risk. in accordance with AASS 139, the carrying value of the notes
have been adjusted to increase debt by U517 1 mllion (2012 U5S25 1 million} in relation to changes in fair value attnibutable to the hedged nsk

* Notes bsued 1n April 2011 in the Eurapean bond market in respect of €500 0 million of 4 625% Guaranteed Senior Notes due 20 Apnil 2018

Refer to Note 30 for other financial instruments disclosures
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 24, BORROWINGS - CONTINUED

2013 2012
uSSm ussm
A) BORROWING FACILITIES AND CREDIT STANDBY ARRANGEMENTS
Total facilities
- committed borrowang facilities 2,193 1 2,272 8
- loan notes 1,764 8 1,736 0
- credit standby/uncommitted/everdraft arrangements 2800 240 9
4,238 1 42497
Facihities used at reporting date '
- committed borrowing facilities 969.1 1,049 7
- loan notes 1,764.8 1,736 0
- crecht standby/uncommitted/overdraft arrangements 78 0 395
2,811 9 2,825 2
Facilities available at reporting date
committed borrowing facilities 1,224 2 1,2231
credit standby/uncammtted/overdraft arrangements 202 0 201 4
1,426 2 1,424 5

Funding 1s generally sourced from relationship banks and debt capital market investors on a medium to long term basis The expiry dates
of committed borrowing facihities range out to November 2017 with loan notes having matunties out to Apnl 2020 The average term to
matunty of the committed borrowing facihities and the loan notes 15 equivalent to 3 &6 years (2012 3 7 years) These facilities are
unsecured and are guaranteed as described 1n Note 38B

B) BORROWING FACILITIES MATURITY PROFILE

usém
Total Facilities Facilities
Maturity Type facilities used’ availabte
2013
Less than 1 year  Bank loans/loan notes/overdrafts/finance leases/other toans 333 7 133.8 199 9
1 -2 years Bank loans/loan notes/finance lzases/other loans 868 0 490 3 177 7
2 - 3 years Bank loans/loan notes/finance leases 950 4 479 1 471 3
3 - 4 years Bank loans/loan notes/finance leases 585 1 449 5 135 6
4 - 5 years Bank loans/loan notes 980 9 739 2 241 7
Over 5 years Loan notes 520 0 5200 -
4,238 1 2,811 9 1,426 2
2012
Less than 1 year  Bank loans/overdrafts/finance leases/other loans 277 2 612 2140
1 2years Bank loans/loan notes/finance leases/other loans 1,042 2 3795 662 7
2 3years Bank loans/loan notes/finance leases 890 & 577 5 3133
3 4years Bank loans/loan notes/finance leases 524 4 383 8 140 6
4 5 years Bank loans/locan notes/finance leases 3731 2792 939
COver 5 years Loan notes 1,142 0 1,142 Q
4,249 7 12,8252 1,424 5

! Facthties used represents the principal value of loan notes and borrowings drawn against the relevant fachibes to reflect the correct
amount of funding headroom This ameunt differs by US531 4 million (2012 US$38 9 milhion) from toan notes and borrowings as shown

In the balance sheet which are measured on the basis of amorhised cost as determined under the effective nterest method and
include accrued interest, transaction costs and fair value adjustments on certan hedging instruments
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 25 PROVISIONS

Employee Business
entitlements disposals Other Tatal

UsSm UsSm UsSm usSm
At 1 July 2012
Current 661 o9 231 96 1
Mon-current 94 16 19 4 304

755 25 425 120 5
Charge to mncome statement
Additional provisions 64 5 - 17 1 816
Utibsation of provision (45 1) {0 4) (20 9) (66 4)
Acquisition of subsidianes 10 - 28 38
Currency vanations (22) - 07 (2.9)
At 30 June 2013 93.7 21 40 8 136 6
Current B4 5 09 25 4 1108
Non-current 92 12 15 4 258

Employee entitlements prowsion compnses Li$$20 4 milion (2012 US$19 8 millicn) for long sennce leave, USS2 3 milhion (2012

US$1 8 milhon) for phantom shares and US$71 C million {2012 US$53 9 mutbion) for bonuses and other employee related obligations (other
than those resutting from pension plans) Nene of these amounts related to phantom shares which had vested at reporting date

USS11 6 million (2012 USS10 8 million) of the long service leave provision has been recogrused as current as it 1s expected to be settled
within one year from reporting date The remaiming balance of long sennce leave of USS8 8 milhon (2012 USS9 0 million) 15 expected to
settle within the next two to ten years and has been discounted to present value

Business dispasals provision 1s in respect of divestments completed i 2007 and pnor years

Gther provisions compnse US522 8 million (2012 US536 4 million) for restructunng and integration costs, US$12 0 mithon (212
USS6 1 million) for itigation and customer disputes and USS6 0 rmillion (2012 mil) for other known exposures
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

A) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS

Brambles operates a number of defined contnbution retirement benefit plans for qualifying employees The assets of these plans are held
n separately admimstered trusts or insurance policies In some countnes, Brambles' employees are members of state managed
retirement benefit plans Brambles 15 required to contnbute a specified percentage of payrolt costs to the retirement benefit plan to fund
berefits The only obligation of Brambtes with respect to defined contnbution retirement benefit plans 1s to make the specified
contnbutions

US$25 4 million (2012 U5$23 6 miltion) representing contnbutions paid and payable to these plans by Brambles at rates specified in the
rules of the plans relating to continuing aperations has been recogmised as an expense n the income statement

B) DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

Brambles operates a number of defined benefit pension plans, which are ctosed to new entrants The majonty of the plans are self
administered and the plans’ assets are held independently of Brambles finances Under the plans, members are entitled to retirement
benefits based upon a percentage of final salary No other post-retirement benefits are provided The plans are funded plans

Dunng 2012, four ptans operating 1n the Umted Kingdom, Ireland and South Afnica were closed to future accrual One plan in the Umted
Kingdom retatned the link between benefits and salary for members still 1n employment, but for the others the ink was broken In South
Afnca, the rebrement obligations changed from defined benefit to defined contnbution for all members still in employment

The plan assets and the present value of the defined benefit obligation recogmsed 1n Brambles balance sheet are based upon the most
recent formal actuarial valuations which have been updated to 30 June 2013 by independent professionally qualified actuanes and take
account of the requirements of AASB 119 The present value of the defined benefit abligation and the past service cost were measured
using the projected umt credit method

In addition to the pnncipal defined benefit plans included 1n disclosures below, Brambles has a number of other arrangements 1n several
countries that are either defined benefit pension plans or have certain defined benefit charactenstics Each of these arrangements has
been assessed as immatenal separately and in aggregate and they have not been subjected to an independent AASB 119 valuation

C) BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS
The amounts recogmsed n Brambies balance sheet \n respect of defined benefit plans were as follows

2013 2012
us$m ussm
Present value of defined benefit obligations 257 3 249 5
Fair value of plan assets (206 1) (190 7)
Net hability recogmised in the balance sheet 512 58 8

Brambles has no legal obligation to settie this hability with an immediate contnbution or additional one off contnbutions Brambles
ntends to continue to make contrbutions to the plans at the rates recommended by the funds actuanes Refer Note 26(1)

D) INCOME STATEMENT AMOUNTS
The amounts recogmsed 1n Brambles income statement 1n respect of defined benefit plans were as follows

Current service cost 05 13
Interest cost 100 11
Past service cost (22) 61
Expected return on plan assets (9 6) {10 1)
Changes ansing from curtallments and settiements - 02
Net {benefit)/expense included n employment cost (Note 7) (13) 82

E) STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Actuznal {losses)/gains reported 1n the consolidated statement of comprehensive income {11 1) {197)

Cumulative actuanal losses recogmsed {35 2) (24 1)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - CONTINUED
F) DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION

2013 2012

ussm ussm
Changes 1n the present value of the defined benefit cbligation were as follows
At 1 July 249 5 239 6
Current service cost 05 13
Past service cost {22) 61
Interest cost 100 1
Contributions from plan members - 03
Actuanal gains and losses 171 142
Currency vanations (113) (19 3)
Benefits pard (8 2) 67
Curtailments - 02)
Acquisition of subsidanes 08 -
Defined contnbution movements' 11 31
At 30 June 257 3 249 5
! In 2012, a portion of the defined benefit obhigation and assets wn the South African pension plan was re-designated as defined
contnbution  The defined contnbution movements compnse employer contnbutions paid and expensed of US$1 5 milben {2012
US$1 2 mithon), investment returns of 1552 1 millon (2012 USS1 7 million) and other movements of USS0 3 million (2012
USS0 2 milhony, offset by benefts pard of USS2 8 mithion {2012 mi)
G) PLAN ASSETS

Fair value Fair value
UsSm % ussm %
Assets held 1n the plans fell withan the following categones
Equities 97 2 47 2 70 4 369
Bonds/glts 38 2 185 421 221
Insurance bonds 55 27 48 25
Cash 511 248 56 9 298
Other 141 68 165 87
206 1 100 0 190 7 1000

2013 2012

usSm ussm
Changes 1n the fawr value of the plan assets were as follows
At 1 July 190 7 2022
Expected return on plan assets 96 101
Actuanal gains and losses 60 {35)
Currency vanations {11 1) (19 0)
Contnbutions from sponsonng employers 180 62
Contnbutrons from plan members - 03
Benefits pad 8 2) 67)
Defined contrnibution movements 11 31
At 30 June 206 1 190 7

The actual return on plan assets was LJS515 6 milhon (2012 US$4 6 million)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 26 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - CONTINUED

H) PRINCIPAL ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS
Principal actuanat assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) used 1in determining Brambles defined benefit obligations were

Europe
other South
UK than UK Africa
At 30 June 2013
Rate of increase n salanes 2 3% 3 3% -
Rate of increase in penstons 3% 2 7% 6 0%
Discount rate 4 T% 12% 7 4%
Retail prrce inflation 2 6% 20% 6 0%
Return on equities 8 0% 6 5% -
Return an bonds 4.2% 31% -
Return on cash 1.0% 13% 5 5%
At 30 June 2012
Rate of increase 1n salanes 2 0% 33% 8 0%
Rate of increase n penstons 3 4% 27% 6 0%
Dhscount rate 4 8% 37% 8 0%
Retail pnce inflation 2 1% 2 0% 6 0%
Return on equities 8 0% & 8% -
Return on bonds 4 8% 3 4% -
Return on cash 10% 20% 5 5%

The expected return on plan assets 1s based on market expectations at the beginming of the penod for returns over the entire hfe of the
benefit obligation

1) EAPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS
Employer contnbutions to the main defined benefit pians as a percentage of pensionable pay ceased fram 1 October 2011 when the plans
closed to future accrual

The obligation to contribute to the vanous defined benefit plans 1s covered by trust deeds and/or legislation Funding levels and
contributions for these plans are based on actuanial advice Comprehensive actuanal valuations are made at no more than three yearly
intervals Additional annual contnbutions of USS4 4 milhion (2012 USS4 5 million) are being paid to remove the 1dentified deficits over a
penod of ¢ years

Contnbutions paid te the plans dunng 2013 were US$18 0 milion (2012 USS6 2 million), all of which related to continuing operations It is
estimated that the amount of contnbutions to be paid to the plans dunng 2014 wall be US$6 3 million
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS - CONTINUED
J) HISTORICAL SUMMARY

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

UsSm UsSSm ussm ussm usSm
The history of the defined benefit plan deficit at the end of each year is as follows
- plan habilities {257 3) (249 5) (239 6) (211 1) (196 Q)
- plan assets 206 1 190 7 202 2 160 7 145 2
Net hability recogmsed i the balance sheet (51 2) (58 8) (37 4) (50 4) (50 8)
The history of favourable/{unfavourable) expenence adjustments made 1n each year 1s as follows
- on plan liabihities {17 1) {14 2) 212 (19 3) 23 4
- on plan assets 60 {5 5) 17 13 4 {26 3)
Net favourable/(unfavourable) adjustment (11 1) 197 139 {59) {29)
NOTE 27. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY

Shares Ussm

Total ordinary shares, of no par value, 1ssued and fully pad
At 1 July 2011 1,479,367,454 14,370 2
Issued dunng the year 56,692,482 3373
Capital reductwon {8,223 4)
At 30 June 2012 1,536,059,938 6,484 1
At 1 July 2012 1,536,059,936 6,484 1
Issued dunng the year 21,307,500 134 4
At 30 June 2013 1,557,367,436 6,618 5

Ordinary shares of Brambles Limited entitle the holder to participate in divndends and the proceeds on any winding up of the Company n

proportion to the number of shares held

The 21,307,500 shares 1ssued dunng the year include 19,055,210 new shares issued on 10 July 2012 under the retail component of the
fully underwntten 1 for 20 pro rata accelerated renounceable entitlement offer, raising US$117 4 mellion, net of transaction costs
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Remuneration Report sets out details relating to the Brambles share plans (pages 46 to 48), together with details of performance
share nghts and MyShare matching conditional nghts issued to the Executive Director and other Key Management Personnel (pages 42 to
43) Rights granted by Brambles do not result in an entitlement to participate n share 1ssues of any other corporation

Set out below are summanes of nghts granted under the plans
A) GRANTS OVER BRAMBLES LIMITED SHARES ISSUED SUBSEQUENT TO UNIFICATION

Granted Exercised Forfeited/

Balance during during lapsed during Balance
Grant date Expiry date at 1.July the year the year the year at 30 June
2013
Performance share nghts
19 Jan 2007 31 Aug 2012 48,995 . (48,995) - -
29 Aug 2007 30 Aug 2013 139,021 - (97.696) - 41,325
28 Apr 2008 29 Apr 2014 4,750 - - - 4,750
27 Aug 2008 27 Aug 2014 203,259 - (114,269) - 90,990
25 Nov 2009 26 Nov 2015 3,145,779 - (1,347,975) {1,656,998) 140,806
12 Apr 2010 12 Apr 2016 22,902 - - . 22,502
24 Nov 2010 24 Nov 2016 4,076,785 - (293,533) 3,783,252
21 Feb 2011 21 Feb 2017 32,906 - 32,906
31 Mar 2011 30 Jun 2017 732,095 - - 732,095
06 Sep 2011 06 Sep 2017 4,324,665 - {32,305) (527,015) 3,765,343
11 Nov 2011 11 Nov 2017 37,000 - - - 37,000
21 Nov 2011 21 Nov 2017 30,267 - - 30,267
07 Jun 2012 07 Jun 2018 14,514 - - - 14,514
16 Jul 2012 1 Sep 2014 - 90,000 - - 90,000
25 Sep 2012 25 Sep 2018 - 3,081,191 (259,370) 2,821,821
12 Oct 2012 12 Oct 2018 406,113 (77,906) 328,207
MyShare matching conditional rights
2011 Plan Year 31 Mar 2013 553,988 - (516,150) {37,838) -
2012 Pian Year 31 Mar 2014 268,110 509,724 {17,782) (72,023) 688,029
2013 Plan Year 31 mar 2015 - 253,291 (895) (3,644) 248,752
Tatal rights 13,637,036 4,340,319 (2,253,973} (2,850,421) 12,872,961
2012 (summansed)
Total nghts 12,288,815 5,342,019 {1,632,837) (2,360,981) 13,637,036
Of the above grants, 277,871 nghts were exercisable at 30 June 2013

2013 2012

Weighted average data
- fair value at grant date of grants made dunng the year AS 5.84 528
- share pnce at exercise date of grants exercised dunng the year AS 758 678
- rematmng contractual life at 30 June years 39 40

There were 63,677 grants, 77,967 exercises and 1,137,657 forfeits in performance share nghts and MyShare matching conditional nghts
aver Brambles Limited shares between the end of the financial year and 20 August 2013
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS - CONTINUED
B) FAIR VALUE CALCULATIONS

The far value of equity settled performance share nghts and MyShare matching conditional nghts was determined as at grant date, using
a binomiat valuation methodology The values calcutated de not take into account the probability of nghts being farferited prior to vesting,

as a probability adjustment 1s made when computing the share-based payment expense
The sigmficant inputs into the valuation models for the equaty settled grants made dunng the year were

2013 2012

Grants Grants

Weighted average share pnce AS7 02 AS6 44
Expected volatility 25% 30%
Expected life 2-3 years 2 3 years
Annual nsk-free nterest rate 2 54-2 57% 3 67-3 68%
Expected dvidend yield 4 00% 4 00%

The expected volatilty was determined based on a four year histonic volatiity of Brambles share prices
C) SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSE - CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Brambtes recognised a total expense of LI5524 672 million (2012 US520 474 million) relabing to share-based payments, all wathin

continung operations Of this ameunt, US$1.672 aullion retated to phantom share provisions (2012 USS1 908 autlien)
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 29 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

2013 2012
usSm ussm
Reserves (6,748.2) {6,689 1)
Retaned earntngs 3,155 1 2,945 4
{3,593 1) (3,743 7)
A) MOVEMENTS IN RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS
Reserves
Share- Foreign
based currency Retained
Hedging payment translation Umification Other Total earnings
ussm ussm ussm ussm ussSm ussm ussm
Year ended 30 June 2012
Opeming balance (4 8) 805 426 0 (15,385 8) 167 3 {14,716 8) 2,797 6
Actuanal loss on defined benefit plans - - - (14 3)
FCTR released to profits dunng the year . (12 5) (12 3)
FCTR on entities disposed taken to profit - - (17) (17 -
Foreign exchange differences - - (192 35) (192 5) -
Cash flow hedges
transfers to net profit 51 - - 51 -
tax an transfers to net profit {17) - 7
Share-based payments
- expense recogmised during the year 186 - - 186
- shares 1ssued (11 1) - {11 1}
- equity companent of related tax 01 01 -
Capital reduction - 8,223 4 8,223 4 .
Dwidends declared - - - - (414 2)
Net profit for the year - - - - 576 3
Closing balance 4 88 1 2193 (7,162 4) 167 3 (6,689 1) 2,945 4
Year ended 30 June 2013
Opening balance (14) 88 1 219 3 (7,162.4) 167 3 (6,689 1) 2,945 4
Actuanal loss on defined benefit plans - - - - - - 87
Fareign exchange differences - - (707 - - {70.7) -
Cash flow hedges
- far value losses {14) - - - - (14 -
- tax on fair value losses 05 - - - - 05 -
- transfers to net profit - - - - - - -
- transfers to property, plant and equipment 32 - - - - 312 -
- tax on transfers to net profit (12) - - - . {1.2) .
Share based payments
- expense recogmsed dunng the year - 230 - - - 230 -
- shares ssued - (17 1) - - - (171 -
- equity component of related tax - 46 - - - 46 -
Bwdends declared - - . - - . (422 2)
Net profit for the year B - - - - - 640 6
Closing balance 03) 98 6 148 6 (7,162 4) 1673 (6,748 2 3,155 1
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 29, RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS - CONTINUED

B) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES

Hedging reserve

This compnses the cumulative portion of the gain or loss of cash flow hedges that are determined to be effective hedges Amounts are
recognised 1n the income statement when the associated hedged transaction is recogmsed or the hedge or a portion thereof becomes
neffective

Share-based payments reserve
This compnises the cumuylative share-based payment expense recogmsed In the income statement in relatbion to equity settled options and
share nghts 1ssued but not yet exercised Refer to Note 28 for further details

Foreign currency translation reserve
This comprises cumulative exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial statements of forergn subsidianes, net of
qualifying net wvestment hedges The relevant accumulated balance 1s recogmsed tn the income statement on disposal of a foreign

subsidary

Unification reserve

On Unification, Brambles Limited i1ssued shares on a one for one basis to those Brambles Industnes Limited (BIL) and Brambles Industries
ple (BIP) shareholders who did not elect to participate in the Cash Alternative The Umftcation reserve of US515,385 8 million was
established on 4 December 2006, representing the difference between the Brambles Limited share capital measured at fair vatue and the
carrying value of the share capital of BIL and BIP at that date In the consohidated financial statements, the reduction in share capital of
US$B,223 4 million on 9 September 2011 by the parent entity 1n accordance with section 258F of the Corporations Act 2001 was appled
against the Unification reserve

Other
This compnises a merger reserve created n 2001 and a capital redemption reserve created n 2006
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Brambles 15 exposed to a vanety of financial nsks market nsk (including the effect of fluctuations in interest rates and exchange rates),
hguidity risk and credit nsk

Brambles overall nsk management program focuses on the unpredictablity of financial markets and seeks to mumrmise potential adverse
effects on the financial performance of Brambles

Brambles uses standard dervative financial instruments to manage 1ts nsk exposure in the normal course of business Brambles does not
trade in financial wnstruments for speculative purposes Hedging activities are conducted through Brambles Treasury department on a
centrabised basis 1 accordance with Board palicies and gundelines through standard operating procedures and delegated authonties

Palicies wath respect to financial nsk management and hedging actmities are discussed below and should be read in cenjunction with
detailed wmformation contained in the Operational & Financal Review on pages 3 to 4

A) FAIR VALUES

Set out below 1s a companson by category of the carnynng amounts and fair values of financial instruments recogmsed 1n the balance
sheet With the exception of loans and recewvables and denvatives designated as hedging instruments, all financial assets are clasaified
as financial assets at faw value through profit or loss

Carrying amount Fair value
2013 2012 2013 2012
UsSm ussm ussm ussm
Financial assets
- ¢cash at bank and in hand {Note 14) 98 8 143 4 98 8 143 4
- short term deposits (Note 14) 301 308 301 08
- trade recevables {Mote 15) B871.8 805 6 871 8 805 6
- interest rate swaps (Note 17) 19 5 273 195 273
embedded derivatives (Note 17) 05 04 05 04
forward foreign currency contracts (Note 17) 0.7 02 a7 02
Financial liabilities
- trade payables {Note 23) 469 0 458 5 469 0 458 5
- bank overdrafts (Note 24) 539 215 539 215
- bank loans (Note 24} 966 3 1,022 3 966 3 1,022 3
- loan notes (Note 24) 1,796 3 1,775 4 1,944 1 1,915 2
- finance {ease hablities {Note 24) 227 85 227 385
- other lpans (Note 24) 41 64 41 6 4
- nterest rate swaps (Note 17) 05 38 0% 38
- forward foreign currency contracts (Note 17) 90 24 90 20
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

A) FAIR VALUES - CONTINUED

Brambles uses the following methods in estimating the fair values of financral instruments

- Level 1 the fawr value 15 calculated using quoted prices 1n active markets,

- Level 2 - the far vatue 1s estimated using inputs cther than guoted pnces included m Level 1 that are observabte for the asset or

hability, either directly (as prices) or indrectly {derived from pnces), or
- Level 3 the fair value 15 estwnated using inputs for the asset or habihity that are not observable market data

The table below sets out the fair values and methods used to esbimate the fair value of dervatives designated as hedging

nstruments
2013 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
usém ussm usSm UsSm ussm USSm ussm usSm
Derivative financial assets
nterest rate swaps - 19 5 - 19§ . 273 - 273
- embedded denvatives - 05 - 05 04 - 04
- forward foreign currency contracts - 07 - o7 02 - 02
Derivative financial Habilities
- Interest rate swaps - 05 - 0.5 38 38
90 - 9.0 20 - 20

- forward foreign currency contracts -

The farr values of denvatives designated as hedging instruments are deterrmned using valuation techmques that are based on observable

market data For forward foreign exchange contracts, the net fair value 15 taken to be the unrealised gain or loss at balance date

calculated by reference to the current forward rates for contracts with similar matunty dates Fair value for other financial assets and
habihities has been calculated by discounting future cash flows at prevailing interest rates for the relevant yeld curve
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 Sune 2043

NOTE 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

B) MARKET RISK
Brambles has the following nsk pohicies in place with respect to market nsk

Interest rate risk

Brambiles exposure to potential volatihity in finance costs, predeminantly US dollars and euros, 1s managed by maintaining a mix of fixed
and floating rate wstruments within select target bands over defined penods In most cases, interest rate denvatives are used to achieve
these targets synthetically

The following table sets out the financial instruments expesed to interest rate nsk at reporting date

2013 2012

ussm ussm
Financal assets (floating rate)
Cash at bank 98 8 143 4
Short term deposits 301 308

128 9 1742
weighted average effective interest rate 0 8% 11%
Finanoal liabilities (floating rate)
Bank overdrafts 539 215
Bank loans 966 3 1,022 3
Interest rate swaps (notional value} cash flow hedges (50 0} {200 O
Interest rate swaps (notional value) - fair vatue hedges 450 0 450 0
Net expasure to cash flow interest rate risk 1,420 2 1,193 8
Weighted average effective interest rate 19% 23%
Financial habilities (fixed rate)
Loan notes 1,796 23 1,775 4
Finance lease habihities 227 385
Other loans 41 6 4
Interest rate swaps (notional value} - cash flow hedges 50.0 2000
Interest rate swaps {notional vatue) fair vatue hedges (450 0) (450 0)
Net exposure to far value interest rate nsk 1,423.1 1,570 3
Weighted average effective interest rate 5 4% 53%

Interest rate swaps - cash flow hedges
Brambles enters into varous nterest rate nsk management transactions for the purpose of managing finance costs to achieve more stable
and predictable finance expense results The instruments primanly used are interest rate swaps

Duning 2013, Brambles entered into or maintained interest rate swap transactions with vanous banks hedging vanable rate borrowings
US dollars The purpose of the interest rate swaps was to hedge vanable interest expense under borrowings against nsing interest rates
Interest rate swaps achieve this by synthetically converting the vanable nterest rate payment 1nto a fixed interest Liabihty on the dates
on which nterest 15 payable on the underlying debt The far value of these contracts at reporting date was US5(0 5) million

{2012 USS(3 8) million}

The terms of the contracts have been negotiated to match the projected drawdowns and rollovers of vanable rate bank debt
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

B) MARKET RISK - CONTINUED

Interest rate swaps - fair value hedges

Brambles has entered nto interest rate swap transactions wath vanous banks swapping USS450 @ rullion of the US$750 ¢ millon 1444
bonds to vanable rate The fawr value of these contracts at reporting date was US519 5 million {2012 U$527 3 million)

The terms of the swaps match the terms of the fixed rate bond issue for the amounts and durations being hedged

The gan or loss from re-measunng the nterest rate swaps at fair value s recorded n the income statement together with any changes 1n
the fair vatue of the hedged asset or hability that 1s attnbuted to the hedged nsk For 2013, all interest rate swaps were effective
hedging tnstruments

Sensitivity analysis
The following table sets out the sensitivity of Brambles financial assets and financiat habilities to witerest rate nsk applying the following
assumptrans

Interest rate risk

2013 2012
lower rates higher rates lower rates higher rates

US dollar interest rates - 25 bps + 75 bps -25 bps + 75 bps
Austrabian dollar interest rates - 50 bps + 75 bps - 50 bps +75bps
Sterling interest rates -25bps + 75 bps 25 bps + 75 bps
Euro wnterest rates - 25bps + 7S5 hps - 25 bps + 73 bps

ussm usSm Ussm UsSm
Impact on profit after tax 19 (7 5) 19 (6 8)
Impact on equity € 1) 02 01

Based on finanaial wstruments held at 30 June 2013, 1f interest rates were to parallel shift by the number of basis points n the different
currencies noted above with all other vanables held constant, profit after tax for the year would have been US$1 9 million higher or
US57 5 milhon lower (2012- USS1 9 mithon tegher or USS6 8 mithon tower), matnly as a result of lower figher 1nterest expense on bank
borrowings The impact on equity would have been LSS0 1 million lower or USS0 2 million tugher (2012 USSml million or USS0 1 milhion
higher) marwmly as a result of the incremental movement through the hedging reserve relating to the effective portion of cash flow
hedges Given its geographically diverse operations, Brambtes had interest rate exposure positions aganst a vanety of currencies,
predomnantly US doltars and euros
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

B) MARKET RISK - CONTINUED
Foreign exchange risk

Exposure to foreign exchange risk generally anses in transactions affecting esther the value of transactions translated back to the
functional currency of a subsichary or affecting the value of assets and Liabilities of overseas subsidianes when translated back to the
Group's reporting currency Foreign exchange hedging 1s used when a transaction exposure exceeds certain thresholds and as soon as a

defined exposure anses

Currency profile
The following table sets out the currency mix profile of Brambtes financial instruments at reporting date
us Aust
dollar dollar Sterling Euro Other Total
USSm usSm usSm usSm UsSm UsSm
2013
Financial assets
- cash at bank and tn hand 16 87 19 314 55 2 98 8
- short term deposits - - - 03 98 30.1
- mnterest rate swaps 19.5 . - - - 195
- embedded dervatives - - - - 05 05
forward foreign currency contracts 13 3455 50 94 6 24 1 470 5
22 4 354 2 69 126 3 109 6 619 4
Financial liabilities
bank averdrafts 127 - - 192 22.0 539
- bank loans 408 9 09 167 04 832 510 1
- loan notes 1,143 5 - - 652 8 - 1,796 3
- finance lease habihties 40 - - 185 02 227
- other toans - - - 24 17 41
nterest rate swaps 05 - - - - 05
forward foreign currercy contracts 300 0 9.5 245 25.8 1190 478 8
net investment hedge - - - 456 2 - 456 2
1,869 6 10 4 412 1,176 3 226 1 3,3226
2012
Financial assets
- cash at bank and n hand 190 23 83 47 2 666 143 4
- short term deposits - 216 - 92 08
- interest rate swaps 273 - . - 2713
- embedded denvatives - - - 04 04
- forward foreign currency contracts 01 160 6 1339 556 191 8 542 0
46 4 1845 142 2 102 8 2680 743 9
Financial liabilities
- bank overdrafts - - 02 65 14 8 215
- bank loans 432 9 08 76 4 762 586 3
- loan notes 1,152 2 - 623 2 - 1,775 4
- finance lease babilities 75 01 308 01 385
other loans - 03 43 18 64
- Interest rate swaps 38 - . - - 38
- forward foresgn currency contracts N9 14 o3 147 5 7 543 8
- net tnvestment hedge - - - 436 0 4360
1,918 3 46 05 1,324 7 163 6 3,411 7
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

B) MARKET RISK - CONTINUED

Forward foreign exchange contracts - cash flow hedges

Brambles enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge currency exposures arsing from normal commercial transactions such
as the purchase and sale of equipment and serices, intercompany interest and royaltres

During 2013, Brambles entered nto forward fareign exchange transactions with vanous banks 1n a vanety of cross-currencies for terms
ranging up to 4 months Most contracts create an obligation on Brambles to take receipt of or deliver a foreign currency which 1s used to
fulfil the foreign currency sale or purchase order

The gawm or Loss from re-measunng the foreign exchange contracts at far value 1s deferred and recogmsed n the hedging reserve in
equity to the extent that the hedge 1s effective and reclassified into profit and loss when the hedged item 15 recogmsed Any ineffective
partion 15 charged to the income statement For 2013 and 2012, all foreign exchange contracts were effechive hedging instruments

Foreign exchange contracts are fair valued by comparnng the contracted rate to the current market rate for a contract with the same
remaining penod to matunty The fair value of these contracts at reporting date was US50 3 melhon (2012 nit)

Other forward forewgn exchange contracts

Brambles enters nto other forward foreign exchange contracts for the purpose of hedging vanous cross-border intercompany loans to
overseas subsichanes In this case, the forward foreign exchange contract provides an economic hedge against exchange fluctuations in
the foreign currency loan balance The face value and terms of the foreign exchange contracts match the intercompany loan balances
Gains and losses on realignment of the intercompany loan and foreign exchange contracts to spot rates are offset in the income
statement Consequently, these foreign exchange contracts are not designated for hedge accounting purposes and are classified as held
for trading

These contracts are far valued by companng the contracted rate to the current market rate for a contract with the same remaining
penod to matunty Any changes w fair values are taken (o the wmtome statement iwmmediately The fawr value of these contracts at
reporting date was USS$(8 6) million (2012 USS(1 8) mtllion)

Hedge of net investment 1n foreign entity

tnctuded mn bank loans at 30 June 2013 1s a borrowing of US5456 2 milbion (2012 US5436 0 ymillion) denominated n euros  This loan has
been designated as a hedge of the net investment 1n Brambles European subsidianes and 1s being used to partially hedge Brambles
exposure to foreign exchange nsks on these investments For 2013 and 2012, there was no neffectiveness to be recorded from such
partial hedges of net investments in foreign entities

Sensitiity analysis
The following table sets out the sensitivity of Brambles financiat assets and financial habilittes to foreign exchange nsk (transaction

exposures only)
Foreign exchange risk

2013 2012
lower rates higher rates lower rates higher rates
Exchange rate movement -10% +10% ~10% +10%
ussSm ussm us$m ussSm
Impact on profit after tax 04 04 01 {on
Impact on equity (319 9 (305) 305

Based on the financial instruments held at 30 June 2013, 1f exchange rates were to weaken/strengthen by 10% with all other varables
held constant, profit after tax for the year would have been USS0 4 mithon tigher /lower {2012 USS0 1 mislhon tugher flower) The wmpact
on equity would have been 115531 9 rillion lower/igher (2012 US530 5 million lower /lugher) as a result of the incremental movement
through the forewgn currency translation reserve relating to the effective portion of a net investment hedge
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

C) LIQUIDTTY RISK

Brambles objective is to maintain adequate Liquidity to meet 1ts financial obligations as and when they fall due Brambles funds its
operations through existing equity, retamned cash flow and borrowings Funding is generally sourced from relationship banks and debt
capital market wnvestors on a medium to long term basis

Bank credit facilities are generally structured on a committed mult--currency revobving basis and at balance date had matunties ranging
out o November 2017 Borrowings under the bank credit facihittes are floating-rate, unsecured oblhigations with covenants and
undertakings typical for these types of arrangements

Borrowings are raised from debt capital markets by the 1ssue of unsecured fixed nterest notes, with interest payable semt annually or
annually

Brambles also has access to further funding through overdrafts, uncommitted and standby lines of credit, principally to manage day-to-day

hiquidity

To mimmse foreign exchange nsks, borrowings are arranged n the currency of the relevant operating asset to be funded ,
Refer to Note 244 for borrowing facilities and credit standby arrangements disclosures

Maturities of derivative financial assets and liabilities

The matunty of Brambles contractuat cash flows on net and gross settied denvative financial instruments, based on the remaning penod
to contractual matunty date, 1s presented below Cash flows on interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts are valued
based on forward interest rates apphcable at reporting date

Carrying
Total amount
Over 4 contractual assets/
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 years cash flows {habilities)
usSm ussm ussm ussSm ussm usém USsSm
2013
Net settled
Interest rate swaps
- cash flow hedges {05) - - - - 05 {0 5)
- fair value hedges 97 9.8 - - - 19 5 195
Gross settled
Forward foreign exchange contracts
- inflow 470 5§ - - - - 470 5 -
{outflow) (478 8) - - - - (478 8) (83
09 98 - - - 107 107
2012
Net settled
Interest rate swaps
- cash flow hedges (30) (0 8) - - (38) (3 8)
- fair value hedges 83 105 85 - 273 73 |
Grass settled
Forward foreign exchange contracts
inflow 542 0 - - 5420 -
- {outflow) (543 8) - - - {543 8) {18)
35 97 85 - 2117 217
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
far the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED
C) LIQUIDITY RISK - CONTINUED

Maturities of non-derivative financial habilities
The matunity of Brambles contractual cash flows on non-denvative finanacial habilities, based on the remaining penod to contractual
matunity date, for pnnapal and interest, 1s presented below Refer to Note 24B far borrowang facilities matunity profile

Total
Over 4 contractual Carrying
Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 years cash flows amount
Ussm UsSm USSm UsSm ussm UsSm usém
2013
Financial Habilities
Trade payables 469 0 - - - - 469 0 469 0
Bank overdrafts 539 E - - - 539 539
Bank loans 50 1 888 432 4 358 8 895 1,019 6 966 3
Loean notes 1398 495 3 1215 154 2 1,272 7 2,183 5 1,796 3
Finance lease llabilities 130 81 30 04 - 245 227
Other loans 38 04 . - - 4.2 41
719 6 592 6 556 9 513 4 1,362 2 3,754 7 3,3123
Financial guarantees' 995 - - - - 995 -
829 1 592 & 556 9 513 4 1,362 2 3,854 2 3,312.3
2012
Financial Habilities
Trade payables 458 5 - - - 458 5 458 5
Bank overdrafts 215 . . - 215 215
Bank loans 457 3538 1841 3409 192 1 1,116 6 1,022 3
Loan notes 104 9 116 2 488 3 1247 1,486 2 2,320 3 1,775 4
Finance lease liabilines 185 13 4 80 30 05 434 385
Other loans 46 18 - - 64 64
6537 485 2 680 4 468 & 1,678 8 3,9667 3,312 6
Financial guarantees’ 1167 - - 167 -
770 4 485 2 680 4 468 6 1,678 8§ 4,083 4 3,322 6

' Refer to Note 334 for detalls on financial guarantees The amounts disclosed above are the maximum amounts ailocated to the eartlest period in which the
guarantee could be catled Brambles does not expect these payments to eventuate
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

D) CREDIT RISK EXPOSURE

Brambles 1s exposed to credit nsk on 1ts financial assets, which compnse cash and cash equivalents, trade and other recervables and
dervative financial instruments  The exposure to credit nisks anses from the potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations
The maxamum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 1s the carrying amount of the finanoial instruments as set out n Note 30A
There 1s no significant concentration of credit nsk

Brambles trades only with recogmsed, creditworthy third parties Collateral 15 generally not obtained from customers

Customers are subject to credit venfication procedures including an assessment of thewr ndependent credit rating, financial position, past
expenence and industry reputation  Credit limits are set for indmdual customers and approved by credit managers in accordance with an
approved authonty matrix These credit inits are regularly momtored and revised based on istonc tumaver activity and credit
performance In addition, overdue recevable balances are momitored and actioned on a regular basis

Expasure to credit nsk also anses from amounts receivable from unrealised gains on denvative financial instruments At the reporting
date, this amount was USS20 2 mithon (2012 US$27 S million) Brambles transacts denvatives with prominent financtal institutions and
has credit limits 1n place to linit exposure to any potential non-performance by its counterparties

E) CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Brambles’ objective when managing capital 1s to ensure Brambles continues as a gong concern as well as to provide 2 balance between
financial flexibility and balance sheet efficiency In deterrmming its capital structure, Brambles considers the robustness of future cash
flows, potential funding requirements for growth opportunities and acquisitions, the cost of capital and ease of access to funding sources

Brambles manages 1ts capital structure to be cansistent with a solid investment grade credit At 30 June 2013, Brambles held investment
grade credit ratings of BBB+ from Standard and Poor's and Baa1 from Moody s Investor Senaces

Imtiatives available to Brambles to achieve its destred capital structure include adjusting the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
returming capital to sharehalders, buying back share capatal, 1ssuing new shares, selling assets to reduce debt and varying the matunty
profile of its borrowings

Brambles considers its capital to compnise

2013 2012

uUsSm ussm
Total borrowings 2,843 3 2,864 1
Less cash and cash equivalents (128 9) (174 2)
Net debt 2,714 4 2,689 9
Total equity 3,025 4 2,740 4
Total capital 5,739 8 5,430 3

Brambles has a financial policy to target a net debt to EBITDA ratio of less than 1 75 to 1 Brambles i1s compliant with this financial policy
at 30 June 2013
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED

E) CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT - CONTINUED
Under the terms of its major borrowing facilities, Brambles 15 required to comply with the following financial cavenants

- the ratio of net debt to EBITDA 1s to be no more than 3 Sto 1, and

the ratio of EBITDA to net finance costs 15 to be no less than 3 5 to 1
Brambles has comphed with these financial covenants for 2013 and pnor years At balance date, based on the definitions below, the ratios
were

2013 2012
UsSm us$m
Total borrowings 2,843 3 2,864 1
Less fair value adjustments due to hedge accounting (17.1) (25 1) :
Less cash and cash equvalents (128 9) (174 2)
Net debt 2,697 3 2,664 8
EBITDA 1,609.3 1,556 4
Net finance costs 110.9 152 0
Net debt/EBITDA (himes) 1.7 17
14 5 10 2

EBITDA/net finance cost (times}

The following defimtions apply in the calcutation of these financial covenants
- EBITDA means Brambles® consolidated operating profit {excluding Sigmficant 1tems outside the ordinary course of business) before
depreciation, amortisation, impairment, profit of jont ventures and associates and certain fair value adjustments 1n respect of

financial denvatives, and
- net debt means Brambles consohidated total borrowings, excluding the wmpact of fair value adjustments n relation to hedge
accounting, less cash and cash equivalents
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 31, CASH FLOW STATEMENT - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
A) RECONCILIATION OF CASH

2013 2012
ussm usSm
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash compnses
Cash at bank and in hand (Note 14) 98 8 143 4
Short term deposits (Note 14) 301 308
128 9 174 2
Bank overdraft (Ncte 24) (53 9 (21 5)
750 1527
B) RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER TAX TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit after tax 640 & 576 3
Adjustments for
- depreciation and amortisation 557 0 552 2
- wrecoverable pooling equipment provision expense 101 5 100 1
- net gains on disposats of property, plant and equipment (16 5) (14 3)
- impairment of software and property, plant and equipment 16 8 152
- other valuation adjustments {18 3) [N ]
joInt ventures (28) (14)
equity settled share based payments 230 186
- finance revenues and costs 48) (6 4)
Movements n operating assets and habilities, net of acquisibions and disposals
- increase 1n trade and other receivables (56 7) (123 1)
NCrease in prepayments (59) (40)
- (mcrease)/decrease in mventones (4 2) 103
-increase 1n deferred taxes 42 4 46 0
- increase n trade and other payables 286 81
- Increase/(decrease) 1 tax payables 276 (49 8)
- Increase/(decrease) in provisions 18 (33 8)
other (0 2) 47)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,339 9 1,089 2
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 31. CASH FLOW STATEMENT - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - CONTINUED

C) RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

2013 2012
Ussm USSm
Net debt at beginmng of the year 2,689 9 2,998 8
Net cash inflow from operating actties (1,339 9) (1,089 2)
Net cash outflow from investing actmties 1,010 3 932 8
Net inflow from hedge instruments {6 6) (46)
Proceeds from 1ssue of ordinary shares (117 4) {326 &)
Dividends paid 425 5 397 7
Increase on business acgusitiens and disposals 16 32
Interest accruals, finance leases and other 89 72
Fareign exchange differences 42 1 (229 4}
Het debt at end of the year 2,714 4 1,689 9
Being
Current borrowings 156 9 86 4
Non-current borrowings 2,686 4 ,7777
Cash and cash equivalents (128 9) {174 2)
2,714 4 2,689 9

Net debt at end of the year

D) NON-CASH FINANCING OR INVESTING ACTIVITIES
There were no financing of 1nvesting transactions dunng the year which have had a matenal effect on the assets and habihbies of

Brambles that did nat involve cash flows
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 32 COMMITMENTS
A) CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

At 30 June 2013, Brambles had commitments of US5226 2 million (2012 US$192 4 million) pnnaipally relating to property, plant and

equipment
Capital expenditure contracted for but not recogmsed as liabihities at reporting date were as follows
2013 2012
UsSm usSm
within one year 154 5 129 8
Between one and five years "z 626
226 2 192 4

B) OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Brambles has taken out operating leases for affices, operational locations and plant and equipment The leases have varying terms,
escalation clauses and renewal nghts Escalation clauses are rare and any wnpact 15 constdered immatenal

The future mimmum lease payments under such ron cancellable operating leases are as follows

Plant Occupancy
2013 2012 2013 2012
UsSm UsSém UsSm ussm
within one year 369 353 195.3 1743
Between one and five years 58 9 389 541 & 505 0
After five years 76 . 272 5 2760
Mimmum lease payments 103 4 7412 1,009 4 955 3

Dunng the year, operating lease expense of US$262 8 mithon (2012 US$230 5 million) was recogmsed n the income statement

C) FINANCE LEASE COMMITMENTS

Finance leases of plant and equipment are not a matenal feature of Brambles funding arrangements Finance lease commitments are

payable as follows
Plant
2013 2012
ussm UsSm
Minimum lease payments
Within one year 130 185
Between one and five years 15 249
245 43 4
Finance costs
Within one year (13) (2 0)
Between one and five years 05 29
18 49
minimum lease payments recegnised as a liability
Within one year 17 16 5
Between one and five years 10 220
22.7 385
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 33 CONTINGENCIES

2) Subsidianes have contingent unsecured hiabwbhtves 1n respect of guarantees given relating to performance under contracts entered wto
totalling US$992 5 million (2012 US$116 7 million), of which US577 0 milhion (2012 US$94 6 million) 1s also guaranteed by Brambles
Limited US516 3 million (2012 USS1S 3 mitlion) 1s also guaranteed by Brambles Limited anid certain of its subsidianes under a deed of
cross guarantee and are included 1n Note 38B

A subsidhary has guaranteed certain tease gbligations of third parties totalling US$2 3 milhon (2012 USS5 3 milhion) A subsichary has
provided guarantees to support lease facilities entered wnito by certain other subsidianes Total faciities available amount to

US$6 0 million (2012 USS10 3 million), of which USS6 0 million (2012 USS10 3 rmillion) has been drawn

b

—

c} Environmental contingent habilities
Brambles’ activities have included the treatment and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous waste through subsidianes and
corporate jomnt ventures In addition, other activities of Brambles entail using, handling and storing matenals which are capable of

causing environmental impairment

Y—r

As a consequence of the nature of these actwities, Brambles has incurred and may continue to ncur environmental costs and habihes
asseciated with site and facibity operation, closure, remediation, aftercare, monitoring and licensing  Prowvisions have been made in
respect of estimated emvaronmental liabihities at all sites and facilities where abligations are known to exist and can be rehiably
measured

However, additional habihties may emerge due to a number of factors including changes in the numerous laws and regulations which
govern envircnmenta! protection, liatility, land use, planning and other matters in each junsdiction 1n which Brambles operates or has
operated These extensive laws and regulations are continually evolving in response to technological advances, scientific
developments and other factors Brambles cannot predict the extent to which 1t may be affected in the future by any such changes in
legsiation or regulation

In the ordinary course of business, Brambles becomes involved in itigation Provision has been made for known obligations where the
existence of the habihity is probable and can be reasecnably quantified Recewables have been recognised where recovenes, for
example from insurance arrangements, are virtually certain  As the cutcomes of these matters remain uncertan, contingent habilities
exst for possible amounts eventually payable that are in excess of the amounts provided

d

~—

Brambles has given vendor warranties 1n relatwon to businesses sotd in prior years Brambles has recogmsed the financial impact of such
vendor warranbies and adjustments on the basis of information currently available A contmgent lhabihity exasts for any amounts which
may ultimately be borne by Brambles which are wn excess of the amounts prowvided at 30 June 2013

e

f) A third party faciity leased by Recall had suffered significant structurat damage resulting in the facility becoming non operational
Consequently, Recall has and will continue to tncur costs associated with the tncrdent and the relocation of operations to a new
facility Provision, net of insurance proceeds recewved, has been made 1n respect of Recall’s obhigations that are known to exist and
can be rehably measured The provision 1s Recall’s current best estimate of the costs it wall \ncur ansing from this matter There are,
however, a number of aspects relating to this matter which have not been finalised and a number of parties are invelved in their

resolution At the date of this report, 1t 15 not possibte to determine when all of these aspects will be finalised

-
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 34 AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

2013 2012
ussooo uss‘oco
Amounts received or due and receivable by PwC {Australia) for
Audit serices 1n Austrahia
audit and review of Brambles financiai reports 2,090 2,068
other assurance services 49 13
2,139 z,081
Other services
finance due diligence 692 2,549
692 2,549
Total remuneration of PwC (Austraba) 2,831 4,630
Amounts received or due and recevable by related practices of PwC (Australia) for
Audit sernices outside Austraba
- audit and review of Brambles finanoal reports 4,238 4,488
- other assurance serices 11 123
4,249 4,611
Other services
- tax adwisory services 106 152
- other 13 53
219 205
Total remuneration of related practices of PwC (Austraba) 4,468 4,816
Total auditors remuneration 7,299 9,446

From time to time, Brambles employs PwC on assignments additional to thewr statutory audit duties where PwC, through therr detailed
knowledge of the Group, are best placed to perform the services from an efficiency, effectiveness and cost perspective The performance
of such non-audit related seraces 15 always balanced with the fundamental objective of ensunng PwC s objectivity and independence as
auditors To ensure this balance, Brambles Charter of Audit Independence requires that the Audit Comrmittee approve any management
recommendation that PwC undertake non audit work (with approval being delegated to the Chief Financial Officer within specified
monetary ltmits)

Non audit assignments dunng the year pnmanly related to finance due diligence for the Recall proposed demerger, treasury consulting
service, comphance tracking system, regulatory reporting and tax consulting advice |n 2012, non audit assignments pnimanly related to
the Recall divestment process, acquisition due diligence, tax consulting advice and implementation of a compliance tracking system

NOTE 35. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
A) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Short term employee benefits 14,700 13,424
Post employment benefits 351 442
Other benefits 98 96
Termination/sign on/retirement benefits 1,453 2,587
Share-based payment expense 8,899 6,585

25,501 23,134
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 35. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL - CONTINUED

B) EQUITY INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURE RELATING TO KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The number of ordinary shares and options/share nghts w Brambles held dunng the finantial year by key management personnel,
including their related partwes, are set out betow

Yested and
Balance Granted Exercised Lapsed Changes Balance  exercisable
at start duning the dunng during during the at end at end of
Name and holdings of the year year the year the year year of the year' the year
2013
Executive Director
T J Gorman
Ordinary shares 128,782 B - 80,366 209,148 -
Share nghts 1,316,336 536,092 148,310 178,735 - 1,525,383 -
Current Key Management Personnel
Z Todorcevsk
Ordinary shares 500 - - - 78,091 78,591 .
Share nghts - 406,298 77,906 - 328,392 -
J Holley
QOrdinary shares 229 - 24,5%6 24,825 .
Share nghts 125,859 83,873 32,305 - 177,427
P 5 Mackie
Ordinary shares 2,165 - 12,890 15,055
Share nghts 375,446 171,843 25,888 27,918 - 493,483 .
D A Pertz’
Ordinary shares - - - . .
Share nghts - - - -
K Pohler
QOrdinary shares - - . . - . -
Share nghts 251,637 . - . 251,637
J D Rabbino -
Ordinary shares - - . 19 19
Share nghts - 97,419 - - - 97,419 -
N P Smith
Ordinary shares 4,132 - - 71,359 75,491 -
Share nghts 376,931 129,608 46,822 49,649 410,068
Former Key Management Perscnnel
G J Hayes
Ordnary shares - - - -
Share rights 1,159,820 - 172,739 384,861 - 602,220 -
E E Potts
Qrdinary shares 93,059 - - (19,577) 73,482 -
Share nghts 392,796 216,635 50,192 177,17 - 381,522 -
R J Westerbos
Ordinary shares 101,495 - - (101,495) .
Options/share nghts 264,092 140,039 106,648 - 297,483

! Closing balances are as at the end of the year for ongoing employees and as at cessation of employment for those whose employment

ended during the year

2 D A Pertz commenced employment on 1 Apnl 2012
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 35. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL - CONTINUED

Vested and
Balance Granted Exercised Lapsed Changes Balance  exercisable
at start during the dunng during dunng the at end at end of
Name and holdings of the year year the year the year year of the year' the year
2012
Executive Directors
T J Gorman
Ordinary shares 40,967 87,815 128,782
Share nghts 955,882 544,303 94,220 89,629 1,316,336 -
G J Hayes
Ordinary shares - - - - - -
Share nghts 735,011 424,809 - - 1,159,820
Current Key Management Personnel
J Holley
Ordwnary shares - - 229 229 -
Share nghts 125,859 - - 125,859 .
P S Mackle
Ordinary shares 961 - - 1,204 2,165 -
Share nghts 272,237 166,003 24,894 37,990 - 375,446
K Pohler
Ordinary shares - - - - - . -
Share nghts 291,637 . - - - 251,637 -
E E Potts
Ordinary shares 66,607 - 26,452 93,059 -
Share nghts 346,488 137,695 37,668 53,719 - 392,796 -
J D Rabbino
QOrdinary shares - - - - -
Share nghts - - -
N P Smith
Ordinary shares 2,630 - - 1,502 4,132 -
Share nghts 334,360 140,514 48,682 49,261 - 376,931 -
R J Westerbos
Ordinary shares 101,495 - 101,495 -
Share nghts 116,434 147,658 - - . 264,092 -
Former Key Management Perscnnel
J R A Judd
Ordinary shares 79,436 - {15,066) 64,370 -
Share nghts 296,916 118,444 48,090 153,712 - 213,558
J D Ritchie
Ordinary shares 60,324 - {60,302) 22 -
Share nghts 200,658 192 1,103 84,948 - 114,799 -
K J Shuba
Ordnary shares 57,766 . - - 42,020 99,786
Options/share nghts 379,094 136,243 60,508 175,775 - 279,054 -

T Closing balances are as at the end of the year for ongoing employees and as at cessation of employment for those whose employment
ended dunng the year

C) OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Other transactions with key management personnel are set out in Note 36C
Further remuneration disclosures are set out 1n the Directors Report on pages 32 to 49 of the Annual Report
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 36. RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
A) BRAMBLES
Brambles compnses Brambles Limited and the entities which it controls

Borrowings under the bilateral bank credit faalities are undertaken by a limited number of Brambles subsicianes Funding of other
subsidianes within Brambles 15 by way of ntercompany loans, all of which are documented and carry arms length interest rates applicable
to the currency and terms of the loans

Brambtes Limted charges Brambles borrowers an amms-length guarantee fee for the guarantees and cress guarantees it has given in
relatian to barrowang facilinies, as described n Note 388
Dividends are declared within the group only as required for funding or other commercial reasons

Brambles has in place cost sharing agreements to ensure that retevant costs are taken up by the entities recewing the benefits
All amounts receivable and payable by entities within Brambles and any interest thereon are eliminated on consclrdation

B) JOINT VENTURES
Brambles share of the net results of joint ventures is disctosed 1n Note 19

C) OTHER TRANSACTIONS

Gther transactions entered into duning the year with Directors of Brambles Limited, with Director-related entibies, with key management
personnel (KMP, as set out i the Directors Repart), or with KMP-related entities were on terms and condttions no more favourable than
those available to other employees, customers or suppliers and include transactions mn respect of the employee option plans, contracts of
employment and reimbursement of expenses Any other transactions were trmaal or domestic i nature

D) OTHER RELATED PARTIES

A subsidhary has a non-interest beanng advance outstanding as at 30 June 2013 of US51,304,000 (2012 US51,432,000) to Brambles
Custodians Pty Limited, the trustee under Brambles employee loan scheme This scheme enabled employees to acquire shares 1n BIL and
has been closed to new entrants since August 2002
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 36 RELATED PARTY INFORMATION - CONTINUED

E) MATERIAL SUBSIDIARIES

The prncipal subsidianes of Brambies dunng the year were

% interest held at
reporting date

Name Place of incarporation 2013 012
CHEP

CHEP USA UsA 100 100

CHEP Canada, nc Canada 100 100

CHEP UK Lymited UK 100 100

CHEP France SA France 100 100

CHEP Deutschtand GmbH Germany 100 100

CHEP Espana SA Spain 100 100

CHEP Mexico SA de CV Mexico 100 100

CHEP Benelux Nederland BY The Netherlands 100 100

CHEP Itala SRL ltaly 100 100

Brambles Enterpnses Limited UK 100 100

CHEP South Afnca {Propnetary) Limited South Africa 100 100
CHEP Austrahia Limited Austrabia 100 100
CHEP (China) Campany Limited China 100 100

CHEP Technology Pty Limited Australia 100 100

CHEP India Pvt Limited lncha 100 100

LeanLogistics Inc usa 100 100

Umitpool AG Switzerland 100 100

CHEP Pailecon Solutions BY The Netherlands 100 -

CHEP Pallecon Soluttons Pty Limted Australia 100 -

{FCO

{FCO Systems NV The Netherlands 100 99 5
Recall

Recall Limted UK 100 100

Recall France SA France 100 100
Recall Corporation, Inc Usa 100 100
Recall do Brasil Ltda Brazil 100 100

Recall Information Management Pty Limted Australia 100 100
Recall Deutschland GmbH Germany 100 100
Brambles HQ

Brambles Industnes Limited Australia 100 100
Brambles Holdings (UK) Limited UK 100 100
Brambles International Finance BY The Netherlands 100 100
Brambles USA Inc USA 100 100
Brambles North Amenca Incorporated Usa 100 100
Brambles Finance plc UK 100 100
Brambles Finance Limited Austraha 100 100

In addition to the list above, there are a number of other non-matenal subsidvaries within Brambles

Investments 1n subsichanes are pnmanly by means of ordinary or comman shares All matenal subsidianes prepare accounts with a 30 June

balance date
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
for the year ended 30 June 2013

HOTE 36, RELATED PARTY INFORMATION - CONTINUED

F) DIRECTORS' INDEMNITIES

Under 1ts constitutton, to the extent permitted by law, Brambles Lirmted mdemmifies each person who 1s, or has been a Director or
Secretary of Brambles Limited against any Liabihity winch results from facts or circumstances relating to the person serving or having
served 1n the capacity of Director, Secretary, other officer or employee of Brambles Lirmited or any of its subsidianes, other than

(a) n respect of a bability other than for legal costs
(1) ahability owed to Brambles Limited or a related body corporate,
(1) a hability for a pecumary penalty order under section 13176 of the Act or a compensation order
under section 1317H of the Act, or
(m} ahabity that 1s owed to someone (other than Brambles Limited or a related body corperate) and did not
anse out of conduct in good faith, and
(b} n respect of a liability for legal costs
(1) in defending or resisting proceedings 1n which the person 1s found to have a bability for which they coutd not have
been indemmified under paragraph (a)(t) above,
(n) n defending or resisting cnminal proceedings in which the person 1s found gunity,
(m) 1n defending or resisting proceedings brought by ASIC or a liguidator far a court order 1f the grounds for
making the order are found by the Court to be established, or
(iv) n connection with proceedings for relief to any persons under the Act 1n which the Court demies the rehef

Paragraph (b)(m) above does not apply to costs incurred 1n respending to actions brought by ASKC or a ligudator as part of an investigation
before commencing proceedings for the Court order

As altowed by 1ts constitution, Brambtes Limited has provided indemmities from time to time to Directors, Secretanes or other Statutory
Officers of 1ts subsidanes (Beneficianes) aganst all loss, cost and expenses (collectively Loss) caused by or ansing from any act or
omission by the relevant person in performance of that persons role as a Director, Secretary or Statutory Officer

The indemmity given by the Company excludes the following matters

(a) any Loss to the éxtent caused by or ansing from an act or ornission of the Beneficiary pror ta the effective date of the
mndemmty,

{b) any Loss to the extent indemmty n respect of that Loss 1s prolbited under the Corporations Act (or any other law),

(c) any Loss to the extent it anses from private or personal acts or omisstons of the Beneficiary,

(d) any Loss compnsing the resmbursement of normal day-to-day expenses such as travellng expenses,

{e} any Loss to the extent the Beneficiary fatled to act reasonably to mitigate the Loss,

{f) any Loss to the extent 1t 1s caused by or anses from acts or omissions of the Beneficiary after the date the indemmty
15 revoked by the Company in accordance with the terms of the ndemmty,

(8) any Loss to the extent it 1s caused by or anses from any breach by the Beneficiary of the terms of the indemnity

insurance policies are 1n place to cover Directors, Secretanes and other Statutory Offwcers of Brambles Linited and its subsidianes,
however the terms of the palicies prohibit disclosure of the details of the insurance cover and the premiums paid

NOTE 37 EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 2 July 2013, Brambtes announced s ntention to demerge 1t$ Recall business by isting a new holding company, Recall Holdings
Limted, on the ASX Brambles intends to convene a meeting for shareholders to vote an the demerger propasal in December 2013
Subject to the outcome of this shareholder vote and the satisfaction of other conditions (inctuding the relevant court and regulatory
approvals), the final separation of Recall from Brambles 1s expected to occur shortly thereafter

As Brambles has not commenced the restructunng necessary to effect the proposed de merger and the necessary shareholder and court
approvals have not been obtained, Recall has been classified as a Continutng operation at 30 June 2013 {consistent with classification at
30 June 2012) 1n accordance with applicable Accounting Standards

Other than those outhned 1n the Cirectors Report or elsewhere i these financial statements, there have been no other events that have
occurred subsequent to 30 June 2613 and up to the date of this report that have had a matenal impact on Brambles financial performance
Qr pasttign
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

for the year ended 30 June 2013

NOTE 38 PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A) SUMMARISED FINANCIAL DATA OF BRAMBLES LIMITED

Parent entity

2013 2012

ussm ussm
Profit for the year 402 6 5227
Other comprehensive income for the year (754 7) (1,065 5)
Total comprehensive loss {352 1) (542 8)
Current assets o7 169
Non-current assets 8,026 1 84136
Total assets 8,026 8 8,430 5
Current habihties 322 197
Non current habiliies 334 4 1105
Total liabilites 366 6 130 2
Net assets 7,660 2 8,300 3
Contnbuted equity 6,618 5 6,484 1
Share based payment reserve 48 9 49 1
Foreign currency translation reserve 903 9 1,658 &
Retained earnings 889 108 5
Total equity 7,660 2 8,300 3

B) GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Brambles Limited and certain of 1ts subsidianes are parties to a deed of cross-guarantee which supports global financing credit faohties

available to certain subsihanes Total facihities available amount to US$2,134 3 million (2012 US$2,192 8 million) of which
US5929 2 million (2012 US51,003 5 million) has been drawn

Brambles Limited and certain of 1ts subsichanes are parties to guarantees which support US Pnivate Placement barrowings of
USS364 0 million (2012 USS364 0 million) by a subsidiary

Brambles Limited and certain of 1ts subsidianes are parties to a guarantee which support notes of US5750 0 million (2012

LS$750 0 million) 1ssued by a subsichary to qualified institutional buyers n accordance with Rule 144A and Regulation § of the Umted

States Securities Act

Brambles Limited and certain of its subsichanes are parties to a guarantee which support notes of €500 0 mlhon (2012 €500 0 mitlion)

1ssued by a subsidiary in the European bond market

Brambles Linited has guaranteed repayment of certain facilbities and financial accommodations made available to certan subsidartes

Total facihties and financial accommodations available amount to US$569 8 million (2012 USS569 5 millien), of which US$130 5 million

{2012 USS138 8 milbon) has been drawn
Other than these guarantees, the parent entity did not have any cantingent labilities at 30 June 2013 or 30 June 2012

C) CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

Brambles Limited did not have any contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2013 or

30 June 2012
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

In the apimion of the Directors of Brambles Limited

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 57 to 119 are m accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including

{1) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory
professional reporting requirements, and

(n) gving a true and fawr view of the financial posibon of Brambles as at 30 June 2013 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date,

{b) there are reascnable grounds to believe that Brambles Limited will be able to pay its debts as and
when they become due and payable

A statement of comphance with International Finaneial Reporting Standards as 1ssued by the International
Accounting Standards Beard 1s included within Note 1 to the financial statements

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001

Thes declaration 1s made 1in accordance wath a resolution of the Directors

G J Kraehe AO
Chatrman

-

T J Gorman
Chief Executwe Officer

22 August 2013
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF BRAMBLES LIMITED

K

pwc

Report on the financial report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Brambles Lirmited {the Company), which compnses the consohdated
balance sheet as at 30 June 2013, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consohdated statement of changes in eqity and consohdated cash flow statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of
sigmificant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the Directors’” declaration for Brambles (the consolidated entity)
The consolidated entity comprises the Company and the entihies 1t controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the
financal year

Drwrectors’ responsibiity for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair iew 1n
accordance with Austrahian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the Directors
determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of the finanaal report that 1s free from matenal misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error In Note 1, the Directors also state, 1n accardance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statemnents, that the finanaal statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards

Auditors’ responsibihity

Our responsibility 1s to express an oprmon on the finaneial report based on our audit We conducted our audit in accordance
with Austrahian Auditing Standards These Audiing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements
relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report 1s free
from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to cbtain audit endence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report The
procedures selected depend an the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the nsks of material misstatement of the
finanmal report, whether due to fraud or error [n making those nisk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparahon and far presentation of the financial report 1 order to design audit procedures that are appropnate
1n the circurnstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opimon on the effectveness of the entity’s internal contrel An
audit also includes evaluating the appropnateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting eshmates
made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report

Our procedures include reading the other mformation 1n the Annual Report to determine whether 1t contams any matenal
inconsistencies with the finanaal report

We beheve that the audit endence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropnate to prowvide a basis for our audit opimons

Independence
In conduchng our audit, we have complied with the independence requrements of the Corporatiens Act 2001

PricetwaterhouseCoaopers, ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171
DX 77 Sydney, Austraha

T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www pwc com au

Liability hmited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT - CONTINUED
TO THE MEMBERS OF BRAMBLES LIMITED ,

Auditors’ opinon
In our opimon

(a) the financial report of Brambles Limited 1s 1n accordance wath the Corporations Act 2001, including

(1) gmving a true and fair view of the consslidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date, and

(n) complying with Austrahan Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and
the Corparations Regulanons 2001, and

(b) the financial report and notes also comply with International Finanmal Reporting Standards as disclesed 1n Note 1

Report on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the remuneration report included 1n pages 32 ta 49 of the Directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2013
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentatton of the remuneration report in accordance
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001 Our responsibility 15 to express an opimon on the remuneration report, based
on our audit conducted in accordance with Austrahan Auditing Standards

Auditors’ oprmion
In our opimion, the remuneration report of Brambles Limited for the year ended 30 June 2013, comphes with sechion 300A of
the Corporations Act 2001

Matters relanng to the electronic presentation of the audited financial report

This auditors’ report relates to the financal report and remuneration report of Brambles Limited (the Company) for the year
ended 30 June 2013 wcluded on Brambles Linited web site The Company’s Directors are responsible for the integnty of the
Brambles Lirmted web site We have not been engaged to report on the integnty of this web site The anditors’ report refers only
to the financial report and remuneration report named above It does not provide an opinion on any other information which
may have been hyperhnked to/from the financial report or the remunerahon report If users of this report are concerned with
the inherent rsks ansing from electronic data communications they are adwised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial
report and remuneration report to confirm the information included in the audsted financial report and remuneration report
presented on this web site

LA bl

PrneewaterhouseCoopers !
|
VTN i
Paul Bendall Sydney !
Partner 22 August 2013
|
Ml g-
Mark Dow Sydney
Partner 22 August 2013
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

i !

pwe

As lead auditor for the audit of Brambles Limted for the year ended 30 June 2013, I declare that to the best of my knowledge
and behef, there have been

a} no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 1n relation to the audit, and
b) no contraventtons of any apphcable code of professional conduct 1n relation to the audit

This declaration 1s 1n respect of Brambles Limited and the enhities 1t controlled during the period

Bl

Paul Bendall Sydney
Partner 22 August 2013
PricewaterhouseCoopers

;- e L - - -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757

Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1173
DX 77 Sydney, Australa

T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, wunw pwc com au

Liabihity imited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

uUssm ussm UsSm usSm ussm
Continuing operations
Sales revenue 5,889 9 5,625 0 4,672 2 4,146 8 4,018.6
EBITDA 1,568 2 1,491 4 1,289 0 1,168 5 1,142 8
Depreciation and amortisation 557 O 552 2 479 8 444 § 424 6
Operating profit 1,011 2 9391 809 2 724 5 7182
Net finance costs (110 9) (152 0) (127 %) (109 6) {120 9)
Profit before tax 900 3 7872 6817 614 9 597 3
Tax expense (260.4) (212 3) (209 %) (171 Q) (163 3)
Profit from continuing operations 6399 5749 471 8 4439 434 0
Profit from discontinued operations a7 14 36 49 186
Profit for the year 640 & 576 3 475 4 448 8 452 6
Undertying Profit 1,057 2 1,009 7 857 2 733 4 00 6
Significant ltems (46 0) (70 5) 480) 89) (182 4)
Operating profit 1,011 2 9392 809 2 724 5 7182
Weighted average number of shares {millions) 1,555 7 1,482 3 1,445 6 1,411 3 1,388 3
Earnings per share {US cents)
Basic 412 389 329 318 3z 6
From continuing operations 411 88 316 s 313
On Underlying Profit after finance costs and tax 435 421 362 KIR] 385
ROC) 16% 16% 17% 17% 21%
BYA 2699 248 & 2516 2128 294 6
Capex on property, plant & equipment 927 7 921 1 8219 498 8 672 4
Balance sheet
Capital employed 57398 5,430 3 5,450 2 3,391 5 3,572 7
Net debt 2,714.4 2,689 9 2,998.8 1,799 3 2,143.4
Equity 3,025 4 2,740 4 2,451 4 1,6322 1,429 3
Average Capital Invested 6,668 9 6,413 7 5,013 4 4,420 1 4,268 7
Cash flow
Cash Row from operations 859 0 5912 7251 882 3 722 4
Free cash flow 508 6 179 5 3033 548 6 419 5
Dvwdends pad 425 5 977 224 0 204 5 277 6
Free cash flow after dividends B31 (218 2) 793 3441 1419
Net debt ratios
Net debt te EBITDA (times) 17 17 22 15 18
EBITDA 1nterest cover (times) 14 6 103 05 107 100
Average employees 18,037 17,01 17,134 12,7114 12,785
Dvidend declared per share (Austrahan cents) 27.0 W60 260 250 300
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GLOSSARY

2006 Share Plan

The Brambles Limited 2006 Performance Share Plan (as amended)

Acquired Shares

Brambles Limited shares purchased by Brambles employees under MyShare

Actual currency/FX

In the statutory financial statements, results are translated into US dollars at the applicable actual manthly exchange rates
ruling in each period

AGM Annual General Meeting
ASX Australian Secunties Exchange
Average Capital Average capital nvested or ACHis a 12 month average of capital mvested
Invested Capital invested 15 calculated as net assets before tax balances, cash and borrowings, but after adjustment for accumulated
pre tax Signtficant items, actuanal gains or losses and net equity adjustments for equity settled share-based payments
BIFR Brambles Injunes Frequency Rate This safety performance ndicator measures the combined number of {atabties, lost time
mjures, modified duties and medical treatments per milion hours worked
BIL Brambles Industries Limited, which was one of the two listed entsties in the previous dual-listed companies structure
BIP Brambles Industries plc, which was one of the twa listed entitves in the previous dual-histed companies structure
Board The Board of Directors of Brambles Limited
BVA Brambles Value Added or BVA represents the value generated over and abave the cost of the capital used to generate that
value
It rs calculated using fixed June 2012 exchange rates as
Underlying profit, plus
Significant 1tems that are part of the ordinary actwities of the business, less
- Average capital mvested, adjusted for accumulated pre-tax Sigmficant items that are part of the ordinary activities of the
business, multiplied by 12%
CAGR Compound annual grawth rate The CAGR of sales revenue ts the annualised percentage at which sales revenue would have

grown aver a penod if 1t grew at a steady rate

Cash Flow from

Cash flow generated after net capital expenditure but excluding Sigmificant items that are outside the ardmary course of

Operations business

CGPR The Austraban Securities Exchange Corporate Governance Counail Corporate Governance Principles & Recommendations,
Second Edition

Company Brambles Limited (ACN 118 896 021)

constant currency

Constant currency results are presented by translating both current and comparable penod results into US dollars at the
actuat monthly exchange rates applicable in the comparable perod, so as to show relative performance between the two
pertods before the translation impact of currency fluctuations

continuing operations

Continuing operations refers to Pallets, RPCs, Contamers, Recall and Brambles HQ

Disclosable Executives

Brambles Limited’s Executive Directors, Non-executive Directors and other Group executives whose remuneration details are
required to be disclosed in the Remuneration Report

discontinued
operations

Operations which have been divested or which are held for sale

Dividend Share
Program

A program which allows Employees to reinvest Dividends frem their Employee holding to acquire further Shares in Brambles
The Share purchase pnce will be calculated using a volume weighted average of the Brambles Share pnice over the five trading
days up to and including the Record Date
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GLOSSARY - CONTINUED

oLC Dual bsted compamies structure - the previtous contractual arrangement between Brambles Industrnes Limited and Brambles
Industnes plc under which they operated as if they were a single economic enterpnse, whilst retaining therr separate legal
identwnies, tax remdences and stock exchange Listings BIL and BIP operated as a DLC from August 2001 to December 2006

EBITDA Earnings before 1nterest, tax, depreciation and amortisation EBITDA 15 defined as Qperating profit from continuing operations
after adding back depreciation and amertisation and Significant items outside the ordinary course of business

ELT Brambles' Executive Leadership Team, details of which are on pages 17 and 18

EPS Earnings per share

financial year

Brambies® financiat year 15 1 July 30 June

free cash flow

Cash flow generated after net capital expenditure, finance costs and tax, but exctuding the net cost of acquisitions
and proceeds from business drsposals

FX

Foreign exchange

FY

Financial year For example, FY13 indicates the financial year ended 30 June 2013

Group or Brambles

Brambles Limited and ail of 1ts retated bodies corporate

IBC Intermediate bulk container, for the transport and storage of bulk products

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards Brambles reports 1ts financial results under Austraban Accounting Standards,
which are compliant with IFRS

IPEP {rrecoverable Pooling Equipment Provisian

IS0 International Organfzation for Standardization

Key Management

Members of the Board af Brambles Limited and Brambles’ Executive Leadership Team

Personnel
KPI(s) Key Performance Indicator(s)
LTl Long Term Incentive

Matching Awards

Matching share rghts gver Brambles Limited shares allocated 1o employees when they purchase Acquired Shares
under MyShare ‘When an employee's Matching Awards vest, Matching Shares are altocared to that employee

Matching Shares

Shares allocated to employees who have hetd Acquired Shares under MyShare for two years, and who remam employed at the
end of that two year period One Matching Share 15 allocated for every one Acquired Share held

MyShare

The Brambles Limted MyShare Plan, an all employee share plan, under which employees acquire ordinary shares by means of
deductians from their after tax pay and must hold those shares for a two year penod If they hold those shares and remain
employed at the end of the two year perod, then Brambles wall match the number of shares they hold by 1ssuing or
transferring to them the same number of shares which they held for the qualifying period at na additional cost to the

employee

Net new business wins

The change 1n sales revenue n a reperting penod resulting from business won or lost th that period and the previous financial
year The revenue impact of net new business is included across reporting penaods for a totat of 12 months from the date of
the win or {oss and calculated on a constant currency basts

Operating profit

Operating profit is profit before fmance costs and tax, as shown 1n the statutory financial statements

PAT

Profit after tax

Brambles Annual Report 2013 - Page 128




GLOSSARY- CONTINUED

Performance Period

A two to three year penod over which the achievement of performance condttions 1s assessed to determine whether ST and
LTi share awards wall vest

Recall Holdings

Recall Holdings Limited s the holding company for the Recall business post demerger

RCC Risk & Control Committee
ROCK Return on capital invested or ROCI 1s calculated as Underlying profit dvided by Average capital invested
RPC Reusable plastic container/crate, or returnable/reusable produce crate, generally used for shipment and display of produce

items

Significant Items

Sigmficant 1tems are items of Income or expense which are, either indwdually or 1n aggregate, matenat to Brambles or to the

relevant business segment and

- outstde the orcinary course of business (€ g gains or losses on the sale or termination of operations, the cost of sigmficant
reorganisations or restructunng), or

- part of the ordinary activties of the business but unusual due to thetr size and nature

SEP Standard & Poor’s 1s an Amencan financizl sernces company that publishes financial research and analysis

ST Short Term Incentive

TFR Total Fixed Remuneration

TSR Total Shareholder Return TSR measures the returns that a company has provided for 1its shareholders, reflecting share prnice
movements and remnvestment of dividends over a speciiied performance period

Underlying Profit Underlywng profit 1s profit from continuing operations befare finance costs, tax and Sigmficant items

Unification The umfication of the dual-listed compames structure which operated between Brambles Industnes Lirmted and Brambles
industnes plc under a new single Australian holding company, Brambles Limited, which teok place 1n December 2006

Year Brambles’ 2013 financial year
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CONTACT INFORMATION

REGISTERED OFFICE
Brambles global headquarters 1s at 1ts registered office in Sydney, Austraha

Level 40, Gateway Building
1 Macquane Place

Sydrney NSW 2000

Austraba

ACN 118 896 021

Telephone +61 (0) 2 9256 5222
Facsimite +61 (0) 2 9256 5299
Email info@brambles com
Website www brambles com

Investor & Analyst Queries

Telephone +61 {0) 2 9256 5238
Email investorretations@brambles com

SHARE REGISTRY
Online access to shareholding information 1s avaitabte to investors through the tink Market Services website

Link Market Services Lirmited
Level 12, 680 George Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia
Locked Bag A14, Sydney South NSW 1235, Australia

Telephone 1300 883 073

Facsimile +61 {0) 2 9287 0303
Email registrars@inkmarketservices com au
Website www linkmarketservices com au

SHARE RIGHTS REGISTRY
Employees or former employees of Brambles who have quenes about the following interests
«» performance share nghts under the 2004 or 2006 share plans,
« matching share nghts under MyShare, or
« shares acquired under MyShare or other share interests held through
AET Structured Finance Services Pty Ltd, may contact

Boardroom Pty Limited

Attention Brambles Employee Share Plans
GPO Box 3993, Sydney NSW 2001, Australia

Telephone 1800 180 833 (wathin Austrabia)
+61 (0) 2 9290 9600 (from outside Australia)

Facsimile 1300 653 459 {within Australia)

+61 (0) 2 9279 0664 (from outside Austraiia)
Email bramblesesp@boardroomuimited com au
Website www boardroomlimited com au
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